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 MARCH 2007
The acquisition of LTU makes Air Berlin one of the largest  

airlines in Europe. As part of the acquisition, Air Berlin  

is entitled to use LTU’s valuable slots at Düsseldorf airport,  

one of the most important European catchment areas.

 MAY 2007
3,330 staff, flight attendants and pilots present their  

new Jette Joop designed uniforms.

The Year’s Highlights
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 JULY 2007
Air Berlin and US aircraft manufacturer Boeing conclude an  

agreement for delivery of 25 Boeing long-haul “Dreamliner”  

aircraft plus the option to purchase another 25 aircraft.  

The aircraft will be delivered beginning in 2012. At the time,  

it was the largest European order Boeing had received for  

the Dreamliner.

 September 2007
Air Berlin announces that it has agreed with Thomas Cook to  

a two-step acquisition of the shares of Condor by means of a share 

swap. In return for its share in Condor, Thomas Cook will receive  

newly issued Air Berlin shares. In the process, Thomas Cook may 

acquire an interest of up to 29.99 percent in Air Berlin.
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key financial figures
(changes in %)

		  %		 2007		 2006

Revenue (in million euros)	 61.0		 2,536.5		 1,575.4

  including ticket sales (in million euros)	 58.8		 2,314.6		 1,457.8

EBITDAR (in million euros)	 47.8		 379.0		 256.5

EBIT (in million euros)			  21.4		 64.1

Consolidated profit (loss) for the year (in million euros)			  21.0		 40.1

Cash generated from operations (in million euros)			  112.3		 132.0

Earnings per share			  0.33		 0.76

Operating cash flow per share 			  1.8		 2.5

Total assets (in million euros)	 58.6		 2,519.2		 1,587.9

Employees (31 Dec) 	 103.5		 8,360		 4,108

		  %		 2007		 2006

Passengers (in thousands; “pax“) 		  10.4	 28,211	 25,561

Destinations		  5.5	 135	 128

Aircraft at year end		  6.0	 124	 117

Available seat kilometers (in billions; ASK)		  5.9	 59.38	 56.09

Load factor (%; pax/capacity) 		  2.1	 77.30	 75.73

	
	

 operating figures
(Air Berlin, LTU and Belair on 12 month basis)



air berlin. your airline.

no other airline has grown as fast as air berlin. It just 

took two years to grow our fleet by fifty per cent – by 

growing organically and by integrating dba in 2006 and 

LTU in 2007. 

Starting in August 2007 we expanded our successful 

business model our long haul service: with an outstanding 

price performance ratio, excellent service and slots at the 

important hubs. 

Now 124 air berlin aircraft fly 135 destinations from 

Amsterdam to Zurich, from Agadir to Zakynthos. The next 

step: from 1 may 2008 our new standard setting Business 

Class will lift off. On the following pages we present the 

world of air berlin: wherever you want to fly, whatever 

you want to do – air berlin is Your Airline.
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executive directors: ulf hüttmeyer, elke schütt, joachim hunold, karl friedrich lotz (from left)



non-executive directors: nicholas teller, dr. hans-joachim körber, dr. eckhard cordes,
johannes zurnieden, claus wülfers (from left)

Following the acquisition based growth of the last couple of years, 2008 will be focused on 

increasing profi tability. To do this, we will leverage the synergies resulting from our acquisitions 

and use economies of scale as well as implement measures to improve performance. We stand by 

our statement that the synergies from the LTU integration can be quantifi ed at EUR 70 million to 

EUR 100 million per year. This does not change the fact that investments were initially required 

in the year of the takeover. As explained in December 2007, the previously unplanned eight-

fi gure costs arose while merging Air Berlin’s and LTU’s capacity planning systems. 

In 2008, we have for the fi rst time in a long time planned only marginal aircraft growth, with in-

vestment primarily focused on fl eet renewal. Signifi cant growth is planned only in 2009 follow-

ing the potential acquisition of Condor which remains subject to approval by the Cartel Offi ce. 

We have every reason to face the future with optimism. It has become even clearer that we are 

have chosen the right path with our hybrid carrier business model. Notwithstanding the interim 

additional burden, our fi gures for 2007 are evidence of this success. After 19.7 million passen-

gers in 2006, we carried 28.2 million in the reporting period (inc. 12 months LTU and Belair). 

This 11.9 % increase is well above the industry average. Revenue was up 63 % from EUR 1.58 billion 

to EUR 2.54 billion. EBITDAR increased from EUR 256.5 million to EUR 379 million. In the 4th 

quarter, Air Berlin stopped the yield decline, which took a hold at the beginning of 2007. 

We are securing our intercontinental business connections to destination areas through coopera-

tions with major airlines. To this end, we have with Hainan Airways, already gained a partner in 

China that offers fl ights to 80 airports. 

By the end of February 2008, the Air Berlin Group signifi cantly increased revenues per available 

seat kilometre (ASK). Further, with our percentage improvement in utilization we are markedly 

above the industry standard. 

As you can clearly see: Air Berlin is on the right path.

2007 was another year of signifi cant strategic decisions for Air Berlin PLC. Initially, 

as a result of the dba acquisition in the previous year, we supplemented our European route 

network with domestic connections. Consequently, the number of business travellers signifi -

cantly increased, an attractive market segment, in which we plan to further expand in the future. 

However, as our growth strategy extends beyond the short and medium haul markets, we looked 

for further opportunities in new business sectors. 

Consequently when the opportunity arose we acquired LTU in 2007. In doing this, we acquired 

a company that not only optimally supplements our network on the European medium-haul 

routes, but also gives us the opportunity to enter into the long haul market. In this respect, LTU’s 

most important assets are the numerous slots at Düsseldorf airport. Eighteen million people live 

in this catchment area and after London, it is the biggest catchment area in Europe. With the 

acquisition of LTU, we are the largest provider of air travel in this region. Moreover, our German 

feeder network optimally supplements the local traffi c.

Our aim in the long haul routes is to shift the focus of LTU, which was previously touristic domi-

nated, more towards global business travel under the successful “airberlin” brand. This particu-

larly applies to routes to the USA and new destinations in the growth region of China. To provide 

especially attractive offers to business passengers, we have expanded and upgraded the Business 

Class. From autumn onwards, we will, with the new Premium Business Class, give our passengers 

a premium level of comfort. Furthermore, additional growth opportunities can be realized by the 

expansion of the cargo activities of LTU.

In Switzerland, we have created additional strength with the 49 % interest in Belair. The airline 

has not only a strong base of tour operators upon which it can rely, but also international traffi c 

rights which provide us with additional opportunities.

CEO’s sTATEMEnT

Joachim hunold
Chief Executive Offi cer
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non-executive directors: nicholas teller, dr. hans-joachim körber, dr. eckhard cordes,
johannes zurnieden, claus wülfers (v.l.n.r)

CHAiRMAn’s sTATEMEnT

Management of the Company is in the capable hands of CEO Joachim Hunold, CFO Ulf 

Hüttmeyer, CCO Elke Schütt and COO Karl Friedrich Lotz. The second and third levels of 

management have been strengthened signifi cantly during the past year, including through the 

engagement of proven management from our subsidiaries (and the promotion of their ideas). 

Overall, the Group has been built up in such a manner that, notwithstanding the recent growth, 

corporate decisions can continue to be implemented extremely quickly and reactions to market 

developments can be handled fl exibly. 

Dr Eckhard Cordes has resigned from his position as Non-Executive Director effective 31 March 

2008. I wish to thank him on behalf of the Board for his utmost dedication and cooperation and 

wish him the very best for his future endeavours. Effective 1 April Friedrich Carl Janssen, general 

partner of the Kölner Bankhauses Sal. Oppenheim and Heinz-Peter Schlüter, Chairman of Trimet 

Aluminium AG, Düsseldorf have been appointed as Non-Executive Directors. The Executive 

Board continues to be supported by experienced managers such as Dr Hans-Joachim Körber, 

Nicholas Teller and Claus Wülfers.

As before, the strategy of Air Berlin is geared towards sustainable development rather than short-

term success. I agree with CEO Joachim Hunold when he says: we are on the right path.

after an eventful year, I wish to thank the Air Berlin team for all their hard work. This 

is evidenced by the 2006 acquisition of dba, which was integrated within only a half year of its 

purchase. The fact that this integration was also carried out without redundancies has increased 

the standing of Air Berlin. In very little time wage agreements with the trade unions were con-

cluded which, for months prior to the acquisition, were a major source of potential confl ict. 

After initial diffi culties, the integration of LTU is running according to plan. Of particular success 

is that, with agreement of the works counsel, more than 600 LTU employees accepted the offer 

to join “AB Luftfahrttechnik Düsseldorf GmbH.” Together with “AB Luftfahrttechnik Berlin 

GmbH”, another newly established company under the auspices of “Air Berlin Technik Ltd” 

(London), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Air Berlin PLC, both companies will not only maintain 

the Group’s fl eet, but will also expand the existing business with other airlines. As a result, more 

than 1,100 employees have secure roles in this new, powerful technical group.

Whereas the integration processes are continuing apace and the current business development 

gives cause for optimism, Air Berlin shares have performed unsatisfactory in recent months. 

The global uncertainty in the markets and the continuous oil price increases have particularly 

affected airline share prices. Moreover in this environment, strategically important decisions do 

not always receive the recognition they deserve, especially if such decisions are accompanied by 

further investment. 

However, I am confi dent that the Air Berlin management will be able to signifi cantly increase 

profi tability and management’s policies are clearly directed to achieve this. In any case, the 

pre-IPO shareholders of Air Berlin, of which I am one, have not been misled by the current share 

performance, and have every confi dence in the Company. 

Johannes Zurnieden
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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the board of directors

Joachim Hunold, Chief Executive Officer

Joachim Hunold was born on 5 September 1949 in Düsseldorf, Germany, and is married with four 

children. After completing secondary school in 1970, Mr Hunold studied law and began his career in 

aviation in 1978 with Braathens Air Transport, Düsseldorf. From 1982 until 1990 he held the position 

of Sales and Marketing Director with the LTU Group. In April 1991, Mr Hunold was one of the founders 

of Air Berlin GmbH & Co. Luftverkehrs KG (as successor to Air Berlin Inc.) and since then has headed 

the Air Berlin Group, initially as the Managing Partner and, since the creation of the new holding  

company structure, as its CEO, effective as of 1 January 2006.

Ulf Hüttmeyer, Chief Financial Officer

Ulf Hüttmeyer was born on 9 July 1973 in Wildeshausen, Germany, and is married with two children. 

Following studies in economics, concluding with a degree in business administration, Mr Hüttmeyer 

began his career in 1996 as an analyst with Commerzbank in the credit and financing division followed 

by various assignments in Germany and overseas (Singapore). Thereafter, Mr Hüttmeyer served as 

Group Manager for Corporate Client Services in Berlin and was promoted to Director in the beginning 

of 2005. In February 2006 Mr Hüttmeyer was appointed CFO of Air Berlin.

Karl Friedrich Lotz, Chief Operating Officer

Karl Friedrich Lotz was born on 26 December 1949 in Wuppertal, Germany, and is married with two 

children. Mr Lotz’s career in the aviation industry began in 1969 with LTU Fluggesellschaft GmbH & 

Co. KG initially as a ramp agent, then in various management positions in the fields of flight opera-

tions, staff appointments, crew scheduling, traffic management, and flight operations support. From 

1995 until 2007 Mr Lotz held the position of Managing Director of CHS Cabin und Handling Service 

GmbH. From 1999 through the IPO, he was responsible for flight operations as Managing Director at 

Air Berlin GmbH & Co. Luftverkehrs KG. Upon the creation of the new holding structure, Mr Lotz was 

appointed COO of Air Berlin, effective 1 January 2006.

Elke Schütt, Chief Commercial Officer

Elke Schütt was born on 19 February 1956 in Sandbostel, Germany, and is single. She is a trained busi-

ness correspondent and licensed dispatcher. From 1976 to 1979 she worked as a flight operations assis

tant at the Aeroamerica airline and joined Air Berlin, Inc., in 1980 as an assistant to the flight operations 

manager. After three years, she was appointed Manager of the Operations Department, and then, in July 

1999, Managing Director and Deputy Managing Partner for Air Berlin GmbH & Co Luftverkehrs KG. With 

effect from 1 January 2006 Ms Schütt was appointed CCO of Air Berlin with responsibility for human 

resources, ground operations and general purchasing.

Non-Executive Directors

Johannes Zurnieden, Chairman of the Board of Directors 

Managing Director at Phoenix Reisen GmbH, Bonn 

Mr Zurnieden was born on 28 June 1950 in Bergisch-Gladbach, Germany, and is married. Following 

completion of secondary school and studies in law and psychology at the Rheinische-Friedrich-Wil-

helms University in Bonn he assumed the position of Managing Director at Phoenix Reisen GmbH in 

1973. In 1994 he was appointed Deputy Chairman of the German Fare Insurance Association (Deut-

scher Reisepreis Sicherungsverein) and in 1998 Vice-President of the German Tourism Association 

(Deutsche ReiseVerband). He also has accepted appointments to the advisory boards of the European 

Insurance AG (Europäische Reiseversicherung AG) and Sparkasse Köln-Bonn.

Executive Directors
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Dr. Eckhard Cordes

Chairman of the Managing Board at Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH, Duisburg and CEO of Metro AG

Dr Cordes was born on 25 November 1950 in Neumünster, Germany, and is married with four children. 

Following his studies in business administration and after having obtained his doctorate he joined 

the DaimlerChrysler Group in 1976, holding various management positions in operating and strategic 

functions both in Germany and abroad. From 1996 to 2005 Dr Cordes was a member of the Manage-

ment Board of DaimlerChrysler AG Group Holding. Effective 1 January 2006 Dr Cordes was appointed 

Chairman of the Managing Board of Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH. In February 2006 he accepted the 

appointment as Chairman of the Supervisory Board of METRO AG. As of 1 November 2007 he was ap-

pointed Chief Executive Officer of METRO AG.

Dr. Hans-Joachim Körber

Former Chairman of the Management Board and CEO of METRO AG

Dr Körber was born on 9 July 1946 in Braunschweig, Germany, and is married with one child. Dr 

Körber completed his university studies in brewery technology (graduate brewmaster) and business 

administration (graduate business administrator, doctorate) at the Technical University of Berlin. 

In 1985, after several years in executive positions within the R. A. Oetker Group, Dr Körber joined 

Metro SB-Grossmärkte (cash-and-carry markets and one of the legal predecessors of METRO AG) and 

through 1996 held various executive positions in Germany and abroad. From 1996, with the founding 

of the METRO AG, he was a member of the Management Board and, from 1999 through 2007, Chair-

man of the Management Board and CEO.

Nicholas Teller

Member of the Management Board of Commerzbank AG, Frankfurt

Mr Teller was born on 16 June 1959 in London, England, and is married with two children. Following 

completion of secondary school in Düsseldorf, he studied at the University of Birmingham (Bachelor 

of Commerce). His career began in 1982 with Commerzbank in London. Twelve years later he was ap-

pointed Branch Director of Commerzbank Prague and later to Executive Management of the Hamburg 

branch. From 2002 through 2003, Mr Teller was a Regional Board Member and on 1 April 2003 was 

appointed to the Management Board of Commerzbank AG. In addition, Mr Teller also is a member of 

the Supervisory Board for BRE Bank in Warsaw and Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Deutsche 

Schiffsbank AG.

Claus Wülfers 

Former Member of the Board of Directors of Hapag Lloyd AG, Hamburg

Mr Wülfers was born on 17 February 1939 in Hamburg, Germany, and is married with one child. His 

career in the travel industry began in 1965 and beginning in 1968 he founded a chain of travel agen-

cies in Las Palmas as well as an aircraft services and handling company. In 1980 Mr Wülfers assumed 

various management functions at Hapag-Lloyd AG and in 1985 was appointed Director of the Tourism 

Division with responsibilities for the travel agency organisation, the airline and the cruise sector. He 

was appointed to the Hapag-Lloyd Board in 1986 and, following Preussag AG’s acquisition of the majority 

of shares in Hapag-Lloyd, to the Sector Board of Preussag. In 1998 he was appointed as the Speaker of 

the Board for Hapag-Touristik Union, the holding company for TUI and the other tourism activities of 

the Hapag-Lloyd Group. Mr Wülfers elected to resign from the Management Boards of Hapag-Lloyd and 

TUI in February of 2000.
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“our customers have enjoyed our outstanding service 

for many years. We provide value for money at an attrac-

tive price. Air Berlin operates one of the densest route 

networks in the European LCC industry. We offer quality 

service, on board and on the ground, which is more typical 

of traditional flag carriers. Our decision to extend the  

successful Air Berlin business model globally is in  

response to customer demands for our services on long 

haul routes. With our interconnected European and  

German network we are now in the position to offer the  

ideal feeder service for international traffic.“

-- joachim hunold

Air berlin goes global



For Globetrotters
DUS düsseldorf – berlin:  254 nm



TXL berlin – vancouver:   4309 nm



For Frequent Flyers
YVR vancouver – stuttgart:   4437 nm



STR stuttgart – male:   4216 nm



For the Style-Conscious
MLE male – fort myers:   8481 nm



RSW fort myers – helsinki:   4499 nm



For Hotheads
HEL helsinki – london:   956 nm



STN london – shanghai:   4968 nm



For Entrepreneurs
PVE shanghai – vienna:   4600 nm



VIE vienna – beijing:   4027 nm



For Gourmets
PEK beijing – munich:   4172 nm



MUC munich – new york:   3510 nm



For cash-cows
JFK new york – nuremberg:   3445 nm



NUE nuremberg – paris:   335 nm



For High-flyers
PAR paris – hanover:   341 nm



HAJ hanover – bangkok:   4799 nm



For Long-distance drivers
BKK bangkok – hamburg:   4758 nm



HAM hamburg – los angeles:   4908 nm



For sport fans
LAX los angeles – zurich:   5151 nm



ZRH zurich – new york:   3409 nm



For nature fans
JFK new york – dresden:   3494 nm



DRS dresden – miami:   4364 nm



For lovers
MIA miami – düsseldorf:   4109 nm



DUS düsseldorf
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Our positioning as a low-cost carrier with 

full service on board and a wide range  

of extras is now clearly understood by  

the investment community and regarded  

as promising. Our entry into the long- 

haul business and the related synergy  

potential have also been met with a 

positive response.

For Investors
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the air berlin brand

Our unique business  
model is taking us to the 

long haul market

Awards from both 
business travellers and 

holidaymakers

We are the  
passengers’ favourite

Awards, awards, awards

We are so well known because more and more people are flying with us. And because they are 

clearly doing it more often, they also talk about it – with their friends, neighbours and colleagues. 

Quite simply, people like flying with us. Air Berlin was again named the “passengers’ favourite” 

in 2007. We have won a whole host of awards from customers, professional testers and travel 

agents, ranging from “best airline” overall, Europe’s “best low-cost airline” and “Europe’s young-

est fleet” through to “World Travel” and “Star Diamond Awards”.

In total, we won ten awards last year. These were in recognition of our service in the air and on 

the ground as well as the user-friendliness of our website and the friendliness of our employees. 

Awards from our passengers give us particular pleasure. We were named Europe’s best low-cost 

airline by the London consultancy firm Skytrax on the basis of a survey of almost 15 million peo-

ple from 93 countries – business travellers as well as holidaymakers! We would like to express 

our thanks. This makes us all the more committed to fulfilling the high expectations in future.  

airberlin is now in it for the long haul!

Our plans are not confined to Europe. The time has come to spread the success of airberlin 

around the world. With our unique business model, we are now closing the gap between conven-

tional low-cost carriers and the traditional high-priced airlines for long haul flights. At low prices, 

we intend to be the customary friendly host to our passengers and provide attractive service 

across the oceans. 

In the last business year, we rigorously implemented our global growth strategy with targeted  

acquisitions and the planned groundbreaking merger with the Thomas Cook subsidiary Condor. In 

addition, the feeder network required for a successful international airline business was further 

extended with closely linked European and domestic connections. Another factor is our invest-

ment policy, clearly geared towards global growth. By the time of the rollout of the new Boeing 

787 Dreamliner, we secured our long-term, long haul capacity with a contract for delivery of 25 

Boeing long haul aircraft plus purchase options for another 25 aircraft for delivery through 2017.

Who knows Berlin? 100%. Who knows airberlin? 92%. Congratula-
tions, Berlin! As for us, we still have some work to do. For example, 
extending our top-quality service to long haul flights.
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* ADAC Traveller: Best Airline 2006; Business Travel World: Best Short Haul Business Airline 2007; Capital: Airline of the Year 

2007, 2006, 2005; Cash: Best Low-Cost-Airline 2007; Danish Travel Award: Best Low-Cost-Carrier 2007; HolidayCheck: Most 

Favorite Airline 2005; ReiseBlick: Airline of the Year (Short haul) 2007; Reise & Preise: Best Low Cost Carrier and Europe’s Best 

Holiday Carrier 2005; Skytrax: Europe’s Best Low-Cost-Airline 2007, 2005, Best Low Cost Airline in the World 2006, Low Cost 

Airline Service Excellence Award 2006; Stiftung Warentest: Best in Test (2,2) 2005; The Guardian: Best Short haul Airline 2005;  

Travelchannel: Best Low-Cost-Airline 2008, 2007, 2006; Urlaub Perfekt: The Best Service for Kids 2007; World Travel Award: 

Europe’s Leading Budget / No Frills Airline 2007.

20*

Awards
Awards since 2005
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Collecting miles and 
exclusive service 

worldwide by joining the 
topbonus programme 

When it comes  
to flying: nothing is  

better than airberlin

We are now  
positioning “airberlin” as 

a global brand 

New brand identity

Our repositioning as a global company is also reflected by our corporate identity. For this reason, 

we are marketing our new global service with a complete rebranding. The new brand consists of 

a graphic symbol and the word “airberlin”. The symbol stands for an aircraft window framing a 

stylised “a”. Our employees who have direct contact with customers have been wearing their Jette 

Joop-styled designer uniforms since June 2007. 

We want airberlin to be the perfect airline for every passenger, meeting his or her individual travel 

preferences and service expectations. The new claim “airberlin. Your Airline.” underlines this 

ambition. The focus is firmly on convenience. Flying with airberlin is simple and uncomplicated: 

airberlin is fun. On board, business travellers and families feel at home. And all passengers will 

enjoy the same personal attention on short and long haul flights. airberlin offers a wide range of 

flights, with a dense network within Germany and Europe, taking passengers to worldwide cities 

and holiday destinations.

The website airberlin.com has already been revised and features the new image. Print advertise-

ments, TV commercials and an outdoor advertising campaign in 21 German cities as well as  

Vienna and Zurich were launched in the first few weeks of 2008. The first aircraft bearing the 

new livery was rolled out in January. We are convinced: as a quality provider for long haul flights, 

we will soon be known and appreciated by even more people – worldwide!

topbonus: the new worldwide frequent flyer programme

Our new topbonus programme, launched in November 2007, is the perfect addition to the 

airberlin brand package. It is the joint frequent flyer programme of airberlin, LTU, Belair, and 

our partners NIKI and LGW (Luftfahrtgesellschaft Walter). topbonus now provides even more 

possibilities, such as collecting, redeeming and transferring bonus miles. All over the world, 

our passengers can collect and redeem status and award miles with us and our partner airlines. 

Award miles are also available from our numerous topbonus partners and when shopping with 

the airberlin MasterCard. Status miles increase your frequent flier status and qualify you for  

corresponding exclusive benefits.
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“Relax Class” and  
“Premium Business Class”  

set new standards

The topbonus award miles remain valid for three years and are transferable for world-wide 

flights. The topbonus status increases with the number of status miles collected for flying. 

20,000 status miles collected within 12 months qualify for topbonus silver status, and 40,000 

status miles qualify for gold status. The topbonus status cards bring exclusive benefits, such as 

priority check-in, free seat reservation, additional free luggage and much more.

Top comfort and gourmet menus

We have also significantly upgraded the Business Class on the long-distance routes to New York, 

Los Angeles, Miami, Fort Myers, Beijing and Shanghai. Whilst a much-improved “Relax Class” 

will be introduced on the tourist routes, replacing the traditional Business Class, 30 extremely com-

fortable “contour” seats that can be adjusted until horizontal will be installed in our new “Premium 

Business Class”. Until completion of the refit, improved Business seats will be installed. 

Both comfort and service will be upgraded in the Air Berlin’s new Premium Business Class.  

On long haul flights, we offer a range of meals created in the kitchen of the “Sansibar”, the most 

famous restaurant on the island of Sylt. Next to “traditional home cooking”, there is vegetarian 

fare, ethnic cuisine from the destination region or a selection of “Sansibar classics”. Appropriate 

wines from Germany, Italy and France are also served. In Economy Class, in addition to the free 

hot and cold standard meals, hot snacks are also available on request.
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Together with our  
premium partners  
we are building a  

strong brand

Premium partners

In order to allow our customers to enjoy attractive offers in non-flight areas, we maintain premium 

partnerships with companies across various sectors. Together, we want to create additional added 

value for our customers with a strong brand package, while making their travel experience as enjoy-

able as possible. At present, five premium partners are collaborating with the Air Berlin Group:

 � As Germany’s third-largest travel insurance provider, the hansemerkur insurance group 

has been offering our passengers customised insurance cover for more than 10 years. The 

insurer’s service range is in the top of a number of independent ratings. 

 � With hertz car rental, our customers benefit from an excellent vehicle fleet as well as at-

tractive services – worldwide. In addition, they can book their hire car directly via our homepage 

whilst collecting our topbonus award miles.

 � The sixt group provides our passengers with hire cars of all classes in 85 countries on  

highly favourable terms. Here too, they collect topbonus award miles every time they hire a car.  

Furthermore, passengers save valuable time with the simple booking system directly on the  

Air Berlin homepage and the e-mailed hire contract.

 � With its best price principle, hotel.de ag is also highly rated by airberlin passengers. More 

than 210,000 hotels in all price categories as well as numerous short breaks at up-to-date prices 

are available to our customers.

 � e-plus is another of our strong partners. Air Berlin customers benefit from the favourable 

domestic and international rates of the telecommunications provider. In addition to attractive 

roaming prices, Air Berlin customers also receive valuable topbonus award miles from E-Plus 

when signing a contract. 
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our shares

Flying against the wind. Sometimes head wind can give a lift.  
Not so in 2007, when the environment for airline shares was  
not particularly favourable. First interest rates rose, then oil prices 
climbed to record highs, followed by a correction on the stock  
markets.

The Air Berlin share price in 2007

Following the superb gains from the previous year, when the share price increased by 37.5 per 

cent from an offering price of EUR 12.00 between its initial listing on 10 May 2006 and the end 

of 2006, it fell back by 25 per cent in 2007. However, at EUR 12.27, it still ended the year posi-

tively with an increase for the IPO subscribers. 

A combination of several factors led to the unsatisfactory share price performance. Rising oil 

prices and interest rates created unfavourable general conditions for airlines in particular since 

both represent significant cost factors that cannot easily be passed on to ticket prices in the  

intensely competitive environment. Actually, since May 2007, crude oil prices have followed 

almost exactly the same price trend as Air Berlin shares – only in reverse. 

For some investors, our share price had clearly reached a level that was highly attractive and,  

it recovered strongly by the end of the year. However, Air Berlin shares have by no means been 

immune to the high level of market uncertainty since the turn of 2008.
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The Air Berlin  
growth strategy has  
convinced investors 
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Successful financing measures

Air Berlin’s growth strategy is enjoying positive feedback from the capital market, irrespective of  

the market’s overall trend. Accordingly, the financing measures arranged in the course of the LTU 

acquisition during March and April 2007 were impressively successful. A ten per cent capital incre-

ase by emitting 5.97 million new Air Berlin shares at a price of EUR 16.40 went off as smoothly as 

the issue of a convertible bond by an Air Berlin subsidiary.

Relative performance Air Berlin vs. SDAX Price Index  

and Bloomberg European Airlines Index (based on Air Berlin)

 — Air Berlin     — SDAX Price Index     — Bloomberg European Airlines Index
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At Air Berlin, a classical 
growth company, re- 
investment of profit 
leads to the highest 

returns

Strong demand for  
the Air Berlin  

issuance

Air Berlin offers  
mulitple access for  

investor information

The new shares were sold to international institutional investors, in part by a private placement  

in the USA under Rule 144A of the U.S. Securities Act of 1933. The convertible bond was sold  

to international institutional investors outside the USA who showed significant buying interest.  

In fact, it was several times oversubscribed. Its original base volume of EUR 150 million  

was increased by EUR 20 million due to strong demand. Together with a planned option for  

augmentation amounting to EUR 25 million and the fully exercised greenshoe option of another  

EUR 25 million, the total volume of the convertible bond amounted to EUR 220 million. All  

together, investors put EUR 318 million on the table in order to participate in Air Berlin’s growth 

strategy.                

Dividend policies

To increase growth, particularly in the long haul business, Air Berlin will reinvest its profits in 

the next few years. This, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, will increase share value, which 

is in the interest of all shareholders.

Coverage of Air Berlin

Since the IPO, Air Berlin has received growing interest among the international investment 

community. We are one of the companies regularly analysed and commented on by a growing 

number of national and international banks and investment companies. The high degree of  

attention from researchers is matched by national and international investors. For this reason,  

we maintain active and up-to-date contacts with the investment community via telephone confer-

ences, meetings and roadshows, and are always available to answer questions about Air Berlin. 

Our Investor Relations section of the Air Berlin website is proving very popular with its interest-

ing and extensive information.

Air Berlin’s Strategy Day in September 2007 received strong attendance by the international 

investment community when top management presented their strategic view on the new partner-

ship with Thomas Cook. 
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Strong growth  
in coverage

The number of detailed company analyses relating to Air Berlin has increased. By the end of  

December 2007, a total of 18 analysts and research companies were providing assessments of the 

Air Berlin Group. The year before, the figure was 13.

The corporate strategy of Air Berlin as a low-cost carrier with full service on board and a wide range 

of extras is now understood and regarded as promising. Our entry into the long haul business as 

well as the strategic steps taken and synergy potential achieved in the 2007 business year have been 

met positively. 

In addition to its distinct growth characteristics, a clear value aspect was also attributed to the  

Air Berlin share by some analysts at the end of 2007, as they believe that the value of our options 

for new aircraft is not sufficiently reflected in the share price. In particular the valuation  

compared to others in the peer group comparison is unjustifiably low.
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 � The shares are officially traded on XETRA and on the Frankfurt Securities Exchange and traded 

on the regulated unofficial market at the exchanges in Berlin-Bremen, Düsseldorf, Hamburg, 

Munich and Stuttgart.

 � Air Berlin shares are registered common shares. In accordance with the Air Transport Agree-

ment and the EU Directives, entry in an appropriate schedule of names, giving information 

on the distribution of the shares by nationality, ensures that a majority of the shares are held 

by German and European investors. The registry agency is Registrar Services GmbH in Esch-

born.

 � Class “A shares” have also been issued. Details are found on page 134.

The Air Berlin PLC share in the 2007 business year

Share capital:	 EUR 16,429,275.75 and GBP 50,000		

Authorised share capital.	 EUR 100,000,000		

Total number of issued and registered  

shares on 31 December 2007:	 65,717,103 shares		

Class:	 Individual share certificates		

Nominal value:	 EUR 0.25		

Bloomberg symbol:	 AB1 GR / AB1 GY		

Reuters symbol:	 AB1.DE		

ISIN:	 GB00B128C026		

Accounting standard:	 IAS/IFRS		

2007 market data

Trading segment:	 Official trading (Prime Standard)		

Prime Standard industry:	 Transport and Logistics		

Prime Standard industry group:	 Airlines		

Indices:  	 SDAX, Prime All Share, Classic All Share		

Designated sponsors:	 Commerzbank AG, Morgan Stanley Bank AG		

Market capitalisation on 31 December 2007:	 EUR 806.3 million		

Free float on 31 December 2007:	 82.80 %		

Capitalisation of free float on 31 December 2007:	 EUR 667.7 million		

Average trading volume 2007:	 737,803 shares		

free float

major ownership block
(previous shareholders with more
than five per cent holdings or a
holding period

17.2%

82.80%

shareholder
structure
at air berlin plc
on 31 december
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Major shareholders in Air Berlin PLC on 31 December 2007

Shareholders	H oldings in %	*	

Free float	 82.80		

Metolius Foundation	 7.61		

Ringerike GmbH & Co. Luftfahrtbeteiligungs KG	 0.97		

Hans-Joachim Knieps	 8.40		

Other private investors (Air Berlin PLC employees with holding period) 	 0.22		

Werner Huehn	 4.95**

Severin Schulte	 4.13**

Rudolf Schulte	 4.00**

Joachim Hunold (CEO)	 3.20	

Johannes Zurnieden	 1.52**

	 * Information to the best of the company’s knowledge. 	
	 ** Other shares of less than five per cent of the total are allocated to the free float. 

Up to 31 January 2008, the Company has received notice of the following significant shareholdings 

(also see ir.airberlin.com):

 � 9 January 2008: haarlem one b.v., 18.562 % (Free float diluted)

 � 11 January 2008: moab investments limited, 3.1004 %

 � 17 January 2008: deutsche bank group, 14.25 %



p45 AIR BERLIN ANNUAL REPORT 2007

Accordingly on 31 January 2008 the shareholder structure was as follows:

Shareholder structure in nationalities (31 January 2008)

	 in %	

Germany	 60.65	

The Netherlands	 19.31	

Switzerland	 10.89	

Luxemburg	 2.19	

Austria	 1.76	

USA	 1.72	

Great Britain	 1.52	

Other countries	 1.96	

Free float as per Deutsche Börse AG standard	 65.71

Diversion of share capital 	

Private investors	 39.50

Insurance and investment companies, banks	 23.20

Other institutional investors and corporates	 37.30

The share capital of Air Berlin PLC is held by a majority of 60.65 % of German investors.  

In total, approximately 28,000 shareholders are registered. 



p46 AIR BERLIN ANNUAL REPORT 2007

01) Essentials

02) Airport Arithmetics

03) �Mission & Shares

04) �Directors’ Report			 

Business Review

05) Corporate Governance 

06) �Financial Statements 

07) Appendix

Company profile

Unique business model

The Air Berlin Group is positioned with a clear brand strategy with its new brand name “airberlin”. 

With its price/performance ratio, it is setting new standards in the intensely competitive air travel 

sector, and is the only European airline in the segment between the traditional full-fare airlines and 

the low-cost carriers with a very limited range of services.

The growth of the group is both organic and acquisition-based. In terms of acquisitions, Air Berlin 

recently demonstrated its integration capability. In August 2006, the funding derived from the 

successful IPO was partially used to acquire dba Luftfahrtgesellschaft München, which was 

fully integrated by the end of that year. In 2007, Air Berlin purchased the German airline LTU 

Lufttransport-Unternehmen GmbH as well as a controlling interest in the Swiss airline Belair 

Airlines AG, of which it assumed commercial control on 1 November. LTU’s European destina-

tions were also quickly and seamlessly incorporated into the Air Berlin network. 

With almost 8,360 employees, a fleet of 124 aircraft (at of 31 December 2007) and 28.2 million 

passengers, the Group is the second largest German airline. In the low-cost carrier (LCC) market 

segment, the Air Berlin Group is the market leader in Germany and number three in Europe. As 

a result of the LTU acquisition, Air Berlin is now the fourth largest air travel provider in Europe. 

The Company has been a member of the International Air Transport Association (IATA) since 

1997 and, accordingly, is deemed a scheduled carrier.

Air Berlin is accessible to its customers via a variety of sales channels and has a dense route 

network. The Group has slots at 20 German airports and flies to a total of 85 destinations in 

Europe as well as a further 8 in North Africa. The European cities served by Air Berlin include 

Barcelona, Budapest, Gothenburg, Helsinki, Copenhagen, London, Milan, Moscow, Paris, Rome, 

St Petersburg, Stockholm, Vienna and Zurich. The summer flight schedule provides more than 

360 flights a week to Mallorca alone 17 destinations on the neighbouring islands, the Spanish 

mainland and Portugal are also served from the Palma de Mallorca hub. 

Directors’ Report 
AND BUSINESS REVIEW

Going Global. Air Berlin is a leading player in European aviation 
with premium service at favourable prices. With the acquisition of 
LTU, this unique business model is now being extended to global 
long haul flights.

Concerning acquisition-
based growth, Air Berlin 

has demonstrated its 
integration capability

New price/performance 
standards
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Air Berlin puts its customer clearly at the centre of its market presence with the slogan  

“airberlin. Your Airline.”. This slogan was introduced in connection with Air Berlin’s entry into 

the long haul air travel market. The comprehensive range of services, in some cases in collabora-

tion with premium partners, extends well beyond the usual flight-related services. In particular  

it includes numerous convenience solutions such as our own service centre – available around 

the clock, and the Air Berlin website, featuring online bookings and web check-in. Families travel 

for less, as children aged between two and eleven pay a third less. Snacks and drinks are offered 

free of charge on all flights. Premium partners provide additional services directly via the Air 

Berlin website.

Expansion to long haul market

With the acquisition of LTU and the purchase of the latest generation of long haul aircraft, the 

Air Berlin Group has continued its expansion into the intercontinental air travel market. With 

the LTU acquisition, Air Berlin became the largest airline serving the Düsseldorf airport located 

in the most important German domestic market with a catchment area of 18 million people. LTU 

will continue to operate as a legally independent company, with its own management within the 

Air Berlin Group. Its most important destinations are the Dominican Republic, the USA, Thai-

land, the Canary Islands, North Africa and Turkey. 

A contract for delivery of 25 Boeing long haul aircraft was concluded between Air Berlin and the 

US aircraft manufacturer Boeing in July 2007. At the time of signing, this was the largest Euro-

pean order Boeing had received for its newly developed “Dreamliner”. A firm order was placed 

for 25 aircraft, and options were agreed for a further 25 aircraft. Delivery is scheduled from 2012 

to 2017, thus ensuring future fleet replacement.

Our market presence  
is focused on  
the customer

Expansion into the  
intercontinental air  

travel market

long haul Expansion
(Q1 & Q2 excl. LTU & Belair, Q3 & Q4 incl. LTU & Belair)

2007 Q4

2007 Q3

2007 Q2

2007 Q1

90 93 100 135131Destinations R
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As a result of the size of the order, Air Berlin received a substantial discount on the list price of 

USD 4 billion for the firmly ordered 25 aircraft. With respect to the financing, Air Berlin has a 

number of options under consideration. Whether the aircraft will be leased or purchased will 

depend upon the developing market situation.

With its new partner, Hainan Airlines, Air Berlin has initiated firm steps for new long haul 

services. Hainan Airlines, China’s fourth largest airline, has 125 aircraft and operates flights to 50 

Chinese cities from Beijing alone. Hainan Airlines plans to launch a new route between Beijing 

and Berlin and, in turn Air Berlin will provide connecting flights within Germany and Europe. 

The long haul flights to Beijing and Shanghai will start at the beginning of May 2008, with five 

flights a week with feeder flights from Germany, Switzerland and Austria.

Thomas Cook: a strong new partner

On 20 September 2007, Air Berlin announced that it has agreed with Thomas Cook AG to a  

two-step acquisition of the shares of Condor Flugdienst GmbH by means of a share swap. In 

February 2009, Air Berlin will acquire the 75.1 percent share Thomas Cook currently holds in 

Condor. The remaining 24.9 percent of Condor will be acquired in February 2010, subsequent to 

Thomas Cook acquiring the remaining 24.9 percent of Condor from Deutsche Lufthansa AG in 

February 2009 by exercising a purchase option. In return for its share in Condor, Thomas Cook 

will receive Air Berlin shares to be issued, which, depending on the market quotation at the time 

the agreement is implemented, are valued at EUR 380 million to EUR 475 million. In the proc-

ess, Thomas Cook may acquire an interest of up to 29.99 percent in Air Berlin. 

The acquisition of the Condor shares is subject to approval by the competent cartel authorities. 

Subsequent to the closing of the first step of the acquisition transaction scheduled to take place 

in February 2009, Thomas Cook will be represented on the Board of Directors of Air Berlin PLC. 

Air Berlin estimates that substantial synergies will result from a successful takeover.

The new partnership 
with Thomas Cook offers 

substantial growth  
opportunities

With Air Berlin and 
Hainan Airlines to almost 

everywhere in China

Substantial discount on 
the Boeing bulk order
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Corporate strategy and performance indicators

At Air Berlin, the corporate strategy is centred on rigorously increasing the value of the Company 

via growth in income. Its core is the Company’s “hybrid strategy”, which is unique in the aviation 

industry: high quality for products and services at low prices. Air Berlin is the only airline in 

Europe that fills the gap between the pure low-cost carriers with very limited services (no-frills 

airlines) and the traditional airlines with high-prices (full-fare airlines). This unique selling point 

ensures a high level of organic growth for Air Berlin with sharply rising passenger volumes in 

the intensely competitive air travel market. The success of the hybrid strategy-based business 

model enables the Company, via acquisition, to participate actively in the consolidation trend in 

the European aviation industry. 

Since the beginning of 2008, the Air Berlin business model is being marketed rigorously as an 

unmistakable brand with a revamped image. With the new brand name “airberlin” and the slo-

gan “airberlin. Your Airline.”, we want customers to see us as the most convenient and best-value 

option for travelling by airplane even more than before. This approach is intended to appeal to 

everyone, those contemplating a holiday, business and shopping travellers as well as to families 

and individuals. 

Air Berlin targets to grow by increasing its market share and extending profitability. For instance, 

market positioning is currently being enhanced by applying the hybrid strategy to the long haul  

business. The organic and acquisition-based opportunities are now also being rigorously utilised 

in this new growth area, as demonstrated by the takeover of LTU in the summer 2007. In  

both long haul and short haul, organic growth is achieved by constantly enhancing the service,  

particularly with new destinations, greater flight frequencies and continuous optimisation of the 

route network. The network expansion is to be ambitiously supplemented by appealing to more 

target groups. Furthermore, the new routes must fit with our existing route network. Despite this 

strict requirements, we are targeting organic growth which is significantly higher than that of the 

industry: Air Berlin is positioning itself as a growth company.

EBITDAR
(in Millions of Euros)

Growth targets  
concentrate on the 

improvement of market 
share and profitability

Clear focus on value 
enhancement

2006 2007

+ 47.8 %

256.5

128.2 263.8

64.2 93.8

64.1 21.4

379.0

 Operating leases for aircraft and equipment

 Depreciation and amortisation

 Result from operating activities (EBIT)
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Marketing and sales

More than 92% of Germans know Air Berlin. Even so, through increasing domestic and inter-

national brand recognition, the marketing strategy at Air Berlin continues to concentrate on 

increasing its customer base. To this end, the brand identity has been redefined in the context of 

globalisation. Another important marketing approach is the strengthening of customer loyalty. 

The additional benefits for customers are firmly emphasised and customer loyalty is rewarded 

with generous incentives.

In particular, generous incentives are provided by Air Berlin’s and its partner airlines’ top bonus 

frequent flyer programme, which is unparalleled in the low-cost carrier sector. According to 

status, the topbonus cards provide diverse additional services and exclusive special conditions 

above and beyond the conventional collection of miles. In addition, members are also offered an 

airberlin MasterCard or conventional EC card, giving clients the opportunity to gather free miles 

with every purchase. The response from passengers has been highly positive. By the end of 2007, 

more than a million customers had signed up for the topbonus program.

The advertising campaigns in print and electronic media, particularly on the internet, are to be 

supplemented and supported by a strong partner presence in the events sector and as a broad 

base sponsor in sport. Many prominent clubs such as FC Schalke 04, Hertha BSC Berlin and 

Borussia Mönchengladbach as well as the DEG Metro Stars, the Berlin Polar Bears and Alba 

Berlin are supported. In addition, Air Berlin is a partner of many outstanding sporting events 

in tennis, golf and equestrianism as well as athletics. Sponsorship partnerships are also in place 

with smaller clubs and teams from popular and fringe sports in order to successfully position  

the airberlin brand in the public eye.

Strong presence as  
a sponsoring partner  

in sports

The Air Berlin topbonus 
programme is unparal-
leled in the LCC sector

Brand recognition and 
customer loyalty are 

the cornerstones of our 
marketing strategy
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The sales activities of Air Berlin are clearly aimed at differentiation from the competition. Cus-

tomers receive immediately recognisable additional benefits from our combination of low prices, 

premium service and a dense, constantly growing network. All sales channels are being used and 

expanded. 

Internal performance measurement

First and foremost our prime objective is the observance of all relevant safety regulations. Opera-

tionally and strategically, a significant part of our performance measurement is cost and process 

efficiency. For this reason, the organisational structure is kept flat and transparent. Centralisation 

is implemented where it is economically viable and where across-the-board tasks can be carried 

out. This is the case with personnel functions, the centrally organised flight operations, and in-

flight service. 

Following approval of the LTU acquisition by the antitrust authorities, Air Berlin has amalgamated 

parts of the technical divisions of Air Berlin, dba and LTU under the auspices of its London-based 

subsidiary, Air Berlin Technik Ltd. This new independent technical company not only services the 

Group’s own fleet, but also provides services to other airlines, thus leveraging additional growth 

potential through economies of scale. As well as achieving greater capacity utilisation at indi-

vidual locations, the amalgamation of these technical operations will provide cost synergies and a 

certain degree of insulation from seasonal fluctuations in flight operations.

Internally the Group uses EBITDAR (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and 

rent) as a reflection of its earnings. EBITDAR is generally used as an operating indicator in the 

air travel industry and also by investors and analysts as the measurement that best reflects the in-

dustry’s financing structure. On the basis of EBITDAR, the operating performance of airlines can 

be compared regardless of whether they buy a higher proportion of their aircraft and therefore 

have higher depreciation and possibly also higher interest costs, or are companies that lease more 

aircraft, i.e. have comparatively high expenses for materials and services, including leasing costs. 

Optimisation of the proportion of owned aircraft compared with leased aircraft and maximisation 

of the result from operating activities after financing can only feasibly occur on the basis of EBITDAR, 

as it adjusts the operating result by the two expense types, depreciation and leasing costs.

ECONOMIC GROWTH IN EUROPE
(IN PERCENT)

EUROPEAN UNION euro zone GERMANY

2006            2007         2008 e 2006            2007         2008 e 2006            2007         2008 e

Prime objective in  
performance  

measurement: safety

The merging of the 
technical divisions offers 

substantial earnings 
potential 

2.0

3.0

2.9

1.8

2.9

2.7

1.7

2.9

2.5
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Economic environment

In line with the forecasts of the International Monetary Fund (IMF), global GDP rose by 4.9% 

in 2007, although growth in the USA, the world’s biggest economy, fell from 2.9% in 2006 to 

2.2% last year. The newly industrialising countries, primarily China, India and Russia, were 

again the driving forces in the global economy, with some posting double-digit growth rates. In 

the USA, the effects of the property and mortgage market crisis that broke out in the summer 

showed its affects in the fourth quarter, with growth slowing to just 0.6%. 

 

According to the European Commission, in the European Union and the euro zone, eco-

nomic growth in 2007 proved to be robust until well into autumn, with growth rates of 2.9% 

and 2.7% respectively. In particular, Europe’s biggest economy, Germany, continued to grow 

strongly as a result of flourishing investment and ongoing high export contributions despite 

the VAT increase in the spring. According to calculations by the German Federal Statistical Of-

fice, real German GDP increased by 2.5% compared to 2.9% from the previous year. 

Oil price developments

Aircraft fuel is closely linked with the price movements of crude oil, of which it is a refined 

product. What is more, for several years it has been apparent that the price fluctuations in 

crude oil-based products such as aviation fuel have tended to be more pronounced than those 

for crude oil itself. Whereas a stable price trend of around USD 50 per barrel prevailed for the 

Brent variety at the beginning of 2007, analogous to the previous year, a sharper rise began at 

the end of the first quarter, leading to new all-time highs of almost USD 100 per barrel by the 

end of the year despite minor corrections. Prices for aviation fuel rose in line with the crude 

oil price development from around USD 600 per tonne of jet kerosene at the beginning of the 

year to over USD 950 per tonne at the end of the year. 

There are various reasons for the recent rise in the USD price for crude oil. Economic causes 

can mainly be attributed to growing demand from the emerging growth markets and the  

distinct weakening of the USD against the EUR and JPY during the year. However, specific 

Oil and kerosene  
reaching historical  

highs

The newly industrialising 
countries supported  

economic growth in 2007
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non-economic effects pushed oil prices up last year. Primarily, the capital drain from tradition-

al investment areas for international investors caused by the mortgage crisis in the USA led to 

increased exposure on the commodities markets. The resultant additional demand for commer-

cial stocks of oil and oil-based products accelerated the price rise even further. 

Interest and currency developments

The first half of 2007 was characterised by expectations of market players that prime rates in 

the euro zone were on an upward trend. The two slight prime rate rises by the ECB of 25 basis 

points to 4.00% reflected this trend, whilst the US Federal Reserve Bank initially left its prime 

rate unchanged.

 

Finally, the money markets became caught in the wake of the US mortgage crisis in July 2007. 

The fear of huge risk amounts hidden in the banks’ balance sheets led to distinct distrust in 

the interbank market, with the result that the banks were hesitant to help each other out with 

liquidity and interest rates for overnight funds were therefore subject to intense fluctuations. 

Initially, individual central banks reacted by injecting liquidity running into billions. In the sec-

ond half of 2007, the Federal Reserve then cut its prime rate by a total of 100 basis points. The 

ECB also stopped its previously restrictive approach, but left the prime rate unchanged in view 

of the increased inflation rate during this period.

Whereas the both main currencies, EUR and USD, traded within a relatively narrow band on 

the foreign exchange market between January and June 2007 (low of USD 1.2864 per EUR 

and high of 1.3622), the EUR gained strongly in the second half of the year, peaking at a rate 

of 1.4967. The uncertainty among the financial markets after the outbreak of the subprime 

crisis, the unwinding of carry trades (in JPY and CHF), the changing interest rate differen-

tials and the central banks constantly acting on the markets by increasingly switching USD 

holdings into EUR, led to a soaring increase in volatility. Only in the last few weeks of the 

year was the EUR/USD exchange rate slightly corrected. Following the close-out of positions, 

the EUR traded between 1.4300 and 1.4600.

AIRCRAFT
124	

GROWTH IN 2007

destinationS
135	

FLIGHTS
218,587	

PASSENGERS
28,211,790	

+ 6.0% + 6.8%+ 5.5% + 10.4%

The international  
financial markets crisis 

defines the trend in  
interest rates

Non-economic effects 
dominate the oil price
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Developments in the aviation industry

Despite a weather-related dent in the spring, 2007 was a good year for German aviation. Accord-

ing to the German Federal Statistical Office, a total of 163.6 million passengers took-off or landed 

at German airports in 2007. Compared to 2006, this is an increase of 9.6 million passengers or 

6.2%. With 24.1 million passengers, domestic German flights were up 6.3%, the biggest increase 

since 1996 and a new all-time high. The number of foreign passengers (boarding and exiting) 

rose by 6.2% to 139.5 million, a new record. 

The number of passengers who travelled from Germany to airports in Europe increased by 5.9% 

to 107.9 million. Air traffic to destinations within the European Union was up 4.6% to 85.7 mil-

lion passengers. Intercontinental traffic rose by 7.2% to 31.5 million passengers, headed by the 

USA. 9.6 million travellers who visited the United States, 8.8% more than in the previous year. 

Traditionally, the United Arab Emirates is one of the most popular flight destinations. 2007 saw 

an increase of 18.2%, making it the number one Asian destination. China came second with 1.6 

million passengers and an increase of 10.4%.

According to the German Airport Working Group (Arbeitsgemeinschaft Deutscher Verkehrs-

flughäfen – ADV), low-cost traffic was again the main factor in traffic growth. Traffic posted an 

increase of 20.8% compared with 24.0% in the previous year. Its share of overall traffic rose by 

26.2%.

According to IATA, the international umbrella organisation of traditional full-fare airlines which 

claims to represent 94% of international air traffic, passenger volume in international air traffic 

rose by 7.4% in 2007. Last year’s increase was well above the 5.9% posted in the previous year, 

which was in line with the long-term average growth of the industry. Therefore, measured in 

terms of passenger volume, 2007 was also a good year for passenger aviation at an international 

level. However, there were differences at the regional level. The Middle East posted the strongest 

passenger increase with 18.1%, whilst Europe and the USA performed well below average in 

international terms, with a growth rate of 6.0% and 5.5% respectively (previous year: 5.3% and 

5.7%). 

International air traffic 
grew more strongly  
in 2007 than in the  

year before 

International air traffic 
from Germany also grew 

strongly in 2007  

Number of passengers 
hits new record  

in German domestic  
air traffic
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As the 7.7% rise in the number of revenue passenger kilometres (RPK) was higher than that 

of available seat kilometres (+5.9%), aircraft utilisation also increased. It rose by one percent-

age point to 77%. Measured on the basis of these figures, Air Berlin again outstripped industry 

growth in 2007. Cargo volumes increased by 4.3%, slightly down compared to the previous year’s 

rate (+4.6%). In 2007, air freight remained considerably below the 7–8% average growth seen 

prior to 2006. Overall, the income trend in the industry continued to stabilise in 2007. After 

net profits fell just short of break-even in 2006 after five years of losses, last year saw a return to 

profit (USD 5.6 billion) for the first time since 2000. 

Operating development

Passenger travel and the fleet

Including the subsidiaries LTU, consolidated as of 31 July 2007, and Belair, consolidated as of 

1 November 2007, the Air Berlin Group transported 24,951,757 passengers in 2007. Air Ber-

lin itself accounted for 23,253,663 (+18.0% compared with the previous year), LTU accounted 

for 1,657,067, and Belair for 41,027 passengers. In the whole financial year, LTU transported 

4,567,817 passengers and Belair transported 390,310 passengers. Assuming, pro forma, that LTU 

had been part of the Air Berlin Group for the whole financial year, the total number amounts to 

28,211,790 passengers, which means +10.4 percent comparable to the previous period.

For the first time since 
2000 the international 

airline industry was 
profitable in 2007  

In 2007 almost  
25 million passengers 

chose Air Berlin 
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On the above pro forma basis, the number of seats available rose by 8.1% from 33,754,968 in 

2006 to 36,495,479. As the passenger volume increased much more sharply, utilisation meas

ured on the basis of the passenger load factor grew satisfactorily by 1.57 percentage points to 

77.3% in 2007. As the number of flights grew at a slower pace than the passenger volume at 

6.8%, there were more passengers on each flight.

Strong increase in the 
passenger load factor 

Air Berlin and LTU (31.12.)

						     +/– %		 2007		 2006		

Aircraft				   6.0 	  124 	 117 	

Flights	  			  6.8 	 218,587 	 204,699 		  

Destinations	  	 5.5	 	 135 	 128			

Passengers (thousands; “pax”) 			  10.4 	 28,211		 25,561		

Available seat kilometres (billions; ASK) 			  5.9 	 59.38 	 56.09		

Revenue passenger kilometres (billions; RPK) 			  7.7		 46.07 	 42.77 	  

Passenger load factor (%; pax/capacity)  			  1.57	*	 77.30 	 75.73		

Number of block hours  			   5.4		 461,823 	 438,217 		  

	 *percentage points
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Premium Business Class
lay down and fly

inclination up to

180°
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Passenger volumes at the ten most important Air Berlin destination airports; 

departures plus arrivals, including connecting flights 

 

Air Berlin ex LTU (1 Jan. – 31 Dec.)			  +/– %		 2007		 2006		

Palma de Mallorca 			  +12.4		 5,694,895		 5,067,479		

Berlin (TXL, SXF, THF)			  +20.4		 4,880,418		 4,055,158		

Düsseldorf			  +29.3		 4,039,544		 3,123,468		

Munich				   +24.6		 3,347,088		 2,686,297		

Hamburg			  +25.0		 2,520,566		 2,016,082		

Nuremberg			  +14.6		 2,356,513		 2,055,746		

Cologne				   +7.8		 1,361,216		 1,262,414		

Vienna				   +19.2		 1,260,919		 1,057,825		

Hanover				   +2.3		 1,212,596		 1,185,213		

Stansted				  –5.4		 1,156,760		 1,222,726		

All Others			  +15.8		 16,599,845		 14,331,582		

TOTAL				   +16.7		 44,430,360		 38,063,990		

Joint passenger volume for Air Berlin and LTU, at the ten most important LTU 

destination airports; departures plus arrivals, including connecting flights

Air Berlin including LTU (1 Jan. - 31 Dec.)			  +/– %		 2007		 2006		

Düsseldorf			  +11.0		 6,498,725		 5,853,601		

Palma de Mallorca			  +8.2		 5,942,079		 5,493,383		

Berlin (TXL, SXF, THF)			  +17.1		 5,100,972		 4,355,970		

Munich				   +19.1		 4,343,813		 3,646,425		

Hamburg			  +20.0		 2,532,631		 2,110,641		

Nuremberg			  +14.5		 2,362,042		 2,062,111		

Cologne				   +5.0		 1,475,423		 1,405,560		

Vienna				   +12.1		 1,261,060		 1,125,073		

Hanover				   +1.7		 1,217,263		 1,197,009		

Frankfurt			  –7.8		 1,168,189		 1,267,263		

All others			  +5.7		 21,208,165		 20,055,922		

TOTAL, Air Berlin + LTU			  +9.3		 53,110,362		 48,572,958		

TOTAL, LTU			  –17.4		 8,680,002		 10,508,968		
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  pax 2007: düsseldorf

Dus 6.5

air berlin in germany 
(millions of Passengers*)

*Figures for Air Berlin, LTU and Belair for the entire 2007 business year

pax 2007: berlin (TXL, SXF, THF)

Ber 4.9
pax 2007: munich

muc 4.3
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As in the previous year, the growth in passenger volume was evenly distributed among the 

most important airports. In particular, the key airports of Berlin, Munich and Düsseldorf 

posted stable increases. Air Berlin also has enjoyed sustained strong growth in Vienna. Despite 

the weather-related dent in spring, significant double-digit growth rates were generated in 

Palma de Mallorca. As in the preceding years, this important hub has clearly maintained its 

lead over all other destination airports served by the “old” Air Berlin, i.e. before including LTU. 

However, including LTU for the full year, it is also clear that the integration of LTU has seen 

Düsseldorf airport take first place. The strategy of using the acquisition of LTU not only to tap 

into the long haul market but also to extend access to the most important German catchment 

area has proved to be a complete success. In the 2007 business year, LTU transported almost 

2.5 million additional passengers to the Düsseldorf airport. 

In 2007, the passenger volume deviated in the second quarter beyond the usual seasonal fluctua-

tions. However, as a result of some successful special offers, the passenger figures, in the tradi-

tionally slower first three months, still rose by 11.7% as compared to 13.6% in 2006. However, 

the usual holiday-related surge in the second quarter largely was missing this year. This is attributed 

to the very warm spring in Central Europe resulting in slack tour operator business in April, and 

the very poor weather in the Balearics. Nevertheless, despite the dent in growth in April, 

primarily from slack tour operator business affecting the Spanish destinations, a significant 

double-digit growth rate was achieved for the quarter as a whole. The second quarter of 2007 was 

the only quarter posting a decline in utilisation compared to the previous year. In contrast, the 

other quarters all recorded significant increases; in the key third quarter in particular, utilisation 

was up by 2.2 percentage points to almost 84%.

These successes are primarily the result of the further network optimisation following the suc-

cessful integration of the subsidiary, dba, purchased in 2006. As the independent brand identity 

of dba was dropped in April, its integration has come to a successful conclusion, also visually.

 

Evenly shared growth 
between the most  
important airports 

The integration of LTU 
has seen Düsseldorf 

take first place among 
Air Berlin’s destination 

airports

Strong rise in passenger 
volume during the season

ally important quarters
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*Figures for Air Berlin, LTU and Belair for the entire 2007 business year

  pax 2007: Palma de mallorca

pmi 5.9

air berlin in europe 
(millions of passengers*)

 pax 2007: vienna

Vie 1.3
pax 2007: London-stansted

Stn 1.2



p62 AIR BERLIN ANNUAL REPORT 2007

01) Essentials

02) Airport Arithmetics

03) �Mission & Shares

04) �Directors’ Report			 

Business Review

05) Corporate Governance 

06) �Financial Statements 

07) Appendix

In the pro forma assessment, the fleet of the Air Berlin Group consisted of 124 aircraft at the 

end of the 2007 business year, 7 aircraft more than in the previous year. The fleet renewal which 

began in 2006, with the A320 aircraft replacing the Boeing 737-400 aircraft, was continued  

in 2007, with the replacement of the Boeing 737-300 aircraft with A320 aircraft. The A320

is now the Airbus most operated by Air Berlin. The Fokker F100 aircraft fleet is also being 

phased out as planned.

The contract with Boeing for delivery of 50 (25 firm and 25 option) Boeing long haul aircraft from 

2012 to 2017 will not only modernise the fleet but also will secure long-term, long haul capacity.  

The highly modern aircraft with kerosene-saving aerodynamics and light-weight design will pri-

marily replace older aircraft, but also will contribute to the growth of the Air Berlin fleet. 

Seasonal effects in utilisation Air Berlin and LTU (pax/capacity)

								      2007		 2006		

Q1	 					    Pax		 5,245,544		 4,760,904		

						     Capacity		 7,550,943		 7,068,697		

						     Utilisation		 69.47 %		 67.35 %		

Q2						    Pax		 7.394.281		 6.913.437		

						     Capacity		 9.521.029		 8.810.459		

						     Utilisation		 77.66 %		 78.47 %		

Q3						    Pax		 8.799.317		 7.991.662		

						     Capacity		 10.480.283		 9.780.298		

						     Utilisation		 83.96 %		 81.71 %		

Q4						    Pax		 6.772.648		 5.895.187		

						     Capacity		 8.943.224		 8.095.514		

						     Utilisation		 75.73 %		 72.82 %		

Total year			  Pax		 28.211.790		 25.561.190		

						     Capacity		 36.495.479		 33.754.968		

						     Utilisation		 77.30 %		 75.73 %		

2007 saw the Air Berlin 
Group fleet grow  

by 7 aircraft
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Fleet Air Berlin Group (31 December)

				    				  Number in 2007		 Number in 2006		

A319							      8		  4 	

A320							      30		  11		

A321							      4		  4		

A330-200					    9		  9		

A330-300					    3		  3		

B737-300					    0		  14		

B737-500					    10		  1		

B737-700					    12		  6		

B737-800					    35		  35		

B757							      2		  0		

B767							      1		  0		

F100							      10		  17		

Total							      124		  104		

Shares of ticket sales in 2007, by distribution channels, in per cent

			   					   2007		 2006		

Individual ticket sales					   62.8		 65.1		

	 Website Air Berlin					   29.0		 29.4		

	 Service centre Air Berlin					   2.6		 4.0		

	 Ticket counter Air Berlin					   1.7		 2.0		

	 Travel agencies					   27.2		 27.0		

	 Internal sales					   2.3		 2.7		

Charter and tour organisers					   37.2		 34.9		

In 2007, approximately two-thirds of Air Berlin’s ticket sales were once again single-seat sales, 

with approximately one-third sold through tour operators and tour organisers (bulk tickets). With 

the acquisition of LTU, the proportion of bulk tickets rose slightly over last year. This relatively 

high proportion of bulk ticket sales makes Air Berlin unique among the European low-fare carri-

ers, which otherwise are largely unrepresented in the charter market. Air Berlin’s single-seat ticket 
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sales are also unique. In contrast to others in the industry, Air Berlin sells a large number of 

tickets conventionally, via travel agencies. Air Berlin uses a variety of established sales channels, 

which includes its fast growing online sales and sales via its service centre. All sales methods are 

emphasised and will continue to play an important role for Air Berlin. 

Air Berlin has a strong brand, is widely known and boasts a very broad customer base with 28 

million passengers in 2007. The relaunch of the brand identity and the new brand name “airberlin.  

Your Airline.” is intended to strengthen further customer loyalty and extend the additional 

services provided by Air Berlin. The “airberlin community” is not only a highly interesting target 

group with respect to air travel. Partnerships with numerous service providers in other areas of 

travel deliver extra revenue potential. Building on the sound core business of holiday, business 

and shopping flights, the product range for travellers will be systematically expanded.

The success of this strategy is impressively demonstrated by the revenues from these additional 

services, which almost doubled in 2007. In particular, the convenience sector grew strongly. For 

instance, revenue from in-flight sales was up 68.7%, and the credit card business grew by 60.3%. 

The strong increase in revenues from technical services is to be regarded as a particular success. 

Technical service revenues have more than doubled, meaning that we have quickly achieved our 

strategic goal of obtaining third party business as a result of the spin-off described below.

Sales from additional 
services rise strongly

The relaunch of brand 
identity comes with a 

new brand name 

Broad variety of strong 
and extremely well esta-

blished sales channels 
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Revenues from additional products and services associated with flying

				    2006		 2006		 2007		 2007		

				    EUR million		 %		 EUR million		 %		

In-flight sales	 16.3		 28.1	 	 27.5 	 23.8 	

Credit card business	 7.3		 12.5		 11.7 	 10.1		  

Excess luggage	 5.9		 10.2		 11.3 	 9.8		  

Air Berlin card	 2.1		 3.7		 1.8 	 1.6		  

Seat reservations	 2.1		 3.6		 4.3		 3.7		

Technology	 13.1		 22.5		 29.3		 25.4		

Promotional	 5.0		 8.6		 8.4 	 7.2		

Others		  6.3		 10.8		 21.2		 18.4		

Total			   58.1		 100.0		 115.5		 100.0		

Spin-off of maintenance services

In 2007, plans were made to merge the technical divisions of Air Berlin and its subsidiaries 

under the umbrella of the London based “Air Berlin Technik Ltd.“ as a group from the beginning 

of 2008. Including its subsidiaries the group employs around 1,200 staff. 

With the establishment of the Air Berlin Technik, the first major synergies from the LTU inte-

gration will be leveraged in 2008. To improve utilisation at the individual locations, specific cost 

savings are being generated. Furthermore, Air Berlin has, with this spin-off, created growth po-

tential in third party business which provides for a certain degree of insulation from the seasonal 

fluctuations. 

In August 2007, Tegel airport started operating its new 9,000 square metre terminal building 

with six gates. Air Berlin has taken over the new terminal as the main user.

Spin-off of maintenance 
services leverages major 

synergies
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Results

In 2007, consolidated total revenue rose by 61.0% to EUR 2,536.5 million compared to EUR 

1,575.4 million in the previous year. Organic and acquisition-related growth contributed to this in-

crease. Single-seat ticket sales rose by 67.5% to EUR 1,453.4 million, and revenues from tour op-

erators and tour organisers were up 46.0% to EUR 861.3 million. The increase in revenue would 

have been significantly higher if the weather-related slowdown in April 2007 had not sparked off 

a fierce price war on routes to Palma and the Spanish mainland. Despite the recovery of passen-

ger volume shortly thereafter, ticket prices remained for a long period at an unsatisfactory level. 

Duty-free revenues and revenues from ground and other services associated with flying as well as 

code-sharing increased particularly strongly by 68.4% and 92.0% respectively. Therefore there 

was a further increase in the already highly positive trend in supplementary revenue. 

In contrast to the previous year, the increase in operating expense items outstripped the increase  

in revenue. This particularly applies to personnel expenses. Headcount was increased by the LTU 

acquisition, which explains part of the rise in personnel expenses. However, the delay of the LTU 

integration resulted in restructuring expenditure in a number of cost categories. The route net-

works of Air Berlin and LTU as well as the operating processes were not coordinated as quickly 

as planned. 

In contrast, the rise in expenses for materials and services was generally in line with that of 

revenues. Whilst fuel costs posted only a slightly above-average increase of 62.4%, with the sharp 

fall of the USD against the EUR partially cushioning the huge dollar price rise, leasing costs 

more than doubled. This was largely due to the above-mentioned delays in the LTU integration, 

as a result of which expensive wet leases were necessary. Expenses for materials such as catering, 

procurement for in-flight sales, airport, navigation and other fees, were kept strictly controlled 

and well below the rise in revenues. This demonstrates the significant synergy potential from the 

integration of acquired companies.

Key items of other operating expenses also posted above-average increases. This particularly 

pertains to expenditure for maintenance of flight-related equipment. As to be expected, expendi-

tures for training as well as consultancy and auditing had, as a result of the LTU acquisition, an 

above-average increase.

DEVELOPMENT IN FINANCIAL FIGURES

Investment in the future. With the LTU acquisition, Air Berlin has 
opened the door to long haul flights. The response from investors 
was positive: both the capital increase as well as the convertible 
bond issuance were well received.

The delay of the LTU 
integration resulted  

in restructuring  
expenditure  

Consolidated overall  
revenue rises by more 

than 60 %



p67 AIR BERLIN ANNUAL REPORT 2007

2006

437.8

2007

594.2

Equity 
(Group; in millionS OF EuroS)

+35.7%
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EBITDAR (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and rent, i.e. aircraft leasing 

expenses), amounted to EUR 379.0 million compared with EUR 256.5 million in the previous 

year. This represents a 47.8% increase. The EBITDAR margin therefore came up to 14.9% in the 

2007 business year compared with 16.3% in the previous year. This is a good overall result, in 

light of the spring weather-related price war and the additional costs associated with the delays of 

the LTU acquisition. 

In contrast, the result from operating activities (EBIT) declined from EUR 64.1 million in the 

previous year to EUR 21.4 million in the 2007 business year due to significantly higher operating 

leasing costs. The financial result before currency effects changed only slightly from the previ-

ous year. Significantly lower foreign exchange gains – largely arising from currency translation 

differences – than in the previous year led to a lower financial overall result. Consequently, a loss 

before tax of EUR –13.3 million was generated. 

In 2007 a tax benefit of EUR 34.3 million was realised, thereof EUR 8.0 million from the change 

in German tax law. In 2006 the Group had recorded a deferred tax asset of EUR 10.0 million 

which it anticipated being made available to the Group. However, this benefit was not in fact 

available and the 2006 results and net assets have been restated acccordingly. As a result the 

profit for the year in 2006 is EUR 10.0 million lower (EUR 40.1 million instead of the originally 

recorded EUR 50.1 million). The profit for the year 2007 is EUR 21.0 million or EUR 0.33 per 

share after EUR 0.76 per share last year. The result from operation activities of both years includ-

ing the profit (loss) before tax remain unaffected by this non-cash shift between two reporting 

periods.

Strong increase in leasing 
costs leads to lower EBIT
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Balance sheet and cash flow

The Air Berlin balance sheet was again significantly characterised by acquisition-related growth 

in 2007. As at 31 December 2007, total assets considerably increased compared with the 

previous balance sheet date as a result of the LTU acquisition and increased by 58.7% to EUR 

2,519.2 million (2006: +49.5%, largely as a result of the dba takeover). 

The increase impacts nearly all major balance sheet items. Non-current assets have increased by 

52.4% or EUR 565.6 million to EUR 1,644.4 million. This includes acquisition-related increases 

in intangibles by EUR 244.0 million (LTU share: EUR 243.2 million) and in equipment (proper-

ty, aircraft, technical and other equipment) by EUR 264.3 million. Current assets grew by 71.8%. 

Whereas inventories remain insignificant, receivables and advanced payments due to aircraft 

orders showed a significant increase as at the reporting date. Cash and cash equivalents were up 

48.3% to EUR 468.7 million. 

In contrast, the asset structure changed only slightly. Non-current assets accounted for 65.3% of 

total assets compared with 67.9% in the previous year. Accordingly, the share of current assets 

rose slightly to 34.7% from 32.1%.

On the liabilities side, total equity was up EUR 156.3 million or 35.7%. In addition to an increase 

of EUR 21.0 million from income and EUR 12.3 million from the hedging reserves recognized 

in equity, the funds from the capital increase on 28 March 2007 totalling EUR 94.8 million (net 

of tax) and the equity portion of the convertible bond issued on 11 April 2007 in the amount of 

EUR 27.4 million, which both helped to finance the LTU takeover, are reflected. As of 31 De-

cember 2007, the equity ratio was 23.6% compared with 27.6% in the prior year.

Non-current liabilities increased by 65.8% or EUR 389.4 million to EUR 981.2 million. The rise 

largely consists of the liability component of the convertible bond (EUR 182.0 million) as well as 

higher leasing liabilities. Current liabilities increased to a similar extent as non-current liabilities. 

The increase is primarily attributable to the increase in non-current trade payables and other 

liabilities.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
(IN MILLIONS OF EUROS)

Operating expense 
2007 up 65% with 
oil price inflation 
being the major  
reason

Balance sheet total  
rises strongly due to LTU 

acquisition

–115,9

40,1

21,0

2005            2006         2007
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Cash generated from operations amounted to EUR 112.3 million for the 2007 business year 

compared with EUR 132.0 million in the previous year. The decrease is largely income-related: 

depreciation rose by 46.0 % following the high level of investment in the previous year. Cash 

flow-impacting changes to current assets primarily relate to a recovery of committed capital in 

inventories with a positive swing compared to the previous year of EUR 7.0 million. After net 

interest and taxes paid of EUR 27.2 million (previous year: EUR 22.4 million), the net cash flow 

from operating activities came to EUR 85.1 million after EUR 109.6 million.

Cash flow used in investing activities came to EUR 259.5 million in 2007, compared with EUR 

373.5 million in the prior year. The effects of the sale and lease back of aircraft purchased plus 

the repayment of advance receipts in 2006 resulted in a decline of net purchases of tangible and 

intangible assets to EUR 124.6 million compared to EUR 241.8 in 2006 (purchases, proceeds 

from sale and advanced receipts for sale of tangible assets repaid in 2007). Advanced payments 

for non-current assets rose by EUR 46.8 million to EUR 95.6 million. Net payments for acquisi-

tions totalled EUR 39.8 million compared with EUR 83.5 million in the previous year. In 2007, 

the cash flow from financing activities increased by EUR 116.8 million to EUR 420.2 million. The 

financing of the LTU acquisition is largely reflected by the net inflow of funds from the convertible 

bond of EUR 213.6 million and the cash generated from the capital increase of EUR 92.8 million 

net. Overall, a total cash inflow of EUR 245.8 million was generated compared to EUR 39.5 mil-

lion in the previous year.

Strong cash inflow 
through financing of LTU 

acquisition

Net cash flow from 
operations influenced by 

business tax reform  
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Employees

Air Berlin significantly increased its staff in Germany in the 2007 business year. This occurred 

primarily through the acquisition of LTU, which brought 3,089 new employees to the Group. 

With Belair in Switzerland, a further 201 employees joined the Group.

At the end of 2007, the Air Berlin Group employed approximately 4,700 women and approximately 

3,650 men. With a total of 8,360 employees, the headcount has more than doubled, as there were 

“only” 4,037 employees plus 71 interns and temporary workers (students and retirees) at the 

end of 2006. Adjusted for the new dba/LTU/Belair employees, Air Berlin created 1,100 new jobs 

in 2007. The employees at Air Berlin are on average just under 35 years old. Air Berlin employs a 

total of 511 persons in other countries, 199 of them in Spain and 261 in Switzerland. dba does not 

have any employees outside Germany. LTU has 9 staff in Vienna.

1,600 people work part-time at the Air Berlin Group. In addition, 58 Air Berlin flight deck 

employees are taking advantage of an employment model known as “Take a Month Off”, with ad-

justed salaries. Depending on the particular Air Berlin station, a certain number of captains and/

or copilots can participate in the “Take a Month Off” programme in the summer season (1 May 

to 31 October) and/or the winter season (1 November to 30 April), each up to a maximum of three 

months. Taking this into consideration, the proportion of part-time employees is 20 per cent. 

Employment Structure Air Berlin and LTU

								      31.12.2007	*	 31.12.2006		

Flight crew					   1,387 (359	)	 816		

Cabin crew					   3,405 (1,496	)	 1,419		

Technical staff					   1,029 (531	)	 438		

Administration					   2,539 (703	)	 1,435		

Total							     8,360 (3,089	)	 4,108		

	 *Total number of Air Berlin employees / in brackets the number of LTU employees

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

The Air Berlin team is continuing to grow. Air Berlin welcomed 
3,290 new employees with the acquisition of LTU and Belair. In  
particular, the service-oriented sectors were strengthened.

Air Berlin created  
1,100 additional jobs  

in 2007 
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Following dba in the previous year, LTU was acquired in 2007 to enable the Air Berlin Group to 

tap into additional growth potential, particularly with entry into the long haul business. Synergy 

effects will also clearly be generated with the LTU integration. By combining activities sensibly, 

cost savings will be generated, especially in staffing where there are redundancy opportunities. 

The amalgamation of the technical divisions provides both elements: more productivity through 

streamlined processes combined with additional business volume through expansion of services 

to third-party customers. The focus is clearly on increases in productivity and enhanced pros-

pects. 

Air Berlin invested heavily in crews in 2007. Among the flying personnel, the number of cockpit 

employees was increased by more than one-fifth; 194 new recruits were accepted at Air Berlin, 

25 at LTU, 15 at dba, and 17 employees were hired at Belair. Moreover, 665 flight attendants were 

trained and hired at Air Berlin’s subsidiary CHS (Cabin and Handling Services) in 2007. The 

figure was 235 at LTU, whilst dba recruited 35 additional flight attendants and Belair 46.

43 young individuals began apprenticeships at Air Berlin in 2007 in vocational training in flight-

related careers. One-third of these apprentices were trained as travel clerks, one-third as air traffic 

clerks, and one-third as office communications clerks. Nine apprentices successfully completed 

their training in 2007; eight moved on to regular employment within the Company. 45 young 

individuals began apprenticeships at LTU in 2007. In addition to the commercial vocational 

training (steward in aviation and office clerks), aircraft mechanics and electronics engineers for 

aviation systems are being trained. 17 trainees successfully completed their training and moved 

on to temporary or regular employment. 

In February 2007, Air Berlin started pilot training in co-operation with TFC (Technical Flight 

Consulting). In total, 4 classes with a total of 48 students began their training. The new flight 

school is attracting significant interest, and provides the students with all training required for 

full accreditation. The two-year training concludes with the awarding of the commercial pilot’s 

license (CPL-IR). Training is carried out in small classes with a maximum of 15 students with 

state-of-the-art equipment. Air Berlin together with Commerzbank and Deutsche Bank facilitate 

the financing of their training. Loans of up to EUR 60,000 are made available. During the train-

ing period Air Berlin covers the payment of interest.

2006: 4,108 2007: 8,360

EMPLOYEES

Broad range of  
career opportunities

Successfull  
amalgamation of  

technical divisions 
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Employee communication and participation

To foster communication in-house, Air Berlin pursues an “open door” policy across the hierar-

chy. Our flat organisational structure leads not only to more efficient communication but also 

promotes a culture of togetherness. Air Berlin regularly, extensively and promptly informs its 

employees with respect to Company matters relating to them, and in particular concerning those 

matters of economic and financial nature. This is done by methods of communication such as the 

Company’s own Intranet (Corporate Web), or the Board’s regular “letters to the employees”. Fur-

thermore, new employees receive a comprehensive package with information about Air Berlin.  

Air Berlin considers itself an equal-opportunity employer and welcomes applications from all 

persons, including those with disabilities. If an employee were to become disabled, the Company 

would try to maintain continuity of employment, provided that there are duties which the disabled 

employee can perform, taking into account the nature of the disability. Air Berlin intends to  

provide suitable training where possible to develop the careers of disabled employees.

Flat organisational  
structure leads to effici-

ent communication
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273,000
kilometres of new destinations

Air berlin goes global
Additional destinations

Five times a week from Düsseldorf to Beijing and Shanghai 

+22
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Social Responsibilities

As the second-largest German airline, Air Berlin is aware of its social responsibilities. In the 

2007 business year, Air Berlin gave donations totalling EUR 172,107 in connection with the 

support of social and charitable projects (2006: EUR 149,813). The Company promotes specific 

initiatives dedicated to the assistance and support of the disadvantaged in our society. 

To this end, the Christiane Herzog Foundation for cystic fibrosis sufferers was supported for 

the twelfth consecutive year in 2007. Cystic fibrosis is the most frequent hereditary metabolism 

disorder and a cure has yet to be found. In Germany, around six to eight thousand children 

and young adults suffer from this disease. The Foundation is Christiane Herzog’s lifework and 

legacy. True to the slogan, “Helping through Action”, she fought for permanent improvement for 

those afflicted. Each year Air Berlin flies more than 45 children, with accompanying caregivers, 

to Gran Canaria for rehabilitation therapy. The Company initiates contribution campaigns and 

helps to finance Foundation events.

Since April 2006, Air Berlin has offered its passengers exclusively the “Café Intención” bever-

age, a fairly traded high-quality coffee made by the J.J. Darboven coffee company and awarded the 

TransFair seal of approval. Over 20 tons were served in 2007! In doing so Air Berlin supports small 

coffee growers and contributes to their economic survival. The small agricultural co-operatives 

in Central and South America profit particularly from this arrangement. The TransFair initiative 

is supported by around 40 member organisations from various sectors such as development aid, 

churches, welfare, consumer protection, co-operatives, education and environmentalists. Further-

more, the European Union, the German federal government, political parties and many committed 

individuals support TransFair.

In 2007, Air Berlin also supported the United People Charity Night in aid of Power-Child e.V. 

The purpose of this non-profit organisation is to strengthen children’s sense of self-confidence so 

they can better recognise hazardous situations and defend themselves in specific situations. Air 

Berlin donated EUR 75,000 to this project.

Air Berlin does not make donations to political parties.

Our customers drink 
TransFair sealed coffee

For many years  
Air Berlin has helped 

those who suffer from  
cystic fibrosis

Air Berlin is aware of its 
social responsibilities
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Environmental action

The Dreamliners ordered from Boeing last summer will significantly contribute to reducing fuel 

consumption and noise. The twin-engine Dreamliner officially developed by Boeing since 2004, 

features new aerodynamics, lightweight composite materials and particularly fuel-efficient en-

gines. Compared with conventional aircraft, a fuel saving of 20% per seat may be achieved – CO2 

emissions are reduced accordingly. In the 787-8 version with 272 seats (including 30 in Business 

Class) as ordered by Air Berlin, fuel consumption per passenger per 100 kilometres is only 2.5 li-

tres. By opting for the Dreamliner, Air Berlin is making a key contribution to environmental pro-

tection above and beyond all theoretical debates without being compelled to by law. The aircraft 

has a maximum range of 15,200 kilometres. It will be used by Air Berlin on long haul routes.

Less weight, less fuel. Air Berlin is constantly looking for new opportunities to reduce fuel con-

sumption – right down to the “paperless” cockpit! Air Berlin is well aware of its responsibility to 

the environment and future generations. In particular, noise abatement and reduction of exhaust 

emissions are systematically pursued. In this way, emission levels are kept as low as possible 

through various measures. This has an economic benefit: ultimately, kerosene is a key cost factor. 

One of the key elements of Air Berlin’s environmental commitment is its fleet policy. Our Com-

pany operates one of the industry’s youngest fleets. At the close of the reporting year, the aircraft 

were, on average, just 5.2 years old. Investment policies aim at keeping the average age of the Air 

Berlin fleet consistently at approximately six years. As a result, fuel consumption is significantly 

below the industry average. 

Other notable fuel-saving contributions by Air Berlin include the installation of special features 

on its aircraft. Almost all aircraft have winglets (Boeing) or wingtips (Airbus), small extensions 

at the tips of the wings. They improve the wings’ aerodynamics and contribute to reduced fuel 

consumption. A fleet containing aircraft with these features will use around 3% less fuel than one 

without winglets. All new orders at Air Berlin are for aircraft with winglets or wingtips.

State-of-the-art aircraft

Very young fleet

All new aircraft carry 
winglets or wingtips
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Moreover, the new Air Berlin aircraft are considerably quieter than comparable older aircraft. 

This is a major competitive advantage as Air Berlin serves in particular airports which are close to 

or within major cities.

In general, the Company contributes to environment protection and in particular to further 

reduction of fuel consumption by co-ordinating route plans as efficiently as possible, optimising 

routes in accordance with prevailing wind and weather conditions, and thus minimising flight 

times. The same is true for achieving the highest possible efficiency on the ground. All newly 

delivered aircraft, Airbus as well as Boeing, are fitted with “tech insertion engines” to their manu-

facturers which, according have 15 – 20% lower nitrogen oxide emissions. 

Air Berlin’s young  
fleet is also  

considerably quieter
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Risk Philosophy and Policies

As an international airline, Air Berlin is confronted with a multitude of risks. Early identification 

and control of risks are central tasks for management and every employee. This is accomplished 

by means of an efficient risk management system that reflects all of the elements of the Com-

pany. Through the identification and control of risks, business opportunities can be identified 

and taken advantage of.

The Air Berlin risk management system currently in place was introduced in the first quarter 

of 2006 and is an integral component of our operating and reporting system. The registered 

risks are continuously updated using computer software. Risk reporting includes the review and 

assessment of all risks in the individual departments. This may include the new registration 

or reassessment of risks having regard to the probability of occurrence and the loss potential 

associated with existing risks as well as identifying risks that have been eliminated. In general a 

quantitative, i.e. monetary, assessment of risks is undertaken; a qualitative evaluation is permis-

sible only in exceptional cases.

Extensive risk reporting, which contains information on current risks and assessments, changes 

in assessments and the appropriate measures, is submitted each quarter for review and assess-

ment and the implementation of measures where appropriate. Significant risks are reported to 

the Board.

Thus risk management at Air Berlin makes a decisive contribution to early recognition of strate-

gic and operational risks and contributes to effective management of these risks as well as mak-

ing it possible to recognise opportunities and potential for improvement.

General and Overall Economic Risks

The air travel industry is deemed to be a classical “cyclical industry”, where changes in the general 

business climate exert particular impact. Consumer behaviour and developments in the labour 

markets can have an exaggerated effect on the tourism sector and thus on passenger volumes to 

holiday destinations. Air Berlin is exposed to such risks and other outside risks, such as those 

matters subject to political influence.

RISK REPORT

A central role. Risk management at Air Berlin means increasing the 
Company’s value. Risk reduction enables the reduction of costs and 
reveals business opportunities.

Company-wide  
risk reporting

Comprehensive risk 
managament system
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The Company limits these general risks in a number of ways. With strategic and operationally 

focused management based on stringent organisation together with our commitment to safety, 

efficiency and cost reduction, many risks can be contained. The Company further ensures that 

sufficient management resources are available to reduce the specific risks associated with rapid 

growth.  

Additionally, the Air Berlin business model exhibits specific risk diversification components. 

Its positioning as a low-cost airline with premium service aims at the target groups comprising 

holiday travellers as well as business and other leisure travellers. With the integration of dba and 

LTU, the Company has expanded business flights within Germany and added intercontinental 

flights to its range of services. Under the new brand identity, customers can now choose from  

a significantly increased range of flights. In addition, the revamped topbonus offer makes the 

available flights more attractive.

With the increased variety available to business travellers, the volume of service contracts be-

tween Air Berlin and European companies has grown considerably. This leads to a high degree 

of continuity in passenger volumes and reduce risks that can arise from seasonal fluctuations in 

the holiday travel business. To further reduce the Company’s risk exposure, sufficient insurance 

coverage is obtained to cover insurable risks. This cover is managed centrally.

Industry-related Risks

The airline industry is highly competitive and this is true especially for the low-cost segment. 

Moreover, aviation competes with ground transportation options particularly with regard to short 

haul routes. Air Berlin sees these “risks” as challenges that will be overcome with the successful 

hybrid business model. Beyond maintaining our own competitive position, it opens up potential 

for gaining additional market share from both the flagship carriers and the conventional LCCs. 

The organic growth rates at Air Berlin underscore the success of this approach. 

High continuity in  
passenger volume  

contains volatility risks

The Air Berlin  
business model avoids 

risk clusters
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To ensure that this development continues, the business model is constantly compared against 

market developments. Moreover, Air Berlin stays ahead of the market by continuing to success-

fully provide new supplementary products or “frills” in service and shaping the market to its own 

benefit. The niche position between the classical flagship airlines and the conventional low-cost 

carriers permits a high degree of flexibility, far beyond pure price-based competition.

Its unique positioning clearly separates Air Berlin from the conventional European LCC sector 

and from the problems of overcapacity that have grown in recent years where the battle for mar-

ket share is carried out almost exclusively through pricing and, as a result, through cost cutting. 

Rather, Air Berlin takes advantage of the opportunities of the accelerating consolidation process 

at the European level. The acquisition of LTU, which has further enhanced the Company’s serv-

ice with long haul flights, is an example of such participation.

The aviation industry is subject to extensive regulation by national and international agencies and 

institutions. Air Berlin observes the relevant regulations and laws with a company-wide compli-

ance programme. It ensures internal registration and compliance, including the submission of 

any documentary requirements to the relevant agencies as well as the adaptation of any amend-

ments which are necessary to reflect any changes in the regulations.

Safety and security

Air Berlin continuously does its best to ensure safe and secure operations. Matters with respect 

to security have disrupted operations in the past and may do so in the future. Safety and security 

in the airline industry are subject to strict requirements and legal regulations. The Group fulfils 

all of these obligations.

Flexible business model

Company-wide  
compliance
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Financial risks

A Group-wide treasury management system covers and evaluates all matters associated with 

interest and exchange rates in line with market conditions. Both the underlying transactions 

and the hedging activities are incorporated into this system. The treasury management system 

includes those hedge relations required by IAS 39 for hedge accounting and the calculations for 

hedge effectiveness. All the hedging arrangements entered into are continuously monitored in 

terms of their effectiveness and modified as necessary.

Internal guidelines have been developed that define operative action guidelines and cover the 

subjects of liquidity, foreign exchange, interest, risk and cash and asset/liability management, 

supporting diligent and professional services in and with the financial markets. The primary 

focus is on sufficient liquidity, ensured by comprehensive financial and liquidity planning.

Procurement risks

The most important aspect of procurement is to maintain flight operations and safety insofar as 

the Company has the power to influence this. The acquisition of the technical equipment neces-

sary for security, operations management, flight operations and service requires procurement to 

ensure that such equipment will be provided without service disruption. 

Corresponding to its Company requirements, the orders placed by Air Berlin with suppliers in-

clude details with respect to delivery requirements and terms of payment. Generally, depending 

upon the relevant terms of the underlying agreement, payment of supplies is made upon delivery 

of the goods or services. Generally, our payment targets are 30 days. The terms of delivery are 

generally determined according to ISO 2000 and ISO 9000. As of 31 December 2007, the 

number of creditor days outstanding for the Group was 12. Air Berlin draws upon both conven-

tional and state-of-the-art technology to limit the risks associated with information technology 

and to ensure the safety and stability of the computer systems and databases. This is augmented 

by regular maintenance pursuant to service contracts concluded with software suppliers. 

Professional  
participation on the 

financial markets
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The Company has also developed numerous solutions, independently and in cooperation with 

certain service providers to improve the efficiency of flight management. Dependency on soft-

ware from third parties has been reduced by the associated internalisation of key operational 

value-added functions. With our flight management system, aircraft can be efficiently deployed 

and routes continuously optimised. This results in considerable cost savings, and thus important 

competitive advantages can be realised.

Several factors contribute to maintaining flight operations and ensuring competitiveness. These 

include a modern, high-performance, low-consumption fleet of aircraft, reliable supplies of 

materials, auxiliaries and operating media and in particular fuel, access to attractive airports and 

destinations, and sufficient flight capacity during peak periods.

Air Berlin maintains trusting and long-term relationships with the two major aircraft manufactur-

ers, Airbus and Boeing. This ensures access to the most modern aircraft which best correspond to 

the Company’s needs. A modern fleet can significantly reduce costs for maintenance, repair and 

overhaul. Dependency is avoided and certain advantages in pricing become available. In addition, 

through its links with both manufacturers, Air Berlin increases its options for recruiting pilots. 

Aircraft availability is secured by existing purchase agreements with both manufacturers and op-

tions to acquire additional aircraft at agreed, fixed prices.

In addition to its own aircraft, the Air Berlin Group operates 95 leased aircraft. Leasing aircraft 

is advantageous inasmuch as it reduces the amount of committed capital and enables faster 

expansion of the fleet within a short period of time. However, the lease terms are comparatively 

short and, as a result, there are risks associated with long term planning, especially as leasing 

rates generally increase at a rate greater than the conditions which can be obtained by Air Berlin 

through a loan or other financing arrangement. Consequently, the Company will in future  

successively reduce its share of leased aircraft. The average remaining term for leased aircraft is, 

at the close of the reporting year, approximately four years. Nevertheless, the Company will seek to 

optimise the ratio of operating leased and owned aircraft (whether through a loan or other financing 

arrangement), taking into account our financing and operational requirements.

Permanent route  
optimisation



p84 AIR BERLIN ANNUAL REPORT 2007

01) Essentials

02) Airport Arithmetics

03) �Mission & Shares

04) �Directors’ Report			 

Risk Report

05) Corporate Governance 

06) �Financial Statements 

07) Appendix

To ensure sufficient flight capacity during peak periods and in the event that one of our aircraft 

is not operational, wet leases may be entered into. This type of leasing generally entails the short-

term provision of aircraft for up to six months by an operating lessor, together with the flight 

(and often the cabin crew) as well as maintenance and insurance. 

The supply of materials, auxiliary and operating media is governed, to the extent practicable,  

by fixed delivery contracts. This is particularly relevant for on-board catering. Accounting for 

approximately 26% of overall operating expenses, aviation fuel represents by far the most signifi-

cant cost for Air Berlin. Aside from outside risks, such as those matters subject to political influ-

ence, there is the challenge of ensuring a constantly secure fuel supply for the fleet. 

Prices are a different matter. Fuel prices are subject to notoriously wide and difficult to predict 

fluctuations that often enough are only minimally correlated with business developments. Thus, 

in order to improve planning confidence and to reduce the influence of price fluctuations on 

profitability, Air Berlin systematically engages in hedging transactions. In general, some of the 

anticipated future fuel costs are hedged on a revolving basis, i.e. for defined time periods through 

standard financial market instruments such as swaps and options. These are handled through a 

number of renowned financial institutions. The breadth of such hedging must, however, remain 

economically sensible. In accordance with principles of risk coverage, up to 100% of the demand 

is hedged up to three months in the short term, and up to 18 months in advance with falling 

ratios.

Systematic price  
hedging improves  

planning confidence

Air Berlin is optimising 
the ratio of  

operating leased and  
owned aircraft
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The Air Berlin network is one of the densest in the LCC sector. Further increases in market share 

should further improve our opportunities to serve additional destinations, as the third-largest 

European provider. In addition to providing favourable and attractive connections, one of the 

essential criteria when selecting airports is the catchment area, which should have the smallest 

possible overlap with existing catchment areas. Other factors to be considered include adequate 

capacity for further growth, flexibility of operators with respect to Air Berlin’s needs, the  

minimum possible restrictions on flight operations in order to maintain high utilisation, and 

generally favourable cost structures.

Environmental Risks

Air Berlin undertakes all necessary measures to minimise, avoid, and, where possible, eliminate 

environmental impact and the corresponding health and safety risks. A sense of responsibility for 

the environment, health and safety is actively promoted among all our employees and at all lev-

els. The disposal of waste at Air Berlin is, as far as possible, handled in an environment-friendly 

fashion.

The Air Berlin network is 
one of the densest in the 

LCC sector

Ecological awareness is 
promoted at every level
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REPORT ON FORECASTS AND 
THE OUTLOOK FOR THE GROUP

Economic environment

Overall economy

Economic observers, governments and organisations are now united in expecting a considerable 

slowdown of the global economy in 2008. The worldwide crisis of the financial markets triggered 

by the real estate crisis in the USA is beginning to have a considerable impact on the economy. 

In autumn 2007, the USA was already showing signs of a slowdown, which became increas-

ingly apparent in the first few months of 2008. The spending of the government and the interest 

policy of the Federal Reserve have not yet provided an offsetting effect. Instead, recession fears 

are continuing to rise.

Looking at long-term perspectives, the European economy is in good shape. In particular, the 

economy within the euro zone is enjoying the long-term benefits of a strong rise in employment. 

Nevertheless, a significant decline in this year’s growth by 0.4 percentage points to 2.0% in the 

EU and 1.8% in the euro zone, according to the European Commission, may be in line with 

general expectations. The major weakness of the US dollar is limiting the prospects of European 

exporters, and the increased inflationary risks arising from bullish commodity prices give the Eu-

ropean Central Bank very limited scope for interest rate cuts as a countermeasure. Accordingly, 

the performance of the German economy may also weaken. For 2008, the German federal gov-

ernment expects growth to tail off at 1.7% compared to 2.5% in 2007. However, the high growth 

rates of the newly industrialising countries in Asia and Eastern Europe are a positive factor.

Aviation industry

The IATA forecasts regarding the prospects for international aviation are muted. In Decem-

ber 2007, the statistics issued by the organisation on global passenger volume showed a trend 

reversal towards significantly lower growth rates. This expectation was confirmed by the January 

figures. After passenger figures had shown year-on-rises of 9.3% in November 2007 and 6.7% in 

December, the increase in January was much lower at +4.3%. In particular, there were signs of 

stagnation in Europe, with passenger figures rising only marginally by +0.3% in January  

Focus on profitability. After the strong increaes in capacity during 
the previous years all efforts are clearly oriented on profit enhance-
ment in 2008  

First months signal less 
vigorous growth for the 

international airline 
industry in 2008

Uncertainties caused by 
the financial markets 

crisis prevail
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compared with +5.5% in December. Domestic traffic in the USA actually fell, whilst South America 

grew much more strongly and the Pacific Asia region grew only slightly less than in the previous 

month. Overall, the indications for international aviation suggest a slowdown in growth for 2008. 

This is consistent with the traditionally high level of economic sensitivity of the industry.

Forecast for Air Berlin

Business expectations for the current year involve risks and opportunities that largely relate to 

the expected trends in passenger volume and ticket prices as well as the further progression of 

kerosene prices and – a related factor – the performance of the US dollar against the Euro. Air 

Berlin attempts to minimise the fuel price risks and the currency risks with extensive hedging. 

The currency risk is fully hedged and, in 2008 for kerosene prices, the hedging ratio is at 75%, 

which is a comparatively high figure for the industry.

The 2008 business year started on a positive note for Air Berlin. In the first two months, pas-

senger figures posted a double-digit increase of 14.4% from 3,195,258 in the previous year to 

3,655,733 passengers (previous year pro forma, i.e. including LTU, Belair and LGW [Luftfahrt-

gesellschaft Walter] ). However, in view of the somewhat subdued prospects for the air passenger 

volume in 2008 due to the economic situation, Air Berlin expects a mid single-digit percentage 

rise (+3% to +5%) in passengers this year. Against the background of the ongoing intensive  

price competition in the industry, a restrained ticket price development has been factored into 

our forecast. Overall, an increase in consolidated revenue currently is expected, to EUR 3 billion 

in 2008.  

The forecast for the passenger volume should be regarded in context. No additional capacity  

expansion is planned beyond the scheduled ongoing aircraft replacements. Much of the route  

expansion envisaged for 2008 relates to the long haul business, which will include the destina-

tions in China from May onwards. Consequently, the revenue share of the long-haul business  

is set to increase and to exceed the 20% mark this year, after 18% in 2007.

Passenger volume in 
2008 is expected to  
increase by 3 – 5%

Further optimisation 
of capacity and yield 

management
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Our efforts in 2008 will be clearly geared towards improving profitability. The main focus will be 

on optimisation of capacity and yield management built on previous achievements. The figures 

for the first two months give rise to optimism. Fleet utilisation rose strongly by 4 percentage 

points year-on-year from 66.8% to 70.8%, and revenues per available seat kilometre showed an 

acceptable 8.3 % increase in February to 4.71 eurocents compared with the previous year’s figure 

of 4.35 eurocents.

On the cost side, the synergy effects arising from the LTU takeover will largely have an impact 

on other material and service costs and lead to a considerably below-average increase in growth. 

Also, the non-recurring effects of the delayed integration of LTU such as high wet leasing costs, 

which had a significant negative impact in 2007, are not expected again in 2008. In the context 

of the LTU integration, additional revenue-stimulating effects above and beyond the positive  

cost effects from the leveraging of synergies are expected. Despite lasting uncertainties regarding 

the further development of the oil price and the EUR-USD exchange rate Air Berlin expects  

a significant earings increase in the current financial year. 

Synergies from LTU  
integration will sub-

stantially contain cost 
increases 
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projected passenger volume for 2008
(millions of passengers)

 	 2008:

~ 29.0
 2007:

28.2
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auditors

The Directors have considered the appointment of auditors for the following financial year. At the Gen

eral Meeting, the Board will propose the reappointment of KPMG Audit Plc as auditors of the Group.

Directors’ statement as to disclosure of information to auditors

The directors who are members of the Board at the time of approving the Directors’ Report are listed 

on pages 6 and 7. Having made enquiries of fellow directors and of the Company’s auditor, each of 

these directors confirms that:

 � To the best of each director’s knowledge and belief, there is no information relevant to the 

preparation of their report of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and

 � Each director has taken all the steps a director could be reasonably expected to have taken to 

be aware of relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of 

that information.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

28 March 2008

Joachim Hunold
Chief Executive Officer

Ulf Hüttmeyer
Chief Financial Officer
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The Company is committed to good corporate governance, business integrity and ethical 

values. The Company conducts its affairs in the manner set forth herein. 

The Board comprises five Non-Executive Directors (including the Chairman) and four  

Executive Directors. There were no changes in the Company’s directors during the 2007 business 

year. The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board, ensuring the effectiveness of the 

Board in all aspects, including communication with shareholders, setting the Board’s agenda 

and encouraging all members of the Board to participate fully in the activities and discussions 

of the Board. 

The Non-Executive Directors provide a wealth of experience and skills and are key to the for-

mulation and development of the Company’s strategy. The Board is satisfied that the Chairman 

and each of the Non-Executive Directors committed sufficient time during 2007 to fulfilling 

their duties as members of the Board. The Chairman’s main external commitments did not 

change during the year. 

The Company has established Audit, Nominations and Remuneration Committees each  

governed by its own terms of reference.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises Hans-Joachim Körber (as Chairman of the commit-

tee), Claus Wülfers and Johannes Zurnieden, all of whom are independent, Non-Executive  

directors. A representative of the Company’s external auditors and the Chief Financial Officer 

attend the meetings of the Audit Committee. 

The Audit Committee met twice during the year. Its role is to assist the Board with the discharge 

of its responsibilities in relation to internal and external audits and controls. This includes 

reviewing the Company’s annual financial statements, considering the scope of the annual audit, 

advising on the appointment of external auditors and reviewing the effectiveness of the internal 

control systems in place. The Audit Committee periodically reviews the scope of the non-audit 

work undertaken and the associated fees to ensure that the auditors’ impartiality is not or may 

become impaired. The Audit Committee also makes recommendations to the Board regarding 

the reappointment or the removal of external auditors, their terms of engagement and the level of 

their remuneration. 

Corporate Governance Report
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Nominations Committee

The Nominations Committee currently comprises Johannes Zurnieden (as Chairman of the com-

mittee), Joachim Hunold, Hans-Joachim Körber, Nicolas Teller and Claus Wülfers, the majority 

of whom are independent Non-Executive Directors. The Committee is primarily responsible for 

assisting the Board in determining the composition, makeup and balance of the Board. It also is 

responsible for periodically reviewing the Board’s structure and identifying potential candidates 

to be appointed as Directors, as the need may arise. The Committee will determine the succes-

sion plans for the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer. The Committee meets as required, 

but no less than once per year. 

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises Hans-Joachim Körber (as Chairman of the 

committee), Nicolas Teller and Johannes Zurnieden, all of whom are independent, Non-Execu-

tive Directors. The Remuneration Committee has responsibility for making recommendations to 

the Board on the compensation for the Executive Directors and making recommendations on the 

compensation of senior management. The Committee meets as required, but no less than once 

per year. The remuneration report on pages 96 –103 provides further details of the remuneration 

policies of the Company. 

Directors are expected, wherever possible, to attend all Board meetings, relevant committee 

meetings and the Annual General Meeting. All members of the Board are provided in advance 

with appropriate information covering matters which are to be considered. A table detailing the 

individual Directors’ attendance at each of the Board and Committee meetings held in 2007 is 

set out below:
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				    		 Audit		 Nomination		 Remuneration		
				    Board		 Committee		 Committee		 Committee		

Meetings held	 7		 2	 	 1 	 1 	

		   

Meetings attended					    			   

Johannes Zurnieden (Chairman)	 7		 2		 1		 1

Joachim Hunold (Chief Executive Officer)	 7		 —		 1		 —

Ulf Hüttmeyer (Chief Financial Officer)	 7		 —		 —		 —

Karl Friedrich Lotz (Chief Operating Officer)	 7		 —		 —		 —

Elke Schütt (Chief Commercial Officer)	 7		 —		 —		 —

Dr Eckhard Cordes (Non-Executive Director)	 6		 1		 —		 —

Dr Hans-Joachim Körber (Non-Executive Director)	 7		 1		 1		 1

Nicholas Teller (Non-Executive Director)	 6		 —		 1		 1		

Claus Wülfers (Non-Executive Director)	 7		 2		 1		 —

The Board has delegated to the Executive Directors responsibility for the development and recom-

mendation of strategic plans for consideration by the Board that reflect the longer-term objectives 

and priorities already established by the Board, the implementation of the strategies and policies 

of the Company as determined by the Board, the monitoring of operational and financial re-

sults against plans and budgets, the monitoring of the quality of the investment process against 

specified objectives, the prioritisation of the allocation of capital, technical and human resources 

and the development and implementation of risk management. 

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, who is responsible 

to the Chairman for ensuring that Board procedures are complied with and that applicable rules 

and regulations are followed. The Company Secretary is responsible for advising and support-

ing the Chairman and the Board on corporate governance matters. The Company Secretary is 

Michelle Johnson, who was appointed to that position on 21 February 2007. Furthermore, Direc-

tors, at the expense of the Company, have access to appropriate independent professional advice 

if necessary to perform of their duties. The Company maintains directors’ and officers’ liability 

insurance at an appropriate level. 



p94 AIR BERLIN ANNUAL REPORT 2007

Shareholder Relations

The Annual General Meeting (AGM) gives all shareholders the opportunity to communicate  

directly with the Board, including the chairmen of the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration  

Committees. At the AGM the number of proxy votes cast on each resolution will be made  

available, both at the meeting and, subsequently, on the Company’s website. Each substantially 

separate issue is presented as a separate resolution.

Hans-Joachim Körber has been appointed the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director and 

is available to shareholders in the event that contact through the normal channels of Chairman, 

Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer is inappropriate or has been unsuccessful. 

The Company also communicates regularly with its major institutional shareholders and  

ensures that all Directors have an understanding of the views and concerns of major shareholders. 

A separate investor relations department facilitates engagement. 

Internal Controls and Board Performance

The overall responsibility of the Company’s internal controls and effectiveness rests with the 

Directors. Internal control procedures are only designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk 

of failure to achieve business objectives and by their nature can only provide reasonable, but not 

absolute assurance, against material misstatement or loss. 

The responsibility for establishing such control procedures and the day to day management is 

delegated to the Chief Executive, with certain powers delegated to the responsible department 

heads. The authority given is subject to defined limitations and reporting requirements.

The Company has developed an ongoing process for the effective identification and management 

of risks where potential risks are identified, monitored and reported by key areas of the Company.  

Detailed reports are provided to management, which considers regularly, and on an ad hoc basis, 

individual department and business performance. Significant risks are addressed by the Board as 

a whole.
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Policies and procedures are subject to ongoing review and updated as required to ensure that 

they are properly and consistently applied in relation to significant risks, investment decisions 

and management issues. 

The Company continues to review the effectiveness of its internal controls, including operational 

and compliance controls as well as risk management. The Company is of the opinion that its 

current management structure continues to provide effective controls and procedures and has 

determined that an internal audit department is not warranted at this time. 

The chairman regularly reviews the performance of the board, with an emphasis on both the 

non-executive and the executive directors contributing to the board’s discussion and decision-

making process.

Compliance with the Combined Code

As the Company is not listed in the U.K., it is not, as a matter of law, required to comply with  

the corporate governance standards set forth in the Combined Code, nor is it required to comply  

with German corporate governance standards. The Company has not complied with certain pro-

visions of the combined Code that are not required by German corporate governance standards 

and are not customary in the German market. In particular, the Executive Directors have service 

contracts with notice periods of greater than one year, their compensation for termination of 

employment for cause is not reduced to reflect a duty to mitigate loss and the Directors will only 

be subject to re-election at five year intervals. The Company is of the view that more stringent 

requirements would place the Company at a disadvantage in the recruitment and retention of 

senior executives. 

Going Concern

After making inquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has ade

quate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, 

they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts. 



p96 AIR BERLIN ANNUAL REPORT 2007

Information not Subject to Audit

Membership and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent directors and determines on behalf 

of the Board the overall remuneration packages for the Executive Directors, the Company’s 

Chairman and the Company Secretary in accordance with the remuneration policy, including 

any bonuses, pension rights (where appropriate) and share based compensation payments as 

described below. 

The Committee remains responsible for: 

 � determining and reviewing the ongoing appropriateness and relevance of the Company’s 

remuneration policy

 � setting and monitoring performance criteria for any bonus arrangements provided by the 

Company

 � approving the length and term of the service contracts for the Chairman, the Executive  

Directors, the Company Secretary and senior executives and

 � ensuring that the Board maintains contact with its principal shareholders with respect to  

its remuneration policy.

The Remuneration Committee has the ability to obtain independent advice with respect to the 

establishment of the appropriate executive compensation. The Committee determined that such 

external advice was not necessary when determining the level of compensation for the year 2007.

Remuneration policy

The objective of the Remuneration Committee is to reward the Company’s Executive Directors 

appropriately, having regard to the comparative market place, and to encourage and reward  

successful performance. Accordingly, the Company’s policy is to provide a compensation pack-

age which reflects the level of responsibility, the respective contribution to the Company and the 

competitive environment. The compensation package consists of a basic salary, a variable bonus 

scheme, benefits in kind and participation in the Employee Share Plan. 

Directors’ Remuneration Report
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The base salaries of the Executive Directors for 2007 are: 

Director	 Fixed remuneration per annum (EUR	)	

Joachim Hunold	 1,000,000		

Ulf Hüttmeyer	 450,000		

Elke Schütt	 275,000		

Karl Friedrich Lotz	 275,000		

The Remuneration Committee determines, on an annual basis, the payment of any bonus com-

pensation and, in deciding to award any such bonus, takes into consideration the consolidated 

EBITDAR of the Company and whether established benchmarks of the business plan have been 

reached.

Service contracts

Each of the Executive Directors has a fixed term service agreement as set out below. 

 

Director			  Date of agreement		 Date of agreement	

Joachim Hunold			 2 December 2005		 1 December 2010		

Ulf Hüttmeyer			 1 February 2006		 1 December 2010		

Elke Schütt			 2 December 2005		 1 December 2010		

Karl Friedrich Lotz			 2 December 2005		 1 December 2010		

Prior to December 2010, the Executive Directors may be removed by the Company for cause 

only. Any Executive Director removed from office prior to the expiry of his service agreement is 

entitled to remuneration for the remainder of the term. Each Executive Director is, in considera-

tion for an undertaking not to compete for one year following termination or expiry of his service 

agreement, entitled to receive his fixed remuneration for that year. 
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Additional benefits

In 2006, the Executive Directors received shares in connection with the Company’s Employee 

Share Plan. No further awards were made in 2007. 

Executive Directors are entitled to pension benefits in an amount which may be up to, but can 

not exceed 50 % of their respective base salary. The accumulated pension rights as of 31 Decem-

ber 2007 are set forth on page 100.

The Company provides each Executive Director with a company telephone, car and telecommu-

nications equipment. Each of the Executive Directors is entitled to reduced or free air transporta-

tion on flights operated by the Company. Directors’ and Officers’ insurance and accident insur-

ance, at appropriate levels, are afforded each Executive Director.

Remuneration policy for 2008

The foregoing policy will continue to be applied in determining the Executive Directors’ compen-

sation package, including the variable component. 

Non-Executive Directors

The Chairman and the Executive Directors determine the non-Executive Director remuneration. 

No director is involved in determining his own level of compensation. In accordance with the 

Articles of Association, the compensation afforded the Non-Executive Directors can not, in the 

aggregate, exceed EUR 750,000.
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Performance graph

The following graph shows the Company’s share development against the SDAX and Bloomberg 

European Airlines Index. The SDAX was selected for comparative purposes because it is broad 

equity index of which the Company is a constituent. The Bloomberg European Airlines index 

was chosen inasmuch as it comprises companies operating in a comparable sector as the Company. 

Relative performance Air Berlin vs. SDAX Price Index  

and Bloomberg European Airlines Index (based on Air Berlin)
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Information Subject to Audit

Directors’ remuneration 

The directors’ remuneration during the period was:

In 2007 the Company entered into a defined benefit pension plan for its Executive Directors. The 

pension entitlements of the directors were:

	 		  							    Increase In		

			   			  Accumulated				  accumulated		

			   			 annual accrued				 annual accrued		

			   			  benefits at 31				 benefits during		

in thousands of euros			 December 2007			  the year		

Joachim Hunold			  94				  94		

Ulf Hüttmeyer			  42				  42		

Karl Friedrich Lotz			  26				  26		

Elke Schütt			  26				  26	

in thousands of euros

Executive Directors:						  

  Joachim Hunold	 1,000		 24		 900		 68		 1,992		 1,749		

  Ulf Hüttmeyer 	 450		 24		 405		 68		 947		 843		

  Karl Friedrich Lotz	 275		 20		 247.5		 68		 610.5		 621		

  Elke Schütt	 275		 16		 247.5		 68		 606.5		 618		

Non-Executive Directors:						  

  Dr. Eckhard Cordes	 89		 0		 0		 0		 89		 50		

  Dr. Hans-Joachim Körber	 89		 0		 0		 0		 89		 50		

  Nicholas Teller	 60		 0		 0		 0		 60		 38		

  Claus Wülfers	 60		 0		 0		 0		 60		 38		

  Johannes Zurnieden	 179		 0		 0		 0		 179		 100		

Aggregate emoluments	 2,477		 84		 1,800		 272		 4,633		 4,107		

Basic
salary

and fees
Taxable
benefits

Cash
bonuses

Value of
share

awards
Total
 2007

Total
 2006

Performance-related
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The transfer value of directors’ accrued benefits, which represents a liability to the Company 

rather than an amount paid or due to the individual, is as follows:

				    				  Directors’		 Movement,		

				    Transfer value		 Transfer value		 contributions		 less directors’		

in thousands of euros	 at 31 Dec 2007		 at 31 Dec 2006		 during the year		 contributions		

Joachim Hunold	 1.379		 0		 0		 1.379

Ulf Hüttmeyer	 77		 0		 0		 77

Karl Friedrich Lotz	 723		 0		 0		 723

Elke Schütt	 334		 0		 0		 334		

				    2.513		 0		 0		 2.513		

Directors’ interests in shares

The beneficial interests of the directors and their families in the share capital of the Company are 

as follows:

	 Air Berlin PLC / ordinary shares

						     31 Dec 2007				  31 Dec 2006		

Executive directors

  Joachim Hunold			  2,100,004				  2,000,004		

  Ulf Hüttmeyer			  30,000				  30,000		

  Karl Friedrich Lotz			  30,000				  30,000		

  Elke Schütt			  30,000				  30,000		

Included in these figures are 30,000 shares per director related to the Employee Share Plan 

discussed below. In addition, Joachim Hunold has a beneficial interest in 2,500 A Shares, which 

are non-voting and have limited rights. The Chairman of the Board, Johannes Zurnieden, holds 

1,000,268 ordinary shares in the company as at 31 December 2007.



Directors’ share awards

The number of shares held by the directors at year end under the Employee Share Plan was as 

follows:

Employee Share Plan 2006 — Tranche 1						  

  Joachim Hunold					   10,000		 0		 10,000		 31 Dec. 2008		

  Ulf Hüttmeyer 					   10,000		 0		 10,000		 31 Dec. 2008		

  Karl Friedrich Lotz					   10,000		 0		 10,000		 31 Dec. 2008		

  Elke Schütt					   10,000		 0		 10,000		 31 Dec. 2008		

Employee Share Plan 2006 — Tranche 2						  

  Joachim Hunold					   10,000		 0		 10,000		 31 Dec. 2009		

  Ulf Hüttmeyer 					   10,000		 0		 10,000		 31 Dec. 2009		

  Karl Friedrich Lotz					   10,000		 0		 10,000		 31 Dec. 2009		

  Elke Schütt					   10,000		 0		 10,000		 31 Dec. 2009		

Employee Share Plan 2006 — Tranche 3						  

  Joachim Hunold					   10,000		 0		 10,000		 31 Dec. 2010		

  Ulf Hüttmeyer 					   10,000		 0		 10,000		 31 Dec. 2010		

  Karl Friedrich Lotz					   10,000		 0		 10,000		 31 Dec. 2010		

  Elke Schütt					   10,000		 0		 10,000		 31 Dec. 2010		

Number of 

shares as at 1 

January 2006

Number of 

shares award

ed during  

the period

Number of 

shares as at 

31 December 

2006

Exercisable from, 

subject to perform

ance criteria over 

the three-year period 

ending
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Under the terms of the Employee Share Plan 2006, the directors hold legal title to the shares but 

will only be able to acquire the beneficial interest to the shares if certain performance conditions 

are met. 50 % of the shares granted under each of the tranches are subject to a performance  

condition based on return on equity achieved by the Company and 50 % of the shares granted 

under each of the tranches are subject to performance conditions based on the percentage in-

crease in the Company’s share price over a three-year period as follows:

Tranche and three-year performance period		 Threshhold, return-on- 			  Treshhold, share		
(ending 31 December)			   equity element			 price growth element	

Tranche 1: 2008			   13 %				  35 %		

Tranche 2: 2009			   14 %				  38 %		

Tranche 3: 2010			   15 %				  40 %		

The right to acquire the beneficial interest in the shares is exercisable during a two week period 

following notification by the Company of fulfilment of the performance criteria. The exercise 

price is 0.25 euros per share, the nominal value of the shares. 

Non of the non-executive directors are entitled to share options. No options were exercised or 

lapsed during the period. A detailed description of the Employee Share Plan is also provided in 

the Notes to the financial statements, see pages 136 to 137.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf.

28 March 2008

Joachim Hunold
Chief Executive Officer

Ulf Hüttmeyer
Chief Financial Officer
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Statement of directors’ 
responsibilities in respect of 
the directors’ report and the 
financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in 

accordance with applicable law and regulations.  

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and parent company financial statements 

for each financial year. Under that law they have elected to prepare both the group and the parent 

company financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and applicable 

laws.  

The group and parent company financial statements are required by law and IFRSs as adopted 

by the EU to present fairly the financial position of the group and the parent company and the 

performance for that period; the Companies Act 1985 provides in relation to such financial  

statements that references in the relevant part of that Act to financial statements giving a true 

and fair view are references to their achieving a fair presentation.  

In preparing each of the group and parent company financial statements, the directors are  

required to:  

 � select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;    

 � make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;   

 � state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU; and    

 � prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to  

presume that the group and the parent company will continue in business.     

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable 

accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent company and enable them to ensure that 

its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They have a general responsibility 

for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the group and to 

prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.  

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial  

information included on the company’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation 

and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
THE MEMBERS OF AIR BERLIN PLC

We have audited the group and parent company financial statements (the “financial statements”) 

of Air Berlin Plc for the year ended 31 December 2007 which comprise Consolidated Statement 

of Income, the Consolidated and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated and Parent 

Statement of Cash Flows, the Consolidated and Parent Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ 

Equity and the related notes. These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting 

policies set out therein. We have also audited the information in the Directors’ Remuneration 

Report that is described as having been audited.  

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 

of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 

Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and 

for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume respon-

sibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit 

work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.  

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the director’s remuneration 

report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Financial  

Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU are set out in the Statement of Directors’ 

Responsibilities on page 104. Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part 

of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in accordance with relevant legal and regula-

tory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).  

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view 

and whether the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be 

audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards 

the group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also report to you whether 

in our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report and Business Review is consistent 

with the financial statements. In addition, we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has 

not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations 

we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration  

and other transactions is not disclosed. 
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We read the other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is  

consistent with the audited financial statements. We consider the implications for our report if 

we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial 

statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.  

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and  

Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, 

of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the part of 

the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the signifi-

cant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the financial state-

ments, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and Company’s 

circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.  

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which 

we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assur-

ance that the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be au-

dited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error.  

In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information 

in the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited.  
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Opinion

In our opinion:

 � the group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted 

by the EU, of the state of the group’s affairs as at 31 December 2007 and of its profit for the 

year then ended;  

 � the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS as 

adopted by the EU as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985 of 

the state of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 December 2007.

 � the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited 

have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985  and, as regards the 

group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and  

 � the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.  

KPMG Audit Plc

Chartered Accountants, Registered Auditor  

2 Cornwall Street 

Birmingham B3 2DL

Great Britain 

28 March 2008
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Air Berlin PLC
Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2007

											      (restated	)
							    Note		 2007		 2006

									     € 000		 € 000

Revenue							    20		 2,536,500		 1,575,395

					 

Other operating income							    21		 14,575		 30,867

Expenses for materials and services							    22		  (1,736,435	)	  (1,094,501	)

Personnel expenses							    23		  (311,802	)	  (163,293	)

Depreciation and amortisation							    6, 7		  (93,772	)	  (64,232	)

Other operating expenses							    24		  (387,647	)	  (220,088	)

Operating expenses									      (2,529,656	)	  (1,542,114	)

Result from operating activities 									      21,419 	  64,148

Financial expenses							    25		  (49,624	)	 (41,917	)

Financial income							    25		 13,851		 7,389

Foreign exchange gains, net							    25		 225		 14,857

Net financing costs									      (35,548	)	 (19,671	)

Share of profit of associates, net of tax							    26		 791		 608

(Loss) profit before tax									      (13,338	) 	 45,085

Income tax benefit (expense)							    27		 34,315		  (5,009	)

Profit for the year — all attributable to equity holders of the Company					   20,977		 40,076

Basic earnings per share in €							    12		  0,33 	  0,76 

Diluted earnings per share in €							    12		  0,33 	  0,76  

Details of the restatement are given in note 27, “Income tax expenses and deferred taxes”.
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06) �Financial Statements

Air Berlin PLC
Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2007 

											      (restated	)
							    Note		 31.12.2007		 31.12.2006

									     € 000		 € 000Assets

  Non current assets

    Intangible assets							    6, 5		 339,220		 95,791

    Property, plant and equipment							    7		 1,201,214		 936,894

    Trade and other receivables, non-current							    10		 100,963		 42,615

    Positive market value of derivatives, non-current					   29		 2,077		 2,801

    Investments in associates							    8		 935		 720

    Non current assets									     1,644,409		 1,078,821

  Current assets

    Inventories							    9		 30,825		 11,914

    Trade and other receivables, current							    10		 260,199		 165,671

    Positive market value of derivatives, current							    29		 84,362		 1,415

    Prepaid expenses									     30,751		 14,116

    Cash and cash equivalents								    	 468,658		 315,921

    Current assets									     874,795		 509,037

Total assets									     2,519,204		 1,587,858

Equity and liabilities
 S hareholders’ equity

    Share capital							    11		 16,502		 15,009

    Share premium							    11		 307,501		 214,190

    Equity component of convertible bond							    16		 27,431		 0

    Other capital reserves							    11		 217,056		 217,056

    Retained earnings									     31,889		 10,522

    Hedge accounting reserve, net of tax							    30		 (6,639	) 	 (18,930	)

    Foreign currency translation reserve							    11		 (201	)	 (22	)

    Equity available to the shareholders of the Company	 					  	 593,539		 437,825

  Minority Interest		 							    629		 0

  Total equity		 						   	 594,168		 437,825

  Non-current liabilities

    Deferred tax liabilities							    27		 16,103		 48,955

    Liabilities due to bank from assignment of future lease payments			  16		 528,907		 495,414

    Interest-bearing liabilities							    16		 316,148		 28,780

    Pension liabilities							    14		 1,205		 0

    Non-current provisions							    15		 11,036		 0

    Trade and other payables, non-current							    18		 26,164		 0

    Negative market value of derivatives, non-current					   29		 81,610		 18,668

    Non-current liabilities		 						   	 981,173		 591,817

  Current liabilities

    Liabilities due to bank from assignment of future lease payments			  16		 62,935		 63,067

    Interest-bearing liabilities							    16		 122,402		 97,997

    Current tax liabilities									     5,611		 3,510

    Provisions 							    15		 13,350		 7

    Trade and other payables, current							    18		 442,289		 179,384

    Negative market value of derivatives, current							   29		 81,960		 32,534

    Deferred income									     48,079		 15,626

    Advanced payments received							    19		 167,237		 166,091

    Current liabilities									     943,863		 558,216

Total equity and liabilities									     2,519,204		 1,587,858

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 28 March 2008 and signed on behalf of the Board:

Joachim Hunold
Chief Executive Officer

Ulf Hüttmeyer
Chief Financial Officer
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Air Berlin PLC
Consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 31 December 2007

											      (restated	)
							    Note		 31.12.2007		 31.12.2006

									     € 000		 € 000

Profit for the year									     20,977		 40,076

Adjustments to reconcile profit or loss to cash flows from operating activities:

  Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets					   6, 7		 93,772		 64,232

  Impairment losses							    8		 0		 12

  Gain on disposal of tangible and intangible assets					   21, 24		  (1,765	)	  (21,407)

  Loss on disposal of short term investment securities							    0		 11

  Expenses associated with IPO							    11, 25		 0		 13,667

  Share based payments							    13		 390		 270

  Decrease (Increase) in inventories									     1,380		  (5,652	)

  Increase in trade receivables									      (20,040	)	  (15,066	)

  Decrease in other assets and prepaid expenses									     1,679		 21,291

  Deferred tax (benefit) expense							    27		 (38,119	)	   1,862 

  Increase in accrued liabilities and provisions									      18,246 	 3,672

  Decrease in trade accounts payable									      (7,419	)	  (6,371	)

  Increase in other current liabilities 									     4,440		 14,594

  Foreign exchange gains							    25		  (225	)	  (15,267	)

  Interest expense							    25		 49,464		 29,135

  Interest income							    25		  (13,851	)	  (7,389	)

  Income tax expense							    27		 3,804		 3,147

  Share of profit of associates							    8, 26		  (791	)	  (608	)

  Changes in fair value of derivatives							    30		 540		 11,703

  Other non-cash changes									       (179)		 104

  Cash generated from operations									     112,303		 132,016

  Interest paid									       (38,244)	 	 (27,989	)

  Interest received									     13,422		 7,198

  Income taxes paid									      (2,364	)	  (1,619	)

  Net cash flows from operating activities									     85,117		 109,606

Purchases of tangible and intangible assets									      (269,377	)	  (327,180	)

Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash							    5		  (39,749	)	  (83,510	)

Advanced payments for non-current items							    10		  (95,642	)	  (48,846	)

Proceeds from sale of tangible and intangible assets							    184,731		 45,395

Advanced receipts for sale of tangible assets, repaid in 2007					   19		 (40,000	)	 40,000

Proceeds from sale of short-term investment securities						   	 0		 114

Dividends received from associates							    8		 527		 500

Payment received on liquidation of associate							    8		 49		 61

Acquisition of investments in associates							    8		 0		  (31	)

  Cash flow from investing activities									      (259,461	)	 (373,497	)

Principal payments on interest-bearing liabilities									       (356,878	)	 (144,313)

Proceeds from long-term borrowings									     470,652		 252,213

Purchase of treasury shares									     0		  (45	)

Issue of ordinary shares							    11		 97,978		 234,786

Transaction costs related to issue of new shares							    11		 (5,195	)	 (39,297	)

Issue of convertible bonds							    16		 220,000		 0

Transaction costs related to convertible bonds							    16		  (6,391	)	 0

  Cash flow from financing activities									     420,166		 303,344

  Change in cash and cash equivalents									     245,822		 39,453

  Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period							    228,094		 189,051

  Foreign exchange losses on cash balances								    	 (5,366	)	  (410	)

  Cash and cash equivalents at end of period							    28		 468,550		 228,094
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Air Berlin PLC
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

						    Equity								    Foreign				  Equity
						    component		 Other				  Hedge		 Currency				  available to the
		  Share		 Share		 of convertible		 capital		 Retained		 Accounting,		 translation		 Fair value		 shareholders of		 Minority		 Total
	 Note	 capital		 premium		 bond		 reserves		 earnings		 net of tax		 differences		 reserve		 the Company		 interest		 equity

	 	 € 000		 € 000		 € 000		 € 000		 € 000		 € 000		 € 000		 € 000		 € 000		 € 000		 € 000

Balances at 31 December 2005		  10,073		 0		 0		 217,056		 (29,779	)	 0		 0		  (127	)	 197,223		 0		 197,223

  Share based payment	 									     270								    270				  270	

  Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax	 											       (18,930	)					    (18,930	)			   (18,930	)

  Net currency translation differences	 													        (22	)			   (22	)			   (22	)

  Net unrealised changes in available-for-sale 	 																					         

    securities, net of tax	 															        127		  127 			  127

  Net loss recognised directly in equity	 	 0		 0		 0		 0		  270 	  (18,930	)	 (22	)	 127		  (18,555	)	 0		  (18,555	)

  Profit for the year as previously reported	 									     50,057								    50,057 			  50,057

  Total recognised income and expense for the period as previously reported	 0		 0		 0		 0		   50,327  	  (18,930	)	 (22	)	 127		  31,502  	 0		 31,502

  Prior year adjustment	 									     (9,981	)							    (9,981	) 			  (9,981	)

 T otal recognised income and expense for the period as restated	 	 0		 0		 0		 0		 40,346		 (18,930	)	 (22	)	 127		 21,521 	 0		 21,521

 

  Purchase of treasury shares	 									      (45)								    (45	)			   (45	)

  Issue of ordinary shares	 	 4,936		 229,850														       234,786				  234,786

  Transaction cost, net of tax	 			   (15,660	)													        (15,660	)			   (15,660	)

Balances at 31 December 2006 (restated)		  15,009		 214,190		 0		 217,056		  10,522  	  (18,930	)	 (22	)	 0		 437,825		 0		 437,825

  Share based payment	 13									     390								    390				  390

  Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax	 30											       (32,710	) 					   (32,710	)			  (32,710	)

  Change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to profit or loss, 

  net of tax	 30											       45,813 					   45,813				  45,813

  Effect of change in tax rate on cash flow hedges	 30											       (812	) 					   (812	)			  (812	)

  Net currency translation differences	 11													       (179	)			   (179	)			   (179	)

  Net income recognised directly in equity	 	 0		 0		 0		 0		 390		  12,291 	 (179	)	 0		 12,502		 0		 12,502

  Profit for the year	 									     20,977								    20,977				  20,977

  Total recognised income and expense for the period	 	 0		 0		 0		 0		 21,367		 12,291		 (179	)	 0		 33,479		 0		 33,479

  Increase in minority interest due to acquisition	 5																	         0		 629		 629

  Issue of ordinary shares	 11	 1,493		 96,485														       97,978				  97,978

  Transaction cost, net of tax	 11			   (3,174	)													        (3,174	)			   (3,174	)

  Issue of convertible bond	 16					   25,130												      25,130				  25,130

  Transaction cost, net of tax	 16			   	 (730	)											       (730	)			   (730	)

  Effect of change in tax rate	 					   3,031												       3,031				  3,031

Balances at 31 December 2007		  16,502		 307,501		 27,431		 217,056		 31,889		  (6,639	)	  (201	)	 0		 593,539		 629		 594,168
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Air Berlin PLC
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

						    Equity								    Foreign				  Equity
						    component		 Other				  Hedge		 Currency				  available to the
		  Share		 Share		 of convertible		 capital		 Retained		 Accounting,		 translation		 Fair value		 shareholders of		 Minority		 Total
	 Note	 capital		 premium		 bond		 reserves		 earnings		 net of tax		 differences		 reserve		 the Company		 interest		 equity

	 	 € 000		 € 000		 € 000		 € 000		 € 000		 € 000		 € 000		 € 000		 € 000		 € 000		 € 000

Balances at 31 December 2005		  10,073		 0		 0		 217,056		 (29,779	)	 0		 0		  (127	)	 197,223		 0		 197,223

  Share based payment	 									     270								    270				  270	

  Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax	 											       (18,930	)					    (18,930	)			   (18,930	)

  Net currency translation differences	 													        (22	)			   (22	)			   (22	)

  Net unrealised changes in available-for-sale 	 																					         

    securities, net of tax	 															        127		  127 			  127

  Net loss recognised directly in equity	 	 0		 0		 0		 0		  270 	  (18,930	)	 (22	)	 127		  (18,555	)	 0		  (18,555	)

  Profit for the year as previously reported	 									     50,057								    50,057 			  50,057

  Total recognised income and expense for the period as previously reported	 0		 0		 0		 0		   50,327  	  (18,930	)	 (22	)	 127		  31,502  	 0		 31,502

  Prior year adjustment	 									     (9,981	)							    (9,981	) 			  (9,981	)

 T otal recognised income and expense for the period as restated	 	 0		 0		 0		 0		 40,346		 (18,930	)	 (22	)	 127		 21,521 	 0		 21,521

 

  Purchase of treasury shares	 									      (45)								    (45	)			   (45	)

  Issue of ordinary shares	 	 4,936		 229,850														       234,786				  234,786

  Transaction cost, net of tax	 			   (15,660	)													        (15,660	)			   (15,660	)

Balances at 31 December 2006 (restated)		  15,009		 214,190		 0		 217,056		  10,522  	  (18,930	)	 (22	)	 0		 437,825		 0		 437,825

  Share based payment	 13									     390								    390				  390

  Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax	 30											       (32,710	) 					   (32,710	)			  (32,710	)

  Change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to profit or loss, 

  net of tax	 30											       45,813 					   45,813				  45,813

  Effect of change in tax rate on cash flow hedges	 30											       (812	) 					   (812	)			  (812	)

  Net currency translation differences	 11													       (179	)			   (179	)			   (179	)

  Net income recognised directly in equity	 	 0		 0		 0		 0		 390		  12,291 	 (179	)	 0		 12,502		 0		 12,502

  Profit for the year	 									     20,977								    20,977				  20,977

  Total recognised income and expense for the period	 	 0		 0		 0		 0		 21,367		 12,291		 (179	)	 0		 33,479		 0		 33,479

  Increase in minority interest due to acquisition	 5																	         0		 629		 629

  Issue of ordinary shares	 11	 1,493		 96,485														       97,978				  97,978

  Transaction cost, net of tax	 11			   (3,174	)													        (3,174	)			   (3,174	)

  Issue of convertible bond	 16					   25,130												      25,130				  25,130

  Transaction cost, net of tax	 16			   	 (730	)											       (730	)			   (730	)

  Effect of change in tax rate	 					   3,031												       3,031				  3,031

Balances at 31 December 2007		  16,502		 307,501		 27,431		 217,056		 31,889		  (6,639	)	  (201	)	 0		 593,539		 629		 594,168
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Air Berlin PLC
Company Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2007 

							    Note		 31.12.2007		 31.12.2006		

									     € 000		 € 000		

Assets

  Non current assets

    Investments in subsidiaries							    34b		 143,315		 140,165

    Deferred tax assets							    34c		 17,435		 15,888

    Positive market value of derivatives, non-current					   34k		 182		 0

    Long-term loans to subsidiaries							    34d		 155,000		 0

    Other long-term loans							    34d		 3,500		 0

    Non current assets									     319,432		 156,053

  Current assets

    Receivables from subsidiaries							    34e		 123,401		 686

    Positive market value of derivatives, current							    34k		 242		 0

    Other receivables, current							    34e		 954		 280

    Prepaid expenses									     2,033		 310

    Cash and cash equivalents									     175,232		 65,643

    Current assets									     301,862		 66,919

Total assets									     621,294		 222,972

Equity and liabilities

 S hareholders’ equity

    Share capital							    34f		 16,502		 15,009

    Share premium							    34f		 307,501		 214,190

    Equity component of convertible bond									     27,431		 0

    Retained earnings									     (34,134	)	 (9,346	)

    Total equity		 							    317,300		 219,853

  Non-current liabilities

    Pension liabilities							    34g		 587		 0

    Other non-current liabilities to subsidiaries							    34h		 184,007		 0

    Negative market value of derivates, non-current					   34k		 9,463		 0

    Non-current liabilities									     194,057		 0

  Current liabilities

    Interest-bearing liabilities							    34j		 100,000		 0

    Accrued liabilities							    34i		 208		 125

    Payables to subsidiaries									     104		 452

    Trade and other payables, current									     104		 392

    Negative market value of derivatives, current							   34k		 7,369		 0

    Other current liabilities									     2,133		 2,150

    Deferred income									     19		 0

    Current liabilities									     109,937		 3,119

Totel equity and liabilities									     621,294		 222,972

Joachim Hunold
Chief Executive Officer

Ulf Hüttmeyer
Chief Financial Officer

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 28 March 2008 and signed on behalf of the Board:
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Air Berlin PLC
Company Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 31 December 2007

							    Note		 31.12.2007		 31.12.2006

									     € 000		 € 000

Loss for the period									      (25,178	)	 (9,571	)

Adjustments to reconcile profit or loss to cash flows from operating activities:

  Expenses associated with IPO							    11, 25		 0		 13,667

  Share based payments							    13		 390		 270

  Increase in receivables from subsidiaries									      (27,930	)	  (686	)

  Increase in other receivables and prepaid expenses			   			  (2,011	)	  (590	)

  Deferred tax credit							    34c		  (12,029	)	  (5,918	)

  Increase in accrued liabilities and provisions									     83		 125

  Increase (decrease) in trade payables			   					   (288	)	 392

  Increase (decrease) in payables to subsidiaries									     (107	)	 452

  Increase in pension liabilities							    34g		 587		 0

  Increase (decrease) in other payables and deferred income							    2		 2,150

  Movement in derivatives taken through income statement							    16,408		 0

  Interest expense									     8,332		 0

  Interest income									      (6,251	)	  (2,490	)

  Cash generated from operations									      (47,992	)	  (2,199	)

  Interest received									     5,865		  2,490

  Income tax paid									     (241	)	 0

  Net cash flows from operating activities	 								     (42,368	)	 291

Acquisition of investments in subsidiaries							    34b		  (3,150	)	  (140,165	)	

Long-term loans to subsidiaries							    34d		  (155,000	)	 0

Short-term loans to subsidiaries									      (94,785	)	 0

Other loans							    34d		  (3,500)		 0

  Cash flow used in investing activities	 								     (256,435	)	 (140,165	)

Proceeds from long-term borrowings							    34h		 2,000		 0

Proceeds from short-term borrowings							    34j		 100,000		 0

Purchase of treasury shares									     0		  (45	)

Issue of Class A-shares in December 2005									     0		 73

Increase in share capital 									     0		 10,000

Issue of ordinary shares							    11		 97,978		 234,786

Transaction costs related to issue of new shares							    11		  (5,195	)	  (39,297	)

Issue of convertible bonds							    16, 34h		 220,000		 0

Transaction costs related to convertible bonds							    16, 34h		  (6,391	)	 0

  Cash flow from financing activities									     408,392		 205,517

  Change in cash and cash equivalents									     109,589		 65,643

  Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period							    65,643		 0

  Cash and cash equivalents at end of period									     175,232		 65,643
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Air Berlin PLC
Company Statement of Changes in Equity

							    Equity				
							    component				
			  Share		 Share		 of convertible		 Retained		 Total
	 Note		 capital		 premium		 bond		 earnings		 equity

			  € 000		 € 000		 € 000		 € 000		 € 000		

Balance at date of incorporation

(2 December 2005)			  0		 0		 0		 0		 0

 

  Share based payment	 13								    270		 270

  Net income recognised directly in equity			  0		 0		 0		 270		 270

  Loss for the year									     (9,571	)	 (9,571	)

  Total recognised income and expense for 

  the period			  0		 0		 0		 (9,301	)	 (9,301	)

  Issue of Class A-shares in December 2005			  73								    73

  Increase in share capital December 2005			  10,000								    10,000

  Purchase of Treasury shares									     (45	)	 (45	)

  Issue of ordinary shares			  4,936		 229,850						   234,786

  Transaction cost, net of tax					   (15,660	)					   (15,660	)

Balances at 31 December 2006			  15,009		 214,190		 0		 (9,346	)	 219,853

 

  Share based payment	 13								    390		 390

  Net income recognised directly  

  in equity			  0		 0		 0		 390		 390

  Loss for the year									     (25,178	)	 (25,178	)

  Total recognised income and expense 

  for the period			  0		 0		 0		 (24,788	)	 (24,788	)

 

  Issue of ordinary shares	 11		 1,493		 96,485						   97,978

  Transaction cost, net of tax	 11				  (3,174	)					   (3,174	)

  Issue of convertible bond	 16						   25,130				  25,130

  Transaction cost, net of tax	 16						   (730	)			  (730	)

  Effect of change in tax rate	 16						   3,031				  3,031

Balances at 31 December 2007			  16,502		 307,501		 27,431		 (34,134	)	 317,300
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Notes to the consolidated  
and Company financial statements  
as of 31 December 2007 

1. Introduction

The consolidated financial statements of Air Berlin PLC for 

the year ended 31 December 2007 comprise Air Berlin PLC 

and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “Air Berlin” or the 

“Group”) and the Group’s interest in associates. Air Berlin is 

a public limited company incorporated in England and Wales 

with its registered office in London. The corporate head-

quarters of Air Berlin are located in Berlin. The Company’s 

ordinary shares are traded on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.

2. �Basic principles and preparation 

of financial statements

Both the parent company financial statements and the group 

financial statements have been prepared and approved by 

the directors in accordance with International Financial  

Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (“Adopted IFRSs”). 

On publishing the parent company financial statements here 

together with the group financial statements, the Company is 

taking advantage of the exemption in § 230 of the Companies 

Act 1985 not to present its individual income statement and 

related notes that form a part of these approved financial 

statements. The Company financial statements are presented 

on pages 114 to 116.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied 

consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated 

financial statements. The accounting policies have been  

applied consistently by Group entities.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical 

cost basis except that derivative financial instruments are 

stated at their fair value. The consolidated financial state-

ments have been prepared in Euro. The European Central 

Bank year end exchange rate was GBP 0.73335 to the Euro. 

All financial figures presented have been rounded to the 

nearest thousand currency units, except for share and bond 

data. The financial statements were authorised and approved 

for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2008. 

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 

Adopted IFRSs requires management to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies 

and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and ex-

penses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 

historical experience and various other factors that are believed 

to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which 

form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values 

of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 

sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 

ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised  

in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future  

periods affected. Judgements made by management in the applica-

tion of Adopted IFRSs that have significant effect on the financial 

statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjust-

ment in the next year relate primarily to the estimate of residual 

values of fixed assets, the impairment test for goodwill and other 

intangible assets with indefinite lives and the expected utilisation of 

deferred tax assets and are discussed in note 4b), 4d) and 4j) below.

3. Basis of consolidation

a) Reverse acquisition

In accordance with IFRS 3, Business Combinations, the legal 

reorganisation of the Group in 2005 was accounted for as a 

reverse acquisition. The consolidated financial statements are 

issued under the name of the legal parent (Air Berlin PLC) but 

are a continuation of the consolidated financial statements of 

the legal subsidiary Air Berlin GmbH & Co. Luftverkehrs KG 

and subsidiaries (renamed to: Air Berlin PLC & Co. Luftverkehrs 

KG), the acquirer for accounting purposes. 

The assets and liabilities of the Group were recognised and 

measured in the consolidated financial statements at their pre- 

combination carrying amounts. The equity structure in the 

consolidated financial statements, however, reflects the equity 

structure of Air Berlin PLC including the equity instrument  

issued by the legal parent to effect the combination. Due to 

the reverse acquisition in 2005, the limited partners’ capital 

was reclassified to other capital reserves.

b) Subsidiaries

All subsidiaries under control of Air Berlin are included in the 

consolidated financial statements. Control exists when Air Berlin 

has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial 

and operating policies of an enterprise so as to obtain benefits 

from its activities. The financial statements of subsidiaries are 
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included in the consolidated financial statements from the date 

that control commences until the date that control ceases. 

The subsidiaries listed in note 35 are included in the consolidat-

ed financial statements. Several of the Company’s subsidiaries 

prepare their financial statements in a currency other than Euro 

(Swiss francs). The assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries 

are translated to Euro at exchange rates at the reporting date. 

The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated 

to Euro at the average exchange rate for the period. Foreign 

currency differences resulting are recognised directly in equity. 

Since 1 January 2003, the Group’s date of transition to IFRS, 

such differences have been recognised in the Foreign currency 

translation reserve. All of the German subsidiaries identified in 

Note 35 are required to present financial statements under Ger-

man statutory law except for Air Berlin PLC & Co. Luftverkehrs 

KG, Air Berlin GmbH & Co. Fünfte Flugzeugvermietungs OHG, 

Air Berlin GmbH & Co. Sechste Flugzeugvermietungs OHG and 

Air Berlin GmbH & Co. Siebte Flugzeugvermietungs OHG, which 

are exempt due to § 264 b HGB.

c) Special purpose entity

In 2006 the Group established a special purpose entity (SPE) 

in connection with the repurchase and administration of 

shares relating to its Employee Share Plan, which is included 

in the consolidated financial statements. An SPE is consolidated 

if, based on an evaluation of the substance of its relationship 

with the Group and the SPE’s risks and rewards, the Group 

concludes that it controls the SPE. SPEs are considered to be 

controlled by the Group if they were established under terms 

that impose strict limitations on the decision-making powers 

of the SPE’s management and that result in the Group receiving 

all of the risks and benefits related to the SPE’s operations 

and net assets.

d) Associates

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant  

influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies. 

The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s 

share of the total recognised gains and losses of associates 

on an equity accounted basis and are initially recognised 

at cost, from the date that significant influence commences 

until the date that significant influence ceases. When the 

Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate, 

the Group’s carrying amount is reduced to nil and recognition 

of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the 

Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made 

payments on behalf of an associate.

e) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised 

gains arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated 

in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Un-

realised gains arising from transactions with associates are 

eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the entity. 

Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unreal-

ised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of 

impairment.

4. Significant accounting policies

a) Intangible assets

Goodwill is recognised where the cost of a business combination 

exceeds the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities 

and contingent liabilities of the acquiree. Other identifiable 

intangible assets acquired through a business combination 

are capitalised at fair value and subsequently measured at cost 

less accumulated amortisation charges and impairment losses. 

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives 

are not amortised but are tested for impairment annually, or 

more frequently if there is an indication that the asset may be 

impaired. Acquired intangible assets are recognised at cost less 

accumulated amortisation charges and impairment losses. Am-

ortisation of intangible assets is based on the Group’s account-

ing policies and calculated according to the straight-line method 

over the estimated useful lives (if applicable). 

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets are as follows:

Software licenses			  3 — 5 years

Trademarks			  5 years

Landing rights (Slots)			  indefinite

Landing rights are determined to have indefinite lives, as they 

do not expire and are not subject to a regular loss in value 

over time.
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b) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are valued at acquisition or 

production costs less accumulated depreciation and accumu-

lated impairment losses. Depreciation is based on the Group’s 

accounting policies and calculated according to the straight-

line method over the estimated useful lives. 

-- Aircraft and engines

The Group owns aircraft and engines of the type Boeing 

737-800, and Airbus A319 and A320. The depreciation period 

is ten years taking into account estimated residual values. The 

residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each balance 

sheet date. Judgement is required in estimating the residual 

values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment. Un-

certainty exists in the useful life of aircraft and engines and 

in the amounts which can be realised through future dispos-

als. The changes in residual values and their impact on annual 

depreciation charges have been accounted for in accordance 

with IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Esti-

mates and Errors, prospectively in the period of change and 

future periods affected. A portion of the cost of an aircraft is 

attributed on acquisition to major inspection and overhaul costs 

of its engines and airframe and is depreciated separately over a 

period of five to seven years, at which time the new overhaul is 

capitalised and depreciated over its useful life.  

As aircraft and engines are purchased in stages with the pay-

ment of initial and subsequent deposit payments, the borrowing 

costs associated with these payments are capitalised as part of 

the costs of those qualifying assets. Other borrowing costs are 

expensed as incurred.

-- Other tangible assets

The estimated useful lives of other tangible assets are as follows:

Technical equipment and machinery 	 8 — 15 years

Office equipment 			  3 — 13 years

-- Land and buildings

Land and buildings relate to two airport buildings leased under 

finance leases acquired through the acquisition of LTU, as 

further discussed in note 17. The buildings are depreciated over 

the lesser of their remaining useful lives or the term of the lease.

c) Subsequent expenditure

Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item  

of aircraft, engines and other equipment that is accounted  

for separately, including major inspection and overhaul 

expenditure, is capitalised and the replaced item is derecog-

nised. Other subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when 

it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the 

item of property, plant and equipment. All other expenditure 

is recognised in the income statement as an expense when 

incurred.

d) Impairment

-- non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets are reviewed at each balance 

sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of 

impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets’ recover-

able amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets 

with indefinite lives, the recoverable amount is estimated at 

each balance sheet date. An impairment loss is recognised 

whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating 

unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses, if any, 

are recorded in the income statement.

The recoverable amount is the greater of the assets’ fair value 

less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing the value in 

use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 

present value using a discount rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate 

largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is 

determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset 

belongs. Since all aircraft are used for all destinations of Air 

Berlin, the total Group fleet is considered as a single cash 

generating unit. Impairment losses, if any, are allocated first 

to goodwill allocated to the cash generating unit and then to 

the other assets of the unit pro rata based on their carrying 

amounts. In respect of tangible assets, an impairment loss 

is reversed when there is an indication that the impairment 

loss may no longer exist and there has been a change in the 

estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An 

impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 
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carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 

have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if 

no impairment loss had been recognised.

Judgement is required in determining the cash generating 

unit, as well as in calculating value in use. The operat-

ing margins used in determining value in use are based 

on planned business and operational growth. The trading 

environment is subject to both regulatory and competitive 

pressures that could have a material impact on the operat-

ing performance of the business. The discount rate reflects 

management’s estimate of the long-term cost of capital for 

the cash generating unit.

-- Financial assets

Financial assets are assessed at each reporting date to determine 

whether objective evidence of impairment exists. An impairment 

loss on financial assets measured at amortised cost is calculated 

as the difference between the present value of estimated future 

cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate and 

its carrying amount.

e) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realisable 

value. Inventories include supplies and spares, raw materials 

and purchased merchandise. The cost of inventories is based 

on the weighted average cost formula. 

f) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value 

and subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method less impairment loss, which approximates 

their fair value. An impairment loss is calculated as the differ-

ence between its carrying amount and the present value of the 

estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective 

interest rate. Receivables for which collection is doubtful are 

written down to their realisable value in a separate account. 

Further details to the allowance for impairment losses are 

found in note 30a.The allowance for impairment losses is used 

to record impairment losses until the Group determines that 

the receivable is irrecoverable. Financial assets are derecog-

nised directly when they are expected to be irrecoverable. 

Estimated future cash flows are based on estimates and judge-

ments regarding the credit worthiness of individual receiva-

bles, the actual customer structure and an analysis of historical 

impairment losses. Reminders are sent on a timely basis.  

After the second reminder, the customer is given a further 

three months to pay the receivable. If no payment is received 

at that time, the third reminder is issued along with a legal 

order to pay, and an allowance for impairment losses of 60% 

is allowed for within the expected cash flows. This percentage 

represents the probability of impairment loss based on past 

experience.

g) Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments are used for hedging 

fuel price, interest rate, and currency rate risks arising from 

operational and financing activities. Hedging transactions are 

entered into to secure future cash flows. Derivative financial 

instruments are recognised initially at fair value. All deriva-

tives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are classified as 

held for trading. Hedge accounting is discontinued prospec-

tively if the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated 

or exercised, if the Group revokes the designation as hedge 

accounting or if the hedge no longer meets the criteria for 

hedge accounting. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative 

financial instruments are stated at fair value. Any resultant 

gain or loss is recognised directly in the income statement 

as profit or loss unless the derivative has been classified as 

a hedge of a highly probable future cash flow. The effective 

portion of gains and losses from changes in the fair value 

of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges are taken to 

equity in accordance with IAS 39 and are recognised in the 

profit and loss when the related transaction impacts income 

or the future cash flow ceases to be considered probable. The 

ineffective portion of a cash flow hedge is recognised imme-

diately in income.

Forward exchange transactions are used to mitigate exchange 

rate exposure. The fair value of forward exchange contracts is 

their quoted market price at the balance sheet date, being the 

present value of the quoted forward price. 

Commodity swaps and options are used to limit the fuel price risk.

The Group uses cross-currency interest rate swaps to convert 

variable rate liabilities in foreign currency to fixed rate positions 

in the functional currency. 



p121 AIR BERLIN ANNUAL REPORT 2007

h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and short-

term deposits with an initial maturity of less than three months. 

Cash and cash equivalents are valued at cost. Bank overdrafts 

used for cash management purposes are included in cash and 

cash equivalents for purposes of the cash flow statement.

i) Share capital

Share capital of the Company consists of ordinary shares and 

redeemable Class A shares. In addition the Company holds 

treasury shares.

-- Ordinary shares 

Incremental costs directly related to the issue of ordinary 

shares are shown as a deduction in equity.

-- Redeemable “Class A” preference shares 

Class A shares are classified as equity, as these shares are redeem-

able only at the option of Air Berlin and any dividends are discre-

tionary. Dividends are recognised as distributions within equity.

-- Treasury shares 

Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and shown 

as a deduction from total equity. The amount of consideration 

paid for the repurchase of share capital, including directly attrib-

utable costs, is recognised as a deduction in retained earnings. 

j) Income taxes

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year and on items taken 

to equity comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is 

recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it 

relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is 

recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income 

for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted 

at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in 

respect of previous years.

Deferred taxes are calculated in accordance with IAS 12 on 

the basis of temporary differences between the tax base at 

the level of the individual company and the respective IFRS 

book value. No deferred tax is recognised on the initial 

recognition of goodwill arising from acquisitions. A deferred 

tax asset is recognised for tax loss carryforwards and other 

temporary differences resulting in an expected tax benefit in  

future periods to the extent that it is probable that taxable income 

will be available in the near future against which the unused tax 

losses can be utilised. The amount of deferred tax provided is 

based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the 

carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted 

or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Judgement 

is required in estimating the probability of utilisation of deferred 

tax assets; uncertainty exists in the amount and timing of future 

taxable income.

k) Provisions

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group 

has a present legal or constructive obligation as result of a past 

event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits 

will be required to settle the obligation and the obligation is 

measurable. If the effect is material, provisions are determined 

by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 

that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to the liability.

l) Interest-bearing liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, 

less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial rec-

ognition, interest-bearing liabilities are stated at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method.

m) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at their fair 

value and subsequently stated at their amortised cost using the 

effective interest method, which approximates their fair value.

n) Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the 

respective functional currencies of Group entities at the 

exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets 

and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are subse-

quently translated at the exchange rate at the balance sheet 

date. Any differences resulting from the currency translation 

are recognised in the income statement. Further details to the 

currency risk are provided in note 30d.
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Exchange differences arising from interest-bearing liabilities 

and other financing activities are classified as part of financing 

costs. All other exchange rate differences are allocated to the 

various income and expense line items from which they arose 

within operating results.

o) Recognition of income and expenses

Revenue relates primarily to transportation services provided 

and duty free sales. Revenue and other operating income are 

recognised when the corresponding service has been performed 

(for example transportation) or when the risks and rewards 

associated with the right of ownership are transferred to the 

buyer (for example duty-free sales). Revenue is measured at 

the fair value of the consideration received taking into account 

the amount of any sales deductions (for example air passenger 

duty, VAT and discounts). Expenses are recognised in the pe-

riod in which they are incurred, which generally corresponds 

to the time at which the income is recognised.

p) Deferred income

Deferred income in the balance sheet relates mainly to ticket 

sales and bonus miles resulting from Air Berlin’s frequent 

flyer plan.

Air Berlin recognises ticket sales as income at the time the 

transportation is provided. However, when the fare is for a 

round-trip and the return flight has not been taken at year 

end, the unearned revenue is deferred in the consolidated 

balance sheet under “deferred income” until such time the 

transportation is provided. Revenue on unclaimed tickets  

is realised when the expiry date of the ticket has passed.  

Deferred income is estimated based on actual bookings, his-

torical experience and past general passenger behaviour. 

 

-- Frequent flyer plan

The Group operates a frequent flyer plan (“Top Bonus” pro- 

gramme) which allows the customer to collect bonus miles on 

flights, by doing business with Air Berlin’s partners (hotels, car 

rental agencies, insurance and financial service companies) 

or by shopping. The expected incremental costs of providing 

services free of charge for the utilisation of bonus miles are 

accrued within deferred income based on the number of miles 

accumulated and past customer behaviour.

q) Leasing

The Group leases a number of aircraft under operating leases 

which require Air Berlin to maintain the leased assets. Repair 

and overhaul costs are not included in the lease rentals. 

Where the group has a commitment to maintain aircraft, 

payments are made to the leasing company or where no 

payments are made a provision is made during the lease 

term based on the estimated costs of major airframe and 

certain engine checks. These charges are recognised based 

on the number flight hours or cycles flown. The basis of these 

charges is reviewed once a year and also when informa-

tion becomes available that is capable of causing a material 

change in cost. Factors taken into account include: increased 

or decreased utilisation of the aircraft, the condition of the 

aircraft, the lifespan of life-limited parts and any unanticipat-

ed changes in the cost of heavy maintenance services.

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in 

the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term 

of the lease. The Group capitalises fixed assets leased under 

arrangements in which substantially all the risks and rewards 

of ownership are transferred to the Group as finance leases 

in accordance with IAS 17. Leased assets are measured 

initially at the lower of their fair value or the present value of 

the minimum lease payments. The assets are depreciated on 

a straight-line basis over the lease term. The related obliga-

tion is shown under Interest-bearing liabilities in the amount 

of the discounted minimum lease payments less payments 

made. Lease income from operating leases is recognised in the 

income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

r) Pensions

Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans which 

do not qualify as defined contribution plans. Defined contribu-

tion plans are pension plans under which fixed contributions 

are paid into a separate legal entity with no legal or constructive 

obligation to pay further amounts.

The Group’s net obligation or asset in connection with defined 

benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan. The amount 

of future benefits that employees have earned in return for their 

service in current and prior periods is estimated and discounted 

to present value using an appropriate discount rate based on  

AA-credit rated bonds with maturities approximating the maturi-
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ties of the Group’s obligations under the pension plans. The  

calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected 

unit credit method. Unrecognised prior service cost and the fair 

value of plan assets as of the balance sheet date are deducted 

from the obligation. Any resulting net assets are limited to the 

net total of the present value of future refunds or reductions in 

payments and the amount of any unrecognised prior service cost.

The portion of the increased benefit which relates to past em-

ployee service is recognised in profit or loss on a straight line 

basis over the average period until the benefits have vested. If 

benefits vest immediately they are recognised immediately in 

profit or loss. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immedi-

ately in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension 

plans are recognised as an expense in profit and loss in the 

period in which they are due.

s) Share-based payment transactions

The fair value of options granted to employees is estimated 

on the grant date and recognised in the income statement as 

personnel expense over the vesting period (i.e. the period in 

which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the 

options). The corresponding entry is an increase in equity. The 

fair value was determined using valuation techniques which 

comply with IFRS 2. The amount recognised as an expense 

is adjusted to reflect the number of share options expected 

to vest. Market conditions are included in the calculation 

of fair value at grant date and do not affect future valuation, 

whereas vesting conditions are taken into consideration in 

determining the number of share options expected to vest. 

Further details to vesting conditions are found in note 13.

t) New pronouncements

The following IFRS standards and interpretations, none of 

which are expected to have a significant effect on the financial 

statements, were endorsed by the EU and available for early 

application but have not been applied by the Group in these 

financial statements:

  �IFRS 8, Operating Segments, effective for financial years 

beginning on or after 1 January 2009

  �IFRIC 11, IFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share Transactions, 

effective beginning on or after 1 March 2007

u) Financial risk management

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of 

financial instruments:

  �Credit risk

  �Liquidity risk

  �Market risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to 

each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and 

processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s 

management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are 

included throughout the financial statements.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establish-

ment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. 

The Board has an established risk management system, which 

monitors the Group’s risk management policies. Any significant 

risks are reported to the Board.

Risk reporting includes the review and assessment of all risks 

in the individual departments. This includes the registration 

of new risks and the reassessment of existing risks regarding  

their probability of occurrence and loss potential. In gen-

eral a quantitative assessment of risks is undertaken. The 

registered risks are continuously updated using computer 

software.

Extensive risk reporting, which contains information on current 

risks and assessments, changes in assessments and the appropri-

ate measures is submitted each quarter to the Executive Board.

There were no changes in the Group’s exposures to risk or its 

objectives, policies and processes for identifying, measuring 

and managing the risk since the previous period.

Credit risk

Single-seat tickets are sold subject to payment up front. Credit 

risk is very low and limited to payments made from overdrawn 

bank accounts shortly before the flight. Credit risk relating to 

bulk ticket sales to charter and package tour operators is also 

limited, as tour operators make regular pre-payments in the 

middle of the month based on the expected monthly sales.

The sale of passage and freight documents is handled via 

agencies and the internet within the guidelines of IATA. 

Agencies are connected with country-specific clearing systems 
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for the settlement of passage or freight sales. Individual agents 

are checked by appropriate clearing houses. The credit risk 

from an individual sales agent is relatively low due to world-

wide dispersion. Where the agreement upon which a payment is 

based does not explicitly state otherwise, claims and liabilities 

arising between the airlines are usually settled on a bilateral 

basis or via a Clearing House of the International Air Transport 

Association (IATA). Settlement takes place principally through 

the balancing of all receivables and liabilities at regular month-

ly intervals, which also contributes to a significant reduction in 

the risk of non-payment. Separate security may be required in 

the particular payment agreement for other transactions. 

For all other payment relationships, depending upon the type 

and level of the particular payment, securities may be required 

or credit information/references obtained. Historical data from 

the business relationship up until that point, in particular in 

relation to payment behaviour, may be used in an effort to avoid 

non-payment. Recognisable risks are accounted for by valuation 

adjustments on receivables. The credit risk from investments 

and derivative financial instruments arises from the risk of 

non-payment by a contract partner. Since the transactions are 

concluded with contracting parties of the highest possible 

credit rating the risk of non-payment is extremely low. Cash 

and cash equivalents are held only with banks with the high-

est credit ratings. Derivative financial instruments are also 

held with parties with AA ratings or which are known to be 

reliable based on past experience. When no rating is available 

for a contract partner, securities may be obtained, as is the 

case with one contract partner for fuel derivatives. 

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to 

meet its financial obligations as they fall due. Liquidity in 

the Group is protected by appropriate liquidity planning 

and adequate financing structure. The Group’s approach to 

managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will 

always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when 

due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without in-

curring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s 

reputation.In autumn 2006 a company-wide treasury manage-

ment system was implemented. It covers and evaluates all 

matters associated with interest and exchange rates. All new 

Air Berlin companies (i.e. dba in 2006 and LTU and Belair in 

2007) are fully incorporated into the Air Berlin treasury man-

agement system. The primary focus is on sufficient liquidity, 

ensured by comprehensive financial and liquidity planning.

Typically the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on 

demand to meet expected operational expenses for a period 

of two to three months, including the servicing of financial 

obligations: this excludes the potential impact of extreme 

circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as 

natural disasters. The treasury management system includes 

those hedge relations required by IAS 39 for hedge account-

ing and the calculations for hedge effectiveness. Both the un-

derlying transactions and the hedging activities are incorpo-

rated into this system. All the hedging arrangements entered 

into are continuously monitored and modified as necessary. 

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as 

foreign exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices 

will affect the Group’s income and expenses or the value of its 

holdings of financial instruments. 

As an airline, as well as credit and liquidity risks, the Air Berlin 

Group is exposed to currency, interest rate and fuel price 

risks. Air Berlin uses derivatives to limit these risks. A further 

description of the Group’s exposure to market risks and the 

hedging activities to limit these risks is detailed in note 30.

Capital management

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as 

to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to 

sustain future development of the business. The Board of 

Directors monitors the return on capital, which the Company 

defines as net operating income divided by total sharehold-

ers’ equity. The Board seeks to maintain a balance between 

the higher returns that might be possible with higher level 

of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded 

by a sound capital position. In particular, in reviewing the 

Company’s financing alternatives, the Board, always bearing 

in mind the shareholders’ return on equity, balances a variety 

of financing options, including share issues, bond issues and 

traditional bank financing. The Group is not subject to any 

externally imposed capital requirements.
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v) Financial instruments

Financial instruments are all contracts, which lead to the 

recognition of a financial asset and a financial liability or an 

equity instrument. The financial assets include primarily cash 

and cash equivalents, trade receivables, loans receivable and 

positive market values of derivative financial instruments. The 

financial liabilities include liabilities to banks, trade creditors, 

finance lease liabilities and negative market values of derivatives. 

The financial instruments are recorded in the balance sheet, 

at the time Air Berlin becomes partner to a contract for a 

financial instrument. For regular way purchases or sales of 

financial assets (purchases or sales for which delivery of the 

asset should take place within the time frame established 

generally by regulation or convention in the market place) are 

recorded on the trade date.

Categories of financial assets and financial liabilities which 

apply to Air Berlin are as follows:

  �Loans and receivables

  �Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss classified 

as held for trading in accordance with IAS 39 (derivative 

financial instruments)

  �Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss classi-

fied as held for trading in accordance with IAS 39 (deriva-

tive financial instruments)

  �Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (includes 

trade payables and other financial liabilities as well as 

interest-bearing liabilities and liabilities due to banks for 

the assignment of future lease payments)

The categories “available for sale financial assets” and “held 

to maturity investments” do not apply to Air Berlin. In addi-

tion, no financial assets or financial liabilities are designated 

as fair value through profit or loss, as the fair value option is 

not applied at Air Berlin.

The categories of financial assets and financial liabilities are  

further detailed in note 30h (fair values). Air Berlin has de

fined the following classes of financial assets and financial 

liabilities:

  �Loans and receivables

  �Derivative financial instruments classified as held for trading 

  �Derivative financial instruments classified as hedge ac-

counting

  �Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (includes 

interest-bearing liabilities and liabilities due to banks from 

assignment of future lease payments, trade payables and 

other financial liabilities)

  �Cash and cash equivalentss

  �Finance leases

5. Acquisitions

Acquisitions in 2007

-- LTU

On 26 March 2007 the Group acquired 100 percent of the shares 

of the LTU Group (“LTU”) for a purchase price of € 140,000. In 

addition, prior to acquisition a third party had waived a loan due 

to them from LTU in exchange for a share of LTU’s future profits. 

This potential liability had not been provided within the accounts 

of LTU. Air Berlin paid €15 million to the third party to buy out 

their rights to the future profits of LTU, bringing the total cash 

consideration including transaction costs to € 159,787. The Ger-

man airline LTU operates 16 medium and 12 long range aircraft 

and had approximately 2,200 employees as of 31 December 

2006. Approval by the Federal Cartel Office (“Bundeskartellamt”) 

was received on 7 August 2007. For consolidation purposes the 

acquisition date was therefore determined to be 31 July 2007. 

Based on a preliminary estimate, goodwill of € 209,420 has been 

recorded on this transaction. A final purchase price allocation 

could not be carried out at the balance sheet date, as certain 

assets could not be valued reliably at the acquisition date due to 

the pending calculation of their fair value. This especially relates 

to a final valuation of identified intangible assets (landing rights) 

and deferred tax assets resulting from loss carry forwards. The 

amounts shown below are preliminary estimates. Any follow-

ing adjustments made to the purchase price allocation will be 

adjusted within 12 months of the acquisition date and recorded 

as at the acquisition date, in accordance with IFRS 3.

See table on page 126 below.

No contingent liabilities were identified at the acquisition date. 

The fair value adjustments to aircraft and land and buildings 

reflect the adjustment necessary to record these assets at 

their fair values at the acquisition date. The fair value of the 
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buildings (two finance leases, discussed in note 17) represents 

the fair value of the leasehold interest acquired by Air Berlin 

over the remaining lease term rather than the fair value of the 

buildings to the owner, as no transfer of ownership takes place 

at the end of the lease term. The initial valuation of landing rights 

and trademarks at fair value in connection with the acquisition 

is discussed further in note 6.

The fair value adjustment to provisions relates to a provision 

for onerous contracts in connection with the unfulfilled orders 

of LTU at the acquisition date, which is discussed in note 15.

The liabilities of the acquirer of €91,224 comprise trading bal-

ances of €22,639 due to Air Berlin and a bond due to Air Berlin 

of €68,585. The bond balance was purchased at acquisition from 

the original bond holders for €1 and therefore acquisition assets 

of LTU have been adjusted to reflect that on acquisition the bond 

has nil fair value to the group. Transaction costs incurred in con-

nection with the acquisition, which have been included in the 

calculation of goodwill, amount to € 4,787 as of 31 December 

2007. The goodwill results from a variety of factors including 

synergies between the route networks expected cost savings 

due to combined fleet utilisation, capacity optimisation and head 

office cost savings and more effective procurement. Annual sav-

ings have been estimated at approximately € 70 million a year.

The results of LTU as from 1 August 2007 are included in the 

consolidated financial statements. Post acquisition LTU became 

a flight service provider to Air Berlin and therefore no longer 

has significant external revenues. As such it is not possible to 

report the revenue or profit (loss) that LTU contributed to the 

group for the period 1 August 2007 to 31 December 2007.

Assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition of LTU:

					   Revaluation				  Acquiree’s 
	 Fair value at				  to purchase				  carrying
In thousands of Euro	 acquisition date				  accounting				  amount

Land and Buildings			  28,834				  (1,854	)			  30,688

Aircrafts			  140,160				  (53,555	)			  193,715

Landing rights			  28,200				  28,200				  0

Trademark LTU			  4,794				  4,794				  0

Other tangible assets			  35,047				  0				  35,047

Inventories			  19,507				  0				  19,507

Accounts recievable			  40,521				  0				  40,521

Other asstes and prepaid expenses			  77,106				  0				  77,106

Cash and cash equivalents			  113,997				  0				  113,997

Deferred tax assets			  14,297				  (7,361	)			  21,658

Interest-bearing liabilities			  (191,320	)			  (1,128	)			  (190,192	)

Accrued liabilities			  (181,296	)			  0				  (181,296	)

Provisions			  (46,807	)			  (35,468	)			  (11,339	)

Trade payables			  (50,011	)			  0				  (50,011	)

Liabilities to acquirer			  (22,639	)			  68,585				  (91,224	)

Other liabilities			  (60,023	)			  0				  (60,023	)

Net identifiable assets acquired			  (49,633	)			  2,213				  (51,846	)

Goodwill			  209,420		

Cash consideration			  159,787		

less:			

     Cash and cash equivalents acquired			  (113,997	)	

Net cash outflow			  45,790		
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-- belair

 On 10 September 2007 Air Berlin PLC acquired 49 percent of 

the shares in Belair Airlines AG, Zurich (“Belair”) for a purchase 

price of CHF 1,715. Belair operates three aircraft of the type Boe-

ing 757 and 767. 

Under the Shareholders Agreement Air Berlin did not assume 

economic control of the airline until 1 November 2007. Due to 

owning only 49% of the shares a minority interest of €629 was 

recognised on acquisition. Under the agreement the minority in-

terest does not participate in operating or financial decisions and 

100 percent of the profits (losses) of Belair accrue to Air Berlin, 

therefore no minority interest is recorded in the income state-

ment. Based on a preliminary estimate, goodwill of € 797 and 

minority interest of € 629 has been recorded on the purchase of 

Belair. A final purchase price allocation could not be carried out 

at the balance sheet date, as certain assets could not be valued 

reliably at the acquisition date due to the pending calculation 

of their fair value. This especially relates to identified intangible 

assets (landing rights) and trademark. Any following adjustments 

made to the purchase price allocation will be adjusted within  

12 months of the acquisition date and recorded as at the acquisi-

tion date, in accordance with IFRS 3.

See table below.

Transaction costs incurred in connection with the acquisition 

have been included in the calculation of goodwill and amount to 

€ 366 as of 31 December 2007. The goodwill results from a vari-

ety of factors, including synergies between the route networks.

The results of Belair as from 1 November 2007 are included in 

the consolidated financial statements. Post acquisition Belair 

became a flight service provider to Air Berlin and therefore no 

longer has significant external revenues. As such it is not possible 

to report the revenue or profit (loss) that Belair contributed to the 

group for the period 1 November 2007 to 31 December 2007.

Assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition of Belair:

					   Revaluation				  Acquiree’s  
	 Fair value at				  to purchase				  carrying 
In thousands of Euro	 acquisition date				  accounting				  amount

Land and Buildings			  0				  0				  0

Aircrafts			  0				  0				  0

Other tangible assets			  1,409				  0				  1,409

Inventories			  784				  0				  784

Accounts recievable			  587				  0				  587

Other asstes and prepaid expenses			  1,143				  0				  1,143

Cash and cash equivalents			  10,042				  0				  10,042

Deferred tax assets			  102				  0				  102

Interest-bearing liabilities			  0				  0				  0

Accrued liabilities			  (4,632	)			  0				  (4,632	)

Trade payables			  (4,640	)			  0				  (4,640	)

Liabilities to acquirer			  (544	)			  0				  (544	)

Other liabilities			  (3,017	)			  0				  (3,017	)

Net identifiable assets acquired			  1,234				  0				  (1,234	)

Minority interest			  (629	)		

Goodwill			  797		

Cash consideration			  1,402		

less:			

  Cash and cash equivalents acquired			  (10,042	)	

Net cash inflow			  (8,640	)		
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The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition of dba are as follows:

					   Revaluation				  Acquiree’s  
	 Fair value at				  to purchase				  carrying 
In thousands of Euro	 acquisition date				  accounting				  amount

Non-current assets			  7,410				  0				  7,410

Landing rights			  69,949				  69,949				  0

Trademark dba			  2,017				  2,017				  0

Inventories			  3,061				  0				  3,061

Accounts receivable			  7,950				  0				  7,950

Other assets and prepaid expenses			  29,852				  0				  29,852

Cash and cash equivalents			  47,869				  0				  47,869

Deferred tax assets			  27,718				  27,718				  0

Accrued liabilities			  (49,765	)			  0				  (49,765	)

Accounts payable			  (12,913	)			  0				  (12,913	)

Other current liabilities			  (22,080	)			  0				  (22,080	)

Net identifiable assets acquired			  111,068				  99,684				  11,384

Goodwill			  20,317		

Cash consideration			  131,385		

less:			

     Cash and cash equivalents acquired			  (47,869	)	

Net cash outflow			  83,516		

-- condor

On 20 September 2007 Air Berlin PLC concluded an agree-

ment with the Thomas Cook Group plc (“Thomas Cook”), in 

which Thomas Cook will transfer its shares in the airline Con-

dor Flugdienst GmbH (“Condor”) in a two-step acquisition by 

means of a share swap. Air Berlin will acquire 75.1 percent 

of the shares in Condor in February 2009 and the remaining 

24.9 percent of the shares in February 2010.

In return for its shares in Condor, Thomas Cook will receive newly 

issued shares in Air Berlin, which – depending on the market quo-

tation at the time the agreement is implemented – are expected to 

be valued between € 380 million and € 475 million. In the process 

Thomas Cook is likely to acquire an interest of up to 29.99 percent 

in Air Berlin.  

Condor currently operates 35 aircraft and recorded revenues 

of € 1.2 billion in the financial year 2006. The transaction is 

subject to approval by the responsible cartel authorities.

Transaction costs incurred in connection with the acquisition 

amount to € 2,599. These costs will be included in the calcu-

lation of goodwill and are capitalised under Prepaid expenses 

in the Balance Sheet at 31 December 2007.

Acquisitions in 2006

-- dba

As of 31 August 2006 (acquisition date) Air Berlin PLC ac-

quired 100 percent of the shares of dba Luftfahrtgesellschaft 

GmbH, München (in following “dba”) for a purchase price of 

€ 130,000.

Transaction costs incurred in connection with the acquisition 

amount to € 1,385. The goodwill results from a variety of fac-

tors, including synergies between the route networks, corpo-

rate contracts and attractive offers for business passengers. 
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Pre-acquisition carrying amounts were determined based 

on financial statements prepared according to applicable 

adopted IFRSs immediately before the acquisition. The values 

of assets and liabilities recognised on acquisition are their 

estimated fair values. The initial valuation of landing rights 

and trademarks at fair value in connection with the acquisition 

is discussed further in note 6. No contingent liabilities were 

identified at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is not amortised but instead is assessed annually for 

impairment in accordance with IFRS 3. The transaction costs 

were included in the calculation of goodwill.

Other

In addition the Group acquired the remaining 76% of TIS 

Total Inflight Solution Germany GmbH in 2006, which was 

renamed to AB Neunte Flugzeugvermietungs GmbH and 

Intangible assets (Relates to note 6, text on page 130)

	 Software		  Landing
In thousands of Euro	 licences	 Goodwill	 rights	 Trademarks	 Other rights	 Total	

Acquisition cost

  Balance at 1 January 2006	 7,543		 0		 0		 0		 869		 8,412	

  Additions	 3,645		 0		 0		 0		 0		 3,645	

  Additions through acquisitions	 362		 20,317		 69,949		 2,017		 0		 92,645	

  Disposals	 (87	)	 0		 0		 0		 0		 (87	)	

  Balance at 31 December 2006	 11,463		 20,317		 69,949		 2,017		 869		 104,615	

  Additions	 5,570		 0		 0		 0		 0		 5,570	

  Additions through acquisitions 	 759		 210,217		 28,200		 4,794		 0		 243,970	

  Disposals	 (378	)	 0		 0		 0		 (869	)	 (1,247	)

  Balance at 31 December 2007	 17,414		 230,534		 98,149		 6,811		 0		 352,908

Depreciation

  Balance at 1 January 2006	 6,269		 0		 0		 0		 826		 7,095	

  Depreciation charge for the year	 1,639		 0		 0		 134		 43		 1,816	

  Disposals 	 (87	)	 0		 0		 0		 0		 (87	)	

  Balance at 31 December 2006	 7,821		 0		 0		 134		 869		 8,824	

  Depreciation charge for the year	 3,766		 0		 0		 501		 0		 4,267	

  Impairment loss	 0		 0		 0		 1,782		 0		 1,782	

  Disposals 	 (316	)	 0		 0		 0		 (869	)	 (1,185	)

  Balance at 31 December 2007	 11,271		 0		 0		 2,417		 0		 (13,688	)

Carrying amount

  At 1 January 2006	 1,274		 0		 0		 0		 43		 1,317	

  At 31 December 2006	 3,642		 20,317		 69,949		 1,883		 0		 95,791	

  At 31 December 2007	 6,143		 230,534		 98,149		 4,394		 0		 339,220
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consolidated in the financial statements at 31 December 

2006. The Group paid € 19 and received cash of € 25, so 

the net cash flow from the acquisition was positive € 6.

Summary of cash flow from acquisitions

Total cash flows outflows (inflows) from acquisitions during 

the period were as follows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

LTU	 45,790		 0	

Belair 	 (8,640	)	 0	

Condor	 2,599		 0	

dba 	 0		 83,516	

TIS	 0		 (6	)

	 39,749		 83,510	

6. Intangible assets

See table on page 129.

For the purchase accounting, landing rights and trademarks 

are valued at their fair values as of the acquisition date. 

The valuation of landing rights has been determined on a 

fair value basis and is based on the average cash flows that 

can be generated by a representative market participant on 

regulated airports under consideration of a scarcity factor. 

Significant assumptions used in the calculation of value in use 

were a discount rate of 10.11 % and cash flow projections for 

each route with an individual landing right. The valuation of 

the trademark LTU is based on a licence price analogy (relief 

from royalty). The estimated trademark-related sales revenues 

over a useful life of 5 years form the basis for the calculation, 

discounted at a rate of 8.56%.

The Group carried out an impairment test on both landing 

rights and goodwill in the fourth quarter of 2007 based on a 

variety of assumptions and concluded that as the estimated 

recoverable amount significantly exceeded the carrying 

amounts, no impairment was required. The recoverable 

amount was determined for the cash generating unit to which 

the landing rights and goodwill belong, which in this case is 

the Air Berlin Group as a whole. The future cash flows were 

estimated using the value-in-use perspective based on the most 

recent mid-term cash flow plan (3 years) approved by manage-

ment for the existing fleet, extrapolated to perpetuity using 

a 0.5% growth rate and discounted to their present value 

using the company-specific weighted average cost of capital 

of 8.29%. The calculation of value in use is most sensitive 

to the assumptions of discount rate and operating margin. 

The operating margins used in determining value in use are 

based on planned business and operational growth, exclud-

ing growth arising from purchases of additional fixed assets 

but including maintenance and repairs and are significantly 

improved from that experienced in 2006 and 2007. The trad-

ing environment is subject to both regulatory and competitive 

pressures that could have a material impact on the operating 

performance of the business. However, foreseeable events are 

unlikely to cause a change in projections significant enough 

to result in the carrying amounts exceeding the recoverable 

amount. The discount rate reflects management’s estimate of 

the long-term cost of capital for the cash generating unit.

As all dba flights are now booked directly through Air Berlin 

and the dba website has been discontinued, the trademark 

dba was completely written off in 2007, resulting in an im-

pairment loss of € 1,782.

7. Property, plant and equipment 

See table on page 131 below.

From 1 January 2007 the Group adjusted its estimate of re-

sidual values in depreciating its aircraft to a percentage of the 

original acquisition cost in Euro. This will reduce fluctuations

in depreciation expense due to the revaluation of residual values, 

which were previously based on estimated future market prices 

in USD. The effect of this change in estimate was accounted 

for prospectively in the period of change in accordance with 

IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 

and Errors and resulted in an increase in depreciation expense 

in the financial period of approximately € 3,978 calculated based 

on the aircraft owned at the time of the change in estimate 

and the USD:Euro rate at that time.

Borrowing costs capitalised during 2007 and 2006 are € 971 

and € 2,393, respectively, at borrowing rates between 6.85% 

and 7.04%. Aircraft and engines are pledged as security in 

connection with the Group’s interest-bearing liabilities and 

liabilities due to banks from assignment of future lease pay-

ments. Tangible assets include land and buildings, aircraft 

and engines, and technical equipment and machinery which 

have been capitalised as a result of finance leases. 
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The book value of tangible assets capitalised as a result of 

finance leases was:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Land and buildings	 27,557		 0	

Aircraft and engines	 51,268		 0	

Technical equipment 

and machinery	 2,176		 5,810	

	 81,001		 5,810

	

Finance leases are explained in more detail in Note 17.

Property, plant and equipment

							    Technical		  
			  Land and		 Aircraft 	 equipment and		 Office 
In thousands of Euro			  buildings		 and engines		 machinery		 equipment		 Total	

Acquisition cost

  Balance at 1 January 2006			  0		 959,060		 55,519		 27,665		 1,042,244	

  Additions			  0		 293,384		 37,105		 6,250		 336,739	

  Additions through acquisitions			  0		 0		 6,014		 1,034		 7,048	

  Disposals			  0		 (147,090	)	 (47,176	)	 (660	)	 (194,926	)

  Balance at 31 December 2006			  0		 1,105,354		 51,462		 34,289		 1,191,105	

  Additions			  0		 254,353		 22,957		 12,491		 289,801

  Additions through acquisition			  28,834		 140,160		 31,085		 4,612		 204,691	

  Disposals			  0		 (149,916	)	 (4,516	)	 (9,681	)	 (164,113	)

  Balance at 31 December 2007			  28,834		 1,349,951		 100,988		 41,711		 1,521,484

Depreciation

  Balance at 1 January 2006			  0		 246,927		 25,200		 17,359		 289,486

  Depreciation charge for the year			  0		 52,744		 5,095		 4,577		 62,416

  Disposals 			  0		 (73,893	)	 (23,153	)	 (645	)	 (97,691	)

  Balance at 31 December 2006			  0		 225,778		 7,142		 21,291		 254,211	

  Depreciation charge for the year			  1,277		 69,537		 9,483		 7,426		 87,723	

  Disposals 			  0		 (11,303	)	 (2,279	)	 (8,082	)	 (21,664	)

  Balance at 31 December 2007			  1,277		 284,012		 14,346		 20,635		 320,270

Carrying amount

  At 1 January 2006			  0		 712,133		 30,319		 10,306		 752,758	

  At 31 December 2006			  0		 879,576		 44,320		 12,998		 936,894	

  At 31 December 2007			  27,557		 1,065,939		 86,642		 21,076		 1,201,214
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8. Investments in associates

In thousands of Euro			  Investments	

Acquisition cost

  Balance at 1 January 2006			  660	

  Additions			  31	

  Dividends received			  (500	)

  Share of profits			  608

  Payment received on liquidation			  (61	)

  Transfers due to consolidation in 2006			  (6	)

  Impairment losses			  (12	)

  Balance at 31 December 2006			  720	

  Dividends received			  (527	)

  Share of profits			  791	

  Payment received on liquidation			  (49	)

  Balance at 31 December 2007			  935

The Group has the following investments in associates:

	 Ownership

	 Country	 2007	 2006	

		  %	 %	

Niki Luftfahrt GmbH,  

Vienna	 Austria	 24.0	 24.0	

SCK DUS GmbH & Co. KG  

Düsseldorf *	 Germany	 24.8	 24.8	

IBERO Tours GmbH ** 	 Germany	 50.0	 50.0	

Lee & Lex Flugzeugvermietung  

GmbH, Vienna	 Austria	 24.0	 24.0	

ILTU Ireland Ltd. *** 	 Ireland	 50.0	 0	

* 	� Formerly Stockheim Air Catering GmbH & Co. KG, then TIS Germany Air  

Catering GmbH & Co. KG and finally SCK DUS GmbH & Co. KG, Düsseldorf.

** 	Accounted for as an associate due to lack of control

***	In liquidation at 31 December 2007

Summary financial information on associates — 100 per cent:

In thousands of Euro			  Assets		 Liabilities		 Equity		 Revenues		 Profit/(loss	)

2007

Niki Luftfahrt GmbH, Vienna			  *		 *		 *		 *		 *	

SCK DUS GmbH & Co. KG, Düsseldorf *** 			  4,542		 2,392		 2,150		 21,822		 1,990	

IBERO Tours GmbH, Düsseldorf			  *		 *		 *		 *		 *	

Lee & Lex Flugzeugvermietung GmbH, Vienna ***			 53,976		 57,151		 (3,174	)	 7,575		 (1,556	)	

2006

Niki Luftfahrt GmbH, Vienna			  78,114		 78,152		 (38	)	 145,150		 703	

SCK DUS GmbH & Co. KG, Düsseldorf ** 			  3,433		 3,273		 160		 22,117		 1,265	

IBERO Tours GmbH			  1,977		 1,201		 776		 3,248		 18	

Lee & Lex Flugzeugvermietung GmbH, Vienna			  56,593		 58,211		 (1,618	)	 4,267		 (1,668	)

*    	Figure is not yet available, therefore the 2006 figures were used in determining at-equity amounts 

**  	� Figure as of 31 December 2006 (audited financial statements for the nine month financial period  

1 April to 31 December 2006 plus the revenues and profit/loss from the audited financial statements  

for the three month financial period 1 January to 31 March 2006)

*** 	� According to preliminary (unaudited) financial statements as of 31 December 2007
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Stockheim Air Catering GmbH & Co. KG, Düsseldorf was 

renamed TIS Germany Airline Catering GmbH & Co. KG on  

31 March 2006, at which time the company changed its financial 

year end to 31 March and issued audited financial statements 

for the period 1 January to 31 March 2006. In the fourth quarter 

of 2006 Air Berlin acquired the remaining 76.0% ownership 

in TIS Germany Airline Catering GmbH & Co. KG and resold 

75.2% thereof to the SCK-Group, thereby increasing its owner-

ship to 24.8%. The company subsequently changed its name 

to SCK DUS GmbH & Co. KG, Düsseldorf.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition total recognised profit or 

loss in the above associates for the years ending 31 December 

2007 and 2006 is € 791 and € 608, respectively. The Group has 

not recognised losses relating to Niki Luftfahrt GmbH totalling 

€ 418 in prior periods, as the Group has no obligation in respect 

of these losses. Consequently the Group has not recognised sub-

sequent gains of € 169 in 2006 (€ 17 in 2005), as these do not 

yet compensate for the cumulative losses. Similarly the Group 

has not recognised losses relating to Lee & Lex Flugzeugver-

mietung GmbH totalling € 373 in 2007 (€ 400 in 2006), as the 

Group has no obligation in respect of these losses.

In 2007 a payment of € 49 was received on the liquidation of 

ILTU Ireland Ltd. The associate, which was acquired through 

the acquisition of LTU, is in liquidation on 31 December 2007.

9. Inventories

Inventories are made up of raw materials, supplies and spares 

and purchased merchandise as follows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Raw materials	 716		 47	

Supplies and spares	 28,791		 10,977	

Purchased merchandise	 1,318		 890	

	 30,825		 11,914

No allowance for obsolete items is required on inventories, as 

there are no material differences between the net realisable 

value and the carrying amounts.

The amount of inventories expensed in the income statement 

for 2007 and 2006 are € 89,622 and € 57,416, respectively.

Trade and other Receivables, current and non-current (Relates to note 10 on page 134)

	 Current	 Non-Current	 Total	 Current	 Non-current	 Total
In thousands of Euro	  2007	 2007	  2007	 2006	 2006 	 2006	

Trade receivables	 110,873		 0		 110,873		 49,724		 0		 49,724	

Receivables from related parties	 9,235		 1,401		 10,636		 7,253		 1,529		 8,782	

Loans receivable	 0		 3,500		 3,500		 0		 0		 0	

Accrued revenue	 6,507		 0		 6,507		 8,514		 0		 8,514	

Security deposits and deposits with suppliers	 48,697		 448		 49,145		 5,341		 0		 5,341	

Receivables for bonus and claims	 10,581		 0		 10,581		 7,759		 0		 7,759	

Receivables from sale of fixed assets	 1,326		 0		 1,326		 39,710		 0		 39,710	

Other receivables	 11,698		 0		 11,698		 0		 0		 0	

 

Receivables from tax authorities	 10,941		 0		 10,941		 10,398		 0		 10,398

Advanced payments on aircraft  

and other tangible assets	 35,747		 95,614		 131,361		 20,260		 41,086		 61,346

  Other assets	 14,594		 0		 14,594		 16,712		 0		 16,712	

	 260,199		 100,963		 361,162		 165,671		 42,615		 208,286	
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10. �Trade and other Receivables, current  

and non-current 

See table on page 133.

The Group has reclassified several of its financial assets 

amounting to € 1,529 from current to non-current in the 

prior year comparative figures.

Security deposits and deposits with suppliers relate primarily 

to amounts which are held as deposit according to supplier 

agreements and which are repaid after all obligations from 

the supplier agreement have been fulfilled. The amounts 

are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method.

Receivables from related parties include a loan receivable 

in the amount of USD 960 (€ 651) and a partial debenture 

of € 750 (30 debentures at € 25 each) from Lee & Lex 

Flugzeugvermietungs GmbH (in total € 1,401, 2006: € 

1,529). The loan is due on 30 April 2018 and has a yearly 

interest rate of 5% and the debentures are due on 30 Sep-

tember 2018 and have a yearly interest rate of 6%. 

Other assets mainly include receivables from insurance  

carriers (2007: € 1,894 and 2006: € 1,330) and suppliers 

with debit balances (2007: € 6,958 and 2006: € 5,224). 

Security deposits and deposits with suppliers relate to 

amounts which are expected to be received in cash, where-

as suppliers with debit balances relate to amounts which 

are expected to be offset against future invoices.

Advanced payments on aircraft and other tangible assets 

relate primarily to advanced payments, deposits and com-

mitment fees made under the Group’s various agreements 

for the purchase of aircraft, which are detailed in note 32 

“Capital commitments” below. Payments of € 95,642  

(2006: € 48,846) were made during the period and € 25,627 

was capitalised as aircraft were acquired in 2007 (2006:  

€ 13,204).

The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks and 

impairment losses related to trade receivables and other 

financial assets are disclosed in note 30.

11. Share capital and reserves

Share capital and share premium

On 27 April 2006, ordinary shares were increased by 44,400 

shares of € 1.00 each due to the issue of shares pursuant to the 

“2006 Employee Share Plan”. Further, a subsequent 4:1 stock 

split of each authorised ordinary share was adopted. 

During the course of a public offering on 11 May 2006, 19,565,217 

ordinary shares of € 0.25 each were issued at a total share pre-

mium of € 214,190 net of transaction costs. Additional transac-

tion costs of € 13,667 relating to the listing of existing shares are 

recognised in the income statement under financial expenses. 

On 28 March 2007 the Company issued a further 5,974,282 

ordinary shares of € 0.25 at a share price of € 16.40. Gross 

proceeds on the issue of new shares amounted to € 97,978, 

which resulted in net proceeds of € 92,783 after deducting 

transaction costs of € 5,195. The increase in share premium 

was € 93,311 net of tax.

As of 31 December 2007, the authorised share capital of Air 

Berlin was € 100,000,000 and £ 50,000 (2006: € 100,000,000 

and £ 50,000), divided into 400,000,000 ordinary shares 

of € 0.25 each and 50,000 A Shares of £ 1.00 each (2006: 

400,000,000 ordinary shares of € 0.25 each and 50.000 A 

Shares of £ 1.00 each).

Of Air Berlin’s authorised share capital, 65,717,103 ordinary 

shares of € 0.25 each and 50,000 A Shares of £ 1.00 each were 

issued and fully paid up as of 31 December 2007. Included 

in this amount are 177,600 treasury shares held by Air Berlin 

(through the Air Berlin Employee Share Trust) in connection 

with the employee share plan described below. The holders of 

ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared 

from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at 

meetings of the shareholders. 

The A Shares are redeemable at the option of Air Berlin 

only, and the holders of A Shares shall not be entitled to any 

participation in the profits or assets of Air Berlin save on a 

distribution of assets of Air Berlin among its members on a 

winding up or other return of capital (other than a redemp-

tion or purchase by Air Berlin of its own shares), in which 

case the holders of A Shares shall be entitled, in priority of  

to any holder of ordinary shares, to receive an amount equal 

to the aggregate of the capital paid up or credited as paid up 

on each A Share.
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No shares have been reserved for issue under options.

Other capital reserves

Other capital reserves are comprised of general partners’ and 

limited partners’ capital of consolidated partnerships and 

subscribed capital of consolidated entities which were reclas-

sified to other capital reserves due to the reverse acquisition 

in 2005.

Treasury shares

In connection with the amendment made to the employee 

share-based payment scheme discussed below, the Com-

pany repurchased the economic ownership (and limited all 

significant legal aspects of the ownership, such as voting 

rights) in 177,600 shares of its stock in 2006. The purchase 

price was € 0.25 per share (par value), resulting in a de-

crease in retained earnings of € 45. 

Hedge accounting reserve

The reserve for hedge accounting contains the effective por-

tion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of deriva-

tive financial instruments designated as hedges of probable 

future cash flows, net of tax.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The reserve for currency translation differences comprises all 

foreign currency differences arising from the translation of 

the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries.

Dividends

No dividends on ordinary shares or Class A shares were 

declared or paid during the period.

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve included the cumulative net change in 

the fair value of available for sale investments until the invest-

ments were derecognised in 2006.

Minority interest

As described in note 5, the minority interest of € 629 shown 

in the balance sheet relates to the 51 percent of Belair’s eq-

uity at the acquisition date.

12. Earnings per share (EPS)

The basic (and diluted) earnings per share are determined by 

dividing the profit or loss for the period by the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year. 

See page 136 for table.

The 50,000 class A shares (redeemable preference shares) do 

not entitle the holders to any participation in the profit or loss of 

Air Berlin, as dividends are discretionary. These shares therefore 

have not been included in the calculation of the weighted aver-

age number of ordinary shares outstanding above. 

The conversion of convertible bonds would have had an 

antidilutive effect on earnings per share and is therefore not 

considered in the calculation of diluted earnings per share.

Movements in share capital are summarised below:

		  Redeemable “Class A”
	 Ordinary shares	  preference shares

In thousands of shares				  	 2007		 2006		 2007		 2006	

On issue at 1 January					   59,743		 10,000		 50		 50	

Issued in connection with Employee Share Plan					   0		 44		 0		 0	

Total on issue before stock split					   59,743		 10,044		 0		 0	

Total on issue after 4:1 stock split					   0		 40,178		 0		 0	

Issued for cash (IPO on 11 May 2006)					   0		 19,565		 0		 0	

Issued for cash (new shares on 28 March 2007)					   5,974		 0		 0		 0	

On issue at 31 December					   65,717		 59,743		 50		 50	

Thereof held as treasury shares					   178		 178		 0		 0	
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13. Employee share plan

The Company introduced a share-based payment scheme in 

April 2006, which was later amended in November 2006, as 

part of the remuneration package provided to the Executive 

Directors and certain senior executives of the Group (each a 

“Participant”). 

In April 2006 the Company invited Executive Directors and 

certain senior executives of the Group (each a “Participant”) 

to subscribe for shares in a one-off award (the “Award”). 

Participants paid the nominal value for their shares. The 

Award was made subject to the conditions set out in an 

agreement entered into between the Company and each 

Participant. Participants became owner of the shares when 

they subscribed for them but were unable to sell or other-

wise dispose of the shares other than in accordance with the 

agreement. 

The plan was amended on 28 November 2006 so that the 

Company reacquired the beneficial interest in all of the 

shares under the Award and placed restrictions on the legal 

interest in the shares (i.e. voting rights). The beneficial 

interest in the shares was transferred to Ogier Employee 

Benefit Trustee Limited as trustee of the Air Berlin Em-

ployee Share Trust. The amendment was not treated as a 

modification.

Under the terms of the revised Employee Share Plan 2006 

the Participant holds (limited) legal title to the shares but 

will only be able to acquire the beneficial interest to the 

shares if certain performance conditions are met and if the 

employee remains with the Company for the entire per-

formance period (vesting period). If the conditions are not 

met, if the Participant leaves the Company before the end 

of the vesting period or if the Participant does not transfer 

payment for the shares within two weeks upon notification 

by the Company that the conditions have been met, the 

Company may require the Participant to transfer legal title 

to the shares to the Company. Participants are not entitled 

to receive dividends during the performance period. In addi-

tion, restrictions have been placed on the Participant’s legal 

interest in the shares (i.e. voting rights) during the perform-

ance period. 

Earnings per share (EPS)
 

											      (restated	)

In thousands of Euro and thousands of shares, except EPS									     2007		 2006	

Profit for the year									     20,977		 40,076

Dividends declared on redeemable “Class A” preference shares							    0		 0	

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (basic and diluted)							    20,977		 40,076

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January (adjusted for 4:1 stock split)							    59,743		 40,000	

Effect of shares issued in April 2006 in connection with Employee Share Plan					   0		 121	

Effect of shares issued in May 2006									     0		 12,597	

Effect of shares issued in March 2007									     4,550		 0	

Effect of treasury shares held									     (178	)	 (121	)	

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding (basic)							    64,115		 52,597	

Effect of share options in issue 									     175		 119	

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding (diluted)					   64,290		 52,716	

Basic earnings per share (in €)									     0.33		 0.76

Diluted earnings per share (in €)									     0.33		 0.76
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The shares are divided equally in three Tranches, each 

comprising one-third of the shares granted. 50% of the 

shares granted under each of the Tranches are subject to a 

performance condition based on return on equity achieved 

by the Company and 50% of the shares granted under each 

of the Tranches are subject to performance conditions based 

on the percentage increase in the Company’s Share price 

over a three-year period as follows:

Both performance conditions will be measured in respect of 

the First, Second and Third Tranches over the performance 

periods of three consecutive financial years ending on 31 

December 2008, 2009 and 2010 respectively. 

The right to acquire the beneficial interest in the shares 

subject to the Employee Share Plan 2006 is exercisable 

during a two week period following notification by the Com-

pany of fulfilment of the performance criteria. The exercise 

price is € 0.25 per share, the nominal value of the shares. 

The equity-settled share-based payment transactions are 

measured at fair value on the grant date in accordance with 

IFRS 2. The weighted average fair value of these options 

was € 8.95 at the measurement date. The fair value of the

options granted was determined using the binomial model 

under the following assumptions:

  �Volatility: 40%

  �Dividends: 0

  �Risk-free interest rate: 4 %

Volatility was estimated by a peer group analysis in the airline 

sector, adjusted for a “new issuer” premium.

The number and weighted average exercise price of share 

options during the period was as follows:

No options were exercised or lapsed during the period.

Total expense in the income statement relating to the  

Employee Share Plan was € 390 in 2007 (€ 270 in 2006).

							    Weighted				  Weighted	
					   Number of		 average		 Number of		 average 
					   share options		 exercise price		 share options		 exercise price
Share options					   2007		 2007		 2006		 2006

Outstanding at the beginning of the period					   177,600		 0.25		 0		 —

Granted during the period					   0		 0.25		 177,600		 0.25

Forfeited during the period					   3,600		 0.25		 0		 0.25

Exercised during the period					   0		 0.25		 0		 0.25

Expired during the period					   0		 0.25		 0		 0.25

Outstanding at the end of the period					   174,000		 0.25		 177,600		 0.25

Exercisable at the end of the period					   0		 0.25		 0		 0.25

Tranche and three-year performance 	 Total number of		 Threshold return on		 Threshold share 
period (ending 31 December)	  shares in Tranche	 	 equity element 	  price growth element

Tranche 1: 2008	 59,200		 13%		 35%

Tranche 2: 2009	 59,200		 14%		 38%

Tranche 3: 2010	 59,200		 15%		 40%
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14. Pension liabilities / Employee benefits

The Group held provisions for the following employee benefits 

at 31 December 2007:

In thousands of Euro	 Note	 2007	 2006	

Pension liabilities 		  1,205	 0	

Provision for anniversary bonuses 	 15	 7,546	 0	

Provision for old age part time 

(early retirement) 	 15	  3,556	 0	

Total employee benefits		  12,307

The provisions for anniversary bonuses and old age part time 

(early retirement) are described in note 15.

Defined benefit plans

In 2007 the Company entered into a defined benefit pension 

plan for its Executive Directors. In addition the Group has a 

defined benefit pension plan for certain employees of dba. 

Both pension plans are funded through payments to qualified 

insurance contracts.

The development of the Group’s defined benefit obligations 

during the period is as follows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Present value of funded obligations	 8,270		 0	

Fair value of plan assets	 (7,065	)	 0	

Pension liabilities	 1,205		 0	

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation 

are as follows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Defined benefit obligation  

as at 1 January	 0		 0	

Current service cost 	 1,770		 0	

Past service cost	 6,644		 0	

Interest on obligation	 350				  0

Actuarial gains	 (494	)			  0	

Defined benefit obligation 

as at 31 December	 8,270		 0

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Fair value of plan assets as at 1 January	 0		 0	

Contribution	 7,227		 0	

Expected return on plan assets	 0		 0	

Actuarial losses	 (162	)			  0	

Fair value of plan assets as  

at 31 December	 7,065		 0

Plan assets consist exclusively of external contracts with insurance 

companies in Germany. These insurances could potentially include 

shares in Air Berlin Plc. However, due to strict requirements in 

Germany regarding the structure of insurance companies, the 

percentage of Air Berlin shares held would be minimal.

The actual return on plan assets was €  –162 during the period. 

No experience adjustment were made during the period.

The amount recognised as pension expense in profit or loss is as 

follows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Current service cost	 1,770		 0	

Interest on obligation	 350		 0	

Past service cost	 2,625		 0	

Expected return on plan assets	 0		 0	

Net actuarial gains 

recognised in the period	 (332	)			  0	

Pension expense	 4,413		 0

The group expects to contribute € 3,240 to its defined benefit 

pension plans in 2008.

Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date are as follows:

	 2007		 2006*	

Discount rate at 31 December	 5.00 — 5.25 %		 4.50 %	

Expected return on plan  

assets at 1 January	 2.75 — 4.00 %		 2.75 %	

Future salary increases	 3.00 %		 3.00 %	

Cost of living adjustment 

(future pension increases)	 1.00 %		 1.00 %	

 * for the calculation of prior service cost
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Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published 

statistics and mortality tables (“Richttafeln 2005 G” published 

by Heubeck-Richttafeln-GmbH). The average remaining life 

expectancy of an individual retiring at age 65 is 20 years for 

males and 25 years for females.

Defined contribution plans

Through the acquisition of dba in 2006, the Group acquired 

a defined contribution pension plan covering all employees 

of dba, to which the Group makes contributions. The net 

pension expense recorded in the profit and loss in 2007 as 

a result of the defined contribution plan is € 240 (2006: € 355).

As employees in Germany are covered by and required to 

contribute to the German social security system, Air Berlin 

does not have any other employee benefit plans at the 

balance sheet date. The Group paid contributions into the 

German social security system of € 19,082 in 2007 (€ 4,476 

in 2006).

Thereof € 11,036 relating to the provision for anniversary bonuses 

and old age part time early retirement was classified as non-

current as at 31 December 2007 (2006: € 0). The provision for 

repair of damaged aircraft relates to the expected cost of repair of 

aircraft which have been damaged not in the ordinary course of 

use and have not been repaired as of the balance sheet date. The 

estimated amount is based on Air Berlin’s historical experience and 

is recognised at the time the aircraft is damaged. The provision for 

airport fees relates to a claim in which the airport is seeking fees of 

€ 1,543 in 2007 due to infrastructure measures (€501 in 2006, at 

which time it was not recorded in the balance sheet as it was not 

considered probable that it would result in an outflow).

As a result of the existing collective labour agreement, older 

employees of LTU (age 55 and above) have the opportunity to 

take part in the old age part time (“Altersteilzeit”) program, which 

is a form of early retirement in which the employee either works 

part time for the whole period or works full time during the first 

few years and not at all in the following years until reaching the 

official age of retirement. Thirteen employees have signed such 

agreements as of the balance sheet date, of which three will begin 

part time in 2009. A discount rate of 5,5% and an expected salary 

increase of 2% was used to calculate the provision. Uncertainties 

exist as to the life expectancy of the employees and as to the future 

salary at the time the contract takes effect.

The provision for anniversary bonuses was also calculated using 

a discount rate of 5,5% and an expected yearly salary increase of 

2%. Uncertainties exist in the probability that the employees will 

remain with the Group until they are entitled to receive their an-

niversary bonus and as to their salaries at that time. The provision 

was accounted for in accordance with IAS 19.

The provision for onerous contracts relates to expected operating 

losses in connection with the unfulfilled orders of LTU at the acquisi- 

tion date. The provision was recorded at its fair value as part of the 

revaluation to purchase accounting in the purchase price allocation 

described in note 5. The calculation of this fair value required judge- 

ments as to the expected losses on the fulfilment of these orders.

15. Provisions

					   Additions 					     
					   through						   Balance at  
In thousands of Euro	 At 1.1.2007		 Additions		 acquisition		 Reversal		 Utilisation		 31.12.2007	

Repair of damaged aircraft	 7		 235		 0		 0		 (7	)	 235	

Provision for airport fees	 0		 1,543		 0		 0		 0		 1,543	

Provision for anniversary bonuses	 0		 0		 7,756		 (210	)	 0		 7,546

Provision for old age part time  

early retirement	 0		 0		 3,583		 (27	)	 0		 3,556

Provision for onerous contracts	 0		 0		 35,468		 0		 (23,962	)	 11,506

	 7		 1,778	 	 46,807		 (237	)	 (23,969	)	 24,386
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16. �Interest-bearing liabilities and liabilities  

due to banks from assignment of future lease 

payments 

This note provides information about the terms and condi-

tions of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings, 

all of which are measured at amortised cost. More informa-

tion about the Group’s exposure to interest rate, foreign 

currency and liquidity risk is provided in Note 30.

Interest-bearing liabilities

The Group has entered into various interest-bearing liabili-

ties. The carrying amounts for the years 2007 and 2006,  

classified according to their maturity dates and borrowing 

rates, are as follows: See table below.

The bank overdrafts are due in 2007 or 2008 for 2006 and 

2007 respectively.

Of this amount € 122,402 (2006: € 97,997) is classified  

within current liabilities in the balance sheet. Bank loans 

are collateralised by engines and aircraft in the amount of  

€ 15,916 (2006: € 23,012).

The finance lease liability for technical equipment was shown 

under Trade and other payables in 2006. This amount (€ 5,810 

at 31 December 2006) has been reclassified to Interest-bearing 

liabilities in 2007 and the 2006 figures have been adjusted. The 

finance lease liabilities are detailed in note 17 below.

Interest-bearing liabilities 

				    		  Carrying 	 Carrying
			   Secured /	 	 Maturity	 amount  	 amount
In thousands of Euro		  	 Unsecured	 Currency	  date 	 31.12.2007	 31.12.2006

Interest Rate

 

EURIBOR plus 1.5% spread					   Unsecured		 Euro		 2007		 0		 5,903

3 month LIBOR plus 1.2% spread					   Unsecured		 USD		 2009		 15,763		 0

Fixed rate at 5.82%					   Unsecured		 Euro		 2008		 4,010		 4,010

Bank loan, fixed rate at 5.79%					   Unsecured		 Euro		 2008		 100,000		 0

1 month LIBOR plus 3% spread					   Secured		 USD		 2009		 0		 1,983

1 month LIBOR plus 2% spread					   Secured		 USD		 2011		 4,080		 5,833

1 month LIBOR plus 2% spread					   Secured		 USD		 2012		 7,738		 10,029

1 month LIBOR plus 2% spread					   Secured		 USD		 2013		 4,264		 5,382

LIBOR plus 1.00% spread					   Secured		 USD		 2017		 18,585		 0

Convertible bonds — liability component, 

fixed rate at 1.5%					   Unsecured		 Euro		 2027		 182,007		 0

Finance lease liabilities, aircraft					   Unsecured		 USD		 2008 — 2018		 47,232		 0

Finance lease liabilities, technical  

equipment					   Unsecured		 Euro		 2008 — 2009		 2,061		 5,810

Finance lease liabilities, buildings					   Unsecured		 Euro		 2008 — 2022		 52,701		 0

Bank overdraft					   Unsecured		 USD				  0		 6,200

Bank overdraft					   Unsecured		 Euro				  108		 81,627

											      438,550		 126,777
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Payments for the above-mentioned interest-bearing liabilities are 

due as follows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Less than one year	 122,402		 97,997

Between one and five years	 235,498		 24,965

More than five years	 80,650		 3,815	

	 438,550		 126,777

Convertible bonds

On 11 April 2007 the Group issued € 220,000 convertible 

bonds due 2027. The bond issue is made up of 2,200 bonds 

with a principal amount of € 100,000 each, earning yearly 

interest of 1.5%. The initial conversion price is € 22.47 

which results in an initial conversion ratio of 4,450 ordinary 

shares per bond. Gross proceeds from the bond issue 

amounted to € 220,000. Transaction costs incurred were  

€ 6,391.

The convertible bond was split into its equity and debt com-

ponents in accordance with IAS 32. The equity component, 

less transaction costs net of tax, is shown as an increase in 

share premium, and the debt component of the convertible 

bond is included under interest-bearing liabilities in the 

balance sheet as follows:

Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds			  220,000	

Transaction costs			  (6,391	)

Net proceeds			  213,609	

Amount classified as equity			  (39,934	)

Accrued interest			  8,332	

Carrying amount at 31 December 2007	 		 182,007	

The equity component, which is shown net of taxes of € 12,503 

in the balance sheet, totalled € 27,431 at 31 December 2007. 

The effect of the change in tax rate (discussed in note 27 

below) amounted to € 3,031 and was recorded as an increase 

in the equity component of the convertible bond. An analysis of 

this amount is as follows:

Equity component of convertible bond			  41,129

Less: transaction costs allocated to 

equity component			  (1,195	)

Total amount classified as equity			  39,934

Taxes on equity component at 38.9%			  (15,534	)

Effect of change in tax rate			  3,031

Equity component of convertible bond, 

net of tax			  27,431

The bonds are convertible into 4,450 ordinary shares  

per bond at the option of the bondholder at any time be- 

ginning 40 days following closing and ending 14 days 

before maturity (21 May 2007 to 25 March 2027). In addi-

tion, the bondholder has the option to require the Company 

to repurchase the bonds at principal amount plus accrued 

interest on 11 April 2012, 11 April 2017, and 11 April 2022 

or upon change in control. The Company has the option to 

redeem the bonds in whole at their principal amount plus 

accrued interest at any time as of 30 April 2014, so long as 

the trading price of the Air Berlin share exceeds 150% of 

the conversion price.

Liabilities due to banks from assignment of future 

lease payments 

The Group entered into financing agreements with commer-

cial banks by which the Group assigned intra-group lease 

payments to the banks. The carrying amounts for the years 

2007 and 2006, classified according to their maturity dates 

and borrowing rates, are as follows:

See table on page 142.

Of this amount € 62,935 (2006: € 63,067) is classified within 

current liabilities in the balance sheet. The assigned intra-

group lease payments are secured over aircraft.



p142 AIR BERLIN ANNUAL REPORT 2007

06) �Financial Statements

Payments for the above-mentioned liabilities due to banks 

from assignment of future intra-group lease payments are due 

as follows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Less than one year	 62,935		 63,067

Between one and five years	 284,581		 272,326

More than five years	 244,326		 223,088

	 591,842		 558,481

17. Leasing

Operating leases

The Group leases a number of aircraft and one Unix-Server 

under leasing agreements which qualify as operating lease 

agreements. The leases typically run for a period between 

five and seven years and terminate automatically upon expiry 

of the lease term. Lease payments are denominated in USD 

and vary depending upon the change in the market rate of 

interest. No restrictions have been placed on the lessee as a 

result of these leases.

In addition the Group leases a number of warehouse and 

office facilities under operating leases. The leases expire 

between 2008 and 2014, with an option to renew the leases 

after these dates. 

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as fol-

lows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Less than one year	 315,522		 154,052	

Between one and five years	 799,724		 349,996	

More than five years	 207,973		 14,129	

	 1,323,219		 518,177	

During the year ended 31 December 2007, € 280,797 (2006: 

€ 139,875) was recognised as an expense in the income 

statement in respect of operating leases.

Liabilities due to banks from assignment of future lease payments 

				    		  Carrying 	 Carrying
			   Secured /	 	 Maturity	 amount 	 amount
In thousands of Euro			   Unsecured	 Currency	  date	 31.12.2007 	 31.12.2006 	

Interest Rate

EURIBOR plus 0.625% spread					   Secured		 EUR		 2010		 0		 89,395

EURIBOR plus 0.85% spread					   Secured		 EUR		 2011		 39,965		 45,896

LIBOR plus 1.30% spread					   Secured		 USD		 2011		 841		 1,139

LIBOR plus 0.85% spread					   Secured		 USD		 2012		 30,825		 39,397

EURIBOR plus 0.85% spread					   Secured		 EUR		 2012		 16,448		 18,914

EURIBOR plus 1.10% spread					   Secured		 EUR		 2012		 16,334		 18,708

LIBOR plus 1.30% spread					   Secured		 USD		 2012		 866		 0

LIBOR plus 0.95% spread					   Secured		 USD		 2013		 14,490		 18,238

LIBOR plus 1.20% spread					   Secured		 EUR		 2013		 17,969		 20,328

LIBOR plus 1.25% spread					   Secured		 USD		 2013		 28,890		 36,361

LIBOR plus 1.85% spread					   Secured		 USD		 2013		 0		 3,986

LIBOR plus 1.85% spread					   Secured		 USD		 2014		 16,431		 17,227

LIBOR plus 1.30% spread					   Secured		 USD		 2015		 79,342		 0

LIBOR plus 1.30% spread					   Secured		 USD		 2016		 247,525		 225,354

LIBOR plus 1.30% spread					   Secured		 USD		 2017		 39,890		 23,538

LIBOR plus 1.05% spread					   Secured		 USD		 2019		 42,026		 0

											      591,842		 558,481
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The Group also leases several of its aircraft as lessor under 

agreements which qualify as operating leases.  

The lease term is twelve years, and lease payments are  

in USD. Future minimum lease payments are receivable as 

follows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Less than one year	 13,552		 0	

Between one and five years	 54,208		 0	

More than five years	 93,735		 0	

	 161,495		 0	

No contingent rents were recognised as lease income in the 

period. 

Finance leases

The Group leases certain technical equipment under an 

agreement which qualifies as a finance lease. The finance 

lease relates to the technical equipment for nine (2006: 

fifteen) aircraft leased under operating leases with various 

leasing terms, the latest of which currently expires in May 

2009. The leasing rate is based on flight hours per aircraft, 

with a guaranteed minimum number of flight hours per 

aircraft. Any extensions of the underlying aircraft lease 

agreements or any new aircraft leases of the same make 

and model will automatically be included in the lease of 

technical equipment. The leasing rate is adjusted on a 

yearly basis. No restrictions have been placed on the lessee  

as a result of these leases. Changes in the terms of the lease 

agreement resulted in a reduction in the liability and in the 

net book value of the technical equipment of € 387 in 2007.

The Group also leases two aircraft under agreements which 

qualify as finance leases. The lease agreements are for 

terms of eleven years, the latest of which expires in 2018. 

The agreements contain various put and call options relating 

to the right of the lessee to purchase the aircraft or the right 

of the lessor to require the lessee to purchase the aircraft on 

certain dates at prices and conditions set out in the agree-

ments. In addition, the lessor has the right to require the 

lessee to name a purchaser at the end of the lease term 

for a fixed price (guaranteed residual value). Lease payments 

are in USD and vary based on changes in the interest rate 

component of the lease. The present value of future minimum 

lease payments was therefore determined by using the expected 

lease payments based on the preliminary interest rate stated in 

the lease.

In addition, through the purchase of LTU the Group now 

leases two airport buildings under agreements which  

qualify as finance leases. The leases expire in 2011 and 

2022. The assets and liabilities were recorded initially at 

their fair values at 31 July 2007 in connection with the  

purchase price allocation and depreciated / amortised as  

of that date.

The net book value of assets capitalised at 31 December 

2007 as a result of finance leases is detailed in note 7 above.

Future minimum lease payments are as follows:

Future minimum lease payments are as follows:

	 As at 31 December 2007	 As at 31 December 2006	

					   Future				  Future			  
					   minimum lease		 Discounted to		 minimum lease		 Discounted to 
In thousands of Euro					   payments		 present value		 payments		 present value

					 

Less than one year					   14,092		 7,836		 3,557		 3,441	

Between one and five years					   48,412		 28,054		 2,541		 2,369	

More than five years					   87,819		 66,104		 0		 0	

					   150,323		 101,994		 6,098		 5,810	

No contingent leasing payments were recorded in profit and loss in 2007 (2006: € 0).
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Accrued liabilities include expenses for services provided and 

goods received before the balance sheet date but not yet invoiced, 

credit notes and commissions to travel agencies in connection 

with the sale of tickets, accrued vacation and payroll and provi-

sions for aircraft and engine maintenance checks and overhauls.

Information about the Group’s exposure to foreign currency and 

liquidity risk related to trade payables and other financial liabili-

ties is provided in Note 30.

19. Advanced payments received

Advanced payments primarily relate to payments received 

in advance for single-seat ticket sales for which the sched-

uled flight is to be provided in the following financial period 

and for which no revenue has been recorded.

Advanced payments received in 2006 for the sale of property, 

plant and equipment in the amount of € 40,000 were also 

recorded under advanced payments received in the balance 

sheet at 31 December 2006. The expected sale did not take 

place and the amount was repaid in 2007.

20. Revenue

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Single-seat ticket sales	 1,453,364		 867,919	

Bulk ticket sales to charter  

and package tour operators	 861,250		 589,904	

Duty free	 27,516		 16,336	

Ground and other services	 194,370		 101,236	

	 2,536,500		 1,575,395	

Ground and other services primarily include codeshare 

revenue (i.e. revenue received from other airlines for the 

sharing of flights) and ancillary sales.

Segment information

All revenues derive from the principal activity as an air- 

line and include flights, commissions, inflight and related 

sales. Since Air Berlin’s aircraft fleet is employed across 

its scheduled destinations on an as needed basis, there  

is no proper basis of allocating such assets and related  

liabilities, income and expenses to geographical segments. 

21. Other operating income

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Gain on disposal of fixed  

assets	 1,765		 21,407	

Income from administrative 

services provided to Niki  	 680		 476	

Income from insurance  

claims	 2,946		 432	

Other	 9,184		 8,552	

	 14,575		 30,867

18. Trade and other payables, current and non-current

	  Current	 Non-Current	  Total	 Current	 Non-Current 	 Total	
In thousands of Euro	  2007	 2007	  2007	 2006	 2006 	 2006	

Trade payables	 114,938		 0		 114,938		 67,706		 0		 67,706

Other financial liabilities 	 3,160		 0		 3,160		 2,124		 0		 2,124

Trade payables and other financial liabilities	 118,098		 0		 118,098		 69,830		 0		 69,830

Accrued liabilities	 289,544		 26,164		 315,708		 99,026		 0		 99,026

Receivables with credit balances	 1,867		 0		 1,867		 6,406		 0		 6,406

Payroll tax	 6,834		 0		 6,834		 3,299		 0		 3,299

VAT	 22,569		 0		 22,569		 41		 0		 41

Social insurance contributions	 361		 0		 361		 134		 0		 134

Other non-financial liabilities	 3,016		 0		 3,016		 648		 0		 648

	 442,289		 26,164		 468,453		 179,384		 0		 179,384



p145 AIR BERLIN ANNUAL REPORT 2007

22. Expenses for materials and services

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006

Fuel for aircraft	 561,751		 345,839	

Catering costs and cost of  

materials for in-flight sales	 85,708		 59,897	

Airport & handling  

charges	 596,184		 412,104	

Operating leases for aircraft  

and equipment	 263,843		 128,156

Navigation charges	 186,666		 123,012	

Other	 42,283		 25,493	

	 1,736,435		 1,094,501

23. Personnel expenses and staff numbers

The aggregate payroll costs were as follows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006

Wages and salaries	 262,513		 139,885	

Pension expense	 23,735		 4,831	

Social security	 25,554		 18,577	

	 311,802		 163,293	

Pension expense relates to the defined benefit plan for the 

Executive Directors of € 3,084 (2006: € 0) and the dba pen-

sion plan of € 1,329 (2006: € 0), contributions paid to defined 

contribution plans of € 240 (2006: € 355) and to the German 

social security system of € 19,082 (2006: € 4,476) during the 

period. Further details regarding the pension plans are found 

in note 14 above.

Remuneration of the executive directors (key management) 

personnel is as follows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006

Basic remuneration	 2,000		 1,600

Bonus	 1,800		 2,000

Share based payment expense	 272		 184

Other	 84		 47

	 4,156		 3,831

The highest paid director received € 1,992 and € 1,749 in 

total remuneration in 2007 and 2006, respectively. Directors’ 

Remuneration is detailed in the Directors’ Remuneration 

Report on pages 96 to 103.

The average number of persons employed by the group (in-

cluding directors) during the year and the number of employees 

at year-end, analysed by category and on a full-time basis, were 

as follows: See table on page 146.

24. Other operating expenses

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006

Sales commissions paid to agencies	 31,130		 25,806

Repairs and maintenance of 

technical equipment 	 125,094		 58,352

Advertising	 51,701		 34,751

Insurances	 20,848		 18,640

Hardware and software  

expenses	 42,627		 18,752

Bank charges	 16,070		 9,413

Travel expenses for cabin crews	 19,872		 10,459

Expenses for premises and vehicles	 19,244		 12,541

Training and other personnel costs	 15,225		 5,351

Phone and postage	 5,072		 3,527

Allowances for receivables	 3,358		 2,340

Consulting fees	 8,171		 2,093

Remuneration of the auditor	 2,866		 1,623

Other	 26,369		 16,440	

	 387,647		 220,088

Remuneration of the Auditor is as follows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006

Audit of the annual accounts	 116		 89

Audit of accounts of subsidiaries of  

the company	 895		 348

Other services pursuant to   

legislation	 350		 282

Taxation services	 533		 500

Other services	 972		 404	*

	 2,866		 1,623

*	 in 2006 a further € 291 was included in financial expenses below
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25. Net financing costs

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006

Interest on interest-bearing  

liabilities	 (49,464	)	 (28,090	)

Other financial expenses	 (160	)	 (13,815	)

Impairment of associates	 (0	)	 (12	)

Financial expenses	 (49,624	)	 (41,917	)

	

Interest income on fixed  

deposits	 11,306		 7,172	

Other financial income	 2,545		 217	

Financial income	 13,851		 7,389	

	

Foreign exchange gains	 225		 14,857	

Net financing costs	 (35,548	)	 (19,671	)

In 2006 other financial expenses included € 13,667 related 

to the listing of existing shares. As described in note 4 n) 

above, exchange rate differences not arising from interest-

bearing liabilities and other financing activities are reclas-

sified to the relevant line items within operating expenses. 

Total net foreign exchange gains (losses)are reconciled to 

foreign exchange gains in profit or loss as follows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006

Total net foreign exchange  

gains (losses) recognised in  

profit or loss	 (36,613	)	 20,476

Thereof reclassified to 

operating expenses	 36,838		 (5,619	)

Foreign exchange gains 

in financial result	 225		 14,857

26. Share of profit of associates

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

IBERO Tours GmbH	 9		 43	

Stockheim Air Catering GmbH & Co. KG	 733		 565	

ILTU Ireland Ltd.	 49		 0	

	 791		 608	

27. Income tax expenses and Deferred taxes

Profit or loss before tax is primarily attributable to Germany. 

Income tax expense is as follows:

			  (restated	)
In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Current income tax expense 	 (3,804	)	 (3,147	)

Deferred income tax benefit (expense) 	 38,119		 (1,862)	

Total income tax benefit (expense)	 34,315		 (5,009)	

In 2006, as part of the reverse acquisition the Group accounted 

for a tax benefit of € 9,981 in relation to a step-up election 

for the carrying value in the Pegasus Sechste Luftfahrt-

beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH’s share of Air Berlin PLC & Co. 

Luftverkehrs KG, which it anticipated being made available to 

the Group. However, this benefit was not in fact available and 

the 2006 results and net assets have been restated accordingly 

to reflect this position. The adjustment arising impacts the in-

come tax credit, the deferred tax liability and therefore retained 

earnings, profit and earnings per share for the year ended  

31 December 2006 as folIows: See table on page 147.

number of employees (note 23)

					   On annual 	 On annual		 As at 31 	 As at 31 
					   average		 average		 December		 December
Employees					   2007		 2006		 2007		 2006

Flight and cabin crew					   3,327		 1,807		 4,792		 2,235

Sales, operations and administration					   2,504		 1,492		 3,568		 1,873

					   5,831		 3,299		 8,360		 4,108
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The Group is subject to both corporate tax and trade tax. The 

corporate tax rate for retained and distributed profits was 25% 

in 2007. In addition to corporate tax, a solidarity charge is also 

levied amounting to 5.5% of the payable corporate tax. Trade tax 

is deductible for corporate tax purposes in 2007 and the effec-

tive trade tax varies depending on the municipality in which the 

company operates. In 2007, the total tax rate (including corporate 

tax and trade tax) for the Air Berlin group amounted to 38.90% 

(2006: 38.90%). As a result of variations in the trade tax, sev-

eral subsidiaries of the Air Berlin Group have tax rates which 

differ from the 38,90% group tax rate. The difference to the 

group tax rate is shown as “tax rate difference” in the tax rate 

reconciliation.

The corporate tax reform 2008 was finally concluded by the 

German “Bundesrat” (upper chamber of German parliament)  

on 6 July 2007. It took effect 1 January 2008. The major 

changes were to reduce the corporate tax from 25% to 15%, 

to reduce the basis (“Meßzahl”) used for calculating the trade 

tax and to eliminate the deductibility of trade tax. The new 

Group tax rate (corporate and trade tax) is 30.18% as of 1 

January 2008.

In accordance with IAS 12 the effect of the resulting change 

in deferred tax liabilities was recognised in the third quarter 

of 2007 in the income statement, except to the extent that 

it relates to items previously charged or credited directly to 

equity. The amount of deferred tax income resulting from 

the change in the tax law was estimated to be € 22,782 as at 

30 September 2007. This estimate was revised in the fourth 

quarter to reflect actual changes in temporary tax differences 

and utilisation of tax loss carryforwards during the fourth 

quarter. The actual amount of deferred tax income resulting 

from the change in the tax law was € 7,995 as calculated at 

31 December 2007. 

The reasons for the differences between the tax burden ex-

pected on the basis of profit for the period and the recognised 

income tax expenses are as follows: 

			  (restated	)
In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

(Loss) profit before tax	 (13,338	)	 45,085

Expected income tax benefit  

(expense) at 38.9% 	 5,188		 (17,538	)

Effect of change in tax rate	 7,995		 0

Recognition of tax loss carry- 

forwards previously not recognised	 4,747		 10,365

Tax rate difference current year	 643		 761

Effect of transfer of certain aircraft and 

related financing to foreign subsidiaries	 16,877		 0

Utilisation of tax loss carryforwards 	 0		 1,285

Effect of differences in tax base	 (834	)	 0

Current tax benefits 

previous years	 (93	)	 0

Other	 (208	)	 118

Total income tax benefit (expense)	 34,315		 (5,009)

As mentioned above, parts of the group are subject to trade tax at 

lower or higher rates than the other group companies. In addition, 

reconciliation of prior year reported figures to restated amounts

							    Original 			  Restated
In thousands of Euro							    balance 2006		 Adjustment		  balance 2006

Income tax expenses and deferred tax

Current income taxes							    (3,147	)	 0		 (3,147	)

Deferred tax income benefit							    8,119		 (9,981	)	 (1,862	)

Total income tax benefit / (expense)							    4,972		 (9,981	)	 (5,009	)

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities	

Deferred tax assets							    96,589		 (9,981	)	 86,608

Deferred tax liability							    (135,563	)	 0		 (135,563	)

Deferred tax liabilities, net							    (38,974	)	 (9,981	)	 (48,955	)

Retained earnings as at 31 December 2006							    20,503		 (9,981	)	 10,522

Profit for year 31 December 2006							    50,057		 (9,981	)	 40,076

Basic earnings per share (in €)							    0.95		 (0.19	)	 0.76

Diluted earnings per share (in €)							    0.95		 (0.19	)	 0.76
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foreign subsidiaries are subject to different tax rates. This leads to a 

tax rate difference in the amount of € 643 in 2007 (€ 761 in 2006).

As of 31 December 2007, total tax loss carryforwards for which 

deferred tax assets were capitalised amounted to € 366,880 for 

trade tax purposes and € 223,898 for corporate tax purposes. As 

of 31 December 2007, no deferred tax assets were capitalised for 

existing loss carryforwards of € 826,766 for corporate tax and  

€ 574,210 for trade tax. The tax loss carryforwards are not subject 

to expiration. However, the usage of tax loss carryforwards may 

be limited due to minimum tax provisions. According to German 

Corporate Tax Law (KStG) and Trade Tax Law (GewStG), tax loss 

carryforwards may be used unlimited up to the amount of € 1,000 

of profits for the year. The remaining profits may be off-set with 

tax loss carryforwards only by 60% of the profits for the year. De-

ferred tax assets have been recognised accordingly. This assump-

tion is corroborated by the taxable income resulting from reversals 

of deferred tax liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

			  (restated	)
In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Deferred tax assets

Finance lease liabilities and  

deferred income	 15,854		 0

Foreign currency receivables and  

derivatives	 23,274		 18,278

Items recorded in equity net 			

of tax (tax loss carryforwards)	 6,414		 9,970

Tax loss carryforwards	 73,168		 58,360

	 118,710		 86,608

Deferred tax liabilities

Aircraft and engines and related  

liabilities	 (71,854	)	 (106,706	)

Land and buildings	 (8,653	)	 0

Intangible assets	 (28,955	)	 (26,822	)

Other assets and prepaid expenses	 (784	)	 0

Technical equipment	 (620	)	 (275	)

Leasehold improvements	 (86	)	 (91	)

Accrued liabilities and provisions	 (11,479	)	 (1,563	)

Equity component of convertible bond	 (12,184	)	 0

Foreign currency liabilities and derivatives	 (198	)	 (106	)

	 (134,813	)	 (135,563	)

continued above

continued

Offsetting	 118,710		 86,608

Deferred tax liabilities, net	 (16,103	)	 (48,955	)

Deferred tax liability, net beginning  

of period	 (48,955	)	 (96,833	)

Change in deferred tax liabilities	 32,852		 47,878

thereof resulting from purchase  

price allocation	 (14,399	)	 (27,718	)

thereof related to cash flow hedges  

and items recorded in equity	 19,666		 (22,022	)

Deferred income tax benefit (expense)	 38,119		 (1,862	)

28. Cash Flow Statement

The Cash Flow Statement of the Air Berlin Group is presented 

according to the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents 

include cash, bank balances and fixed-term deposits with banks 

with a maturity of less than three months. 

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Cash	 349		 409

Bank balances	 85,211		 54,266

Fixed-term deposits	 383,098		 261,246

Cash and cash equivalents	 468,658		 315,921

Bank overdrafts used for cash  

management purposes	 (108	)	 (87,827	)

Cash and cash equivalents in  

the statement of cash flows	 468,550		 228,094
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The Group has reclassified positive market values of  

derivatives amounting to € 2,801 and negative market 

values of derivatives amounting to € 18,668 from  

current to non-current in the prior year comparative 

figures.

Hedge accounting is discussed in note 30g below.

29. Derivatives

Positive and negative market values of derivatives are as follows:

	  Current	 Non-Current	  Total	 Current	 Non-Current 	 Total	
In thousands of Euro	  2007	 2007	  2007	 2006	 2006 	 2006	

Positive market values of derivatives  

classified as held for trading:						  

Forward contracts	 13,107		 87		 13,194		 0		 331		 331

Foreign currency options	 655		 1,136		 1,791		 196		 0		 196

Commodity-swaps	 137		 0		 137		 0		 0		 0

Total positive market values of derivatives  

classified as held for trading	 13,899		 1,223		 15,122		 196		 331		 527

Positive market values of derivatives  

classified as hedge accounting:

Forward contracts	 242		 0		 242		 1,184		 2,470		 3,654

Foreign currency options	 70		 0		 70		 0		 0		 0

Commodity-swaps	 67,755		 672		 68,427		 35		 0		 35

Commodity-options	 2,396		 0		 2,396		 0		 0		 0

Cross currency interest rate swaps	 0		 182		 182		 0		 0		 0

Total positive market values of derivatives  

classified as hedge accounting	 70,463		 854		 71,317		 1,219		 2,470		 3,689

Total positive market values of derivatives	 84,362		 2,077		 86,439		 1,415		 2,801		 4,216

 

Negative market values of derivatives  

classified as held for trading:

Forward contracts	 12,144		 0		 12,144		 0		 212		 212

Foreign currency options	 3,301		 1,056		 4,357		 257		 0		 257

Cross currency interest rate swaps	 0		 67,022		 67,022		 0		 15,944		 15,944

Total negative market values of derivatives  

classified as held for trading	 15,445		 68,078		 83,523		 257		 16,156		 16,413

Negative market values of derivatives  

classified as hedge accounting:

Forward contracts	 65,124		 12,839		 77,963		 12,086		 2,512		 14,598

Foreign currency options	 1,391		 0		 1,391		 0		 0		 0

Commodity-swaps	 0		 0		 0		 20,191		 0		 20,191

Cross currency interest rate swaps	 0		 693		 693		 0		 0		 0

Total negative market values of derivatives  

classified as hedge accounting	 66,515		 13,532		 80,047		 32,277		 2,512		 34,789

Total negative market values of derivatives	 81,960		 81,610		 163,570		 32,534		 18,668		 51,202
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30. Financial risk management 

a) Credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum 

credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit at the reporting 

date was:

		  Carrying	 Carrying 

		  amount	 amount

In thousands of Euro	 Note	 2007	 2006

Trade receivables		  110,873	 49,724

Receivables from related parties		  10,636	 8,782

Loans receivable		  3,500	 0

Accrued revenue		  6,507	 8,514

Security deposits and deposits 

with suppliers		  49,145	 5,341

Receivables from bonus and  

claims		  10,581	 7,759

Receivables from sale of fixed assets		  1,326	 39,710

Other receivables		  11,698	 0

Loans and receivables	 10	 204,266	 119,830

Positive market values of  

derivatives classified as held  

for trading	 29	 15,122	 527

Positive market values of  

derivatives classified as  

hedge accounting	 29	 71,317	 3,689

Cash and cash equivalents	 28	 468,658	 315,921

		  759,363	 439,967

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the 

reporting date by type of customer was:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Receivables from single-seat 

ticket sales	 4,407		 3,041

Receivables from charter sales	 18,025		 3,008

Receivables from credit card companies	 23,218		 23,718

Receivables from IATA clearing 

house (“BSP” Reisebüros)	 18,441		 4,112

Other trade receivables	 46,782		 15,845

	 110,873		 49,724

Other trade receivables relate primarily to receivables from other 

airlines for technical services (2007: € 7,370, 2006: € 0) and to 

receivables from cargo services (2007: € 9,835, 2006: € 0).

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables by 

geographic region at the reporting date was:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Germany	 66,069		 33,089	

EU	 23,655		 8,289	

Other	 21,149		 8,346	

	 110,873		 49,724

The Group’s most significant customer accounts for € 4,790 of 

the carrying amount of trade receivables at 31 December 2007 

(2006: € 7,940).

b) Impairment losses

-- Trade receivables

The aging of trade receivables at the reporting date was:

					   Gross 	 Impairment		 Gross 	 Impairment
In thousands of Euro					   2007		 2007		 2007		 2006	

Not past due					   83,180		 0		 47,427		 0	

Past due 1 — 30 days					   21,168		 1		 1,224		 0	

Past due 31 — 120 days					   8,056		 2,089		 2,595		 1,522	

Past due 121 — 365 days					   2,478		 1,919		 0		 0	

More than one year past due					   0		 0		 33		 33	

					   114,882		 4,009		 51,279		 1,555		
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Trade receivables are analysed for a possible impairment loss 

according to historical data on impairment losses as discussed 

below. Receivables which are neither past due nor impaired 

(2007: € 83,180; 2006: € 47,427) are considered to contain only a 

minimal risk of impairment based on past experience. The amount 

of receivables written off in 2007 was very small (€ 2,454 increase 

in the allowance for impairment losses and € 3,358 written off di-

rectly) compared with total revenues. Receivables past due but not 

impaired relate primarily to receivables 1 — 30 days overdue. Due 

to past experience these receivables do not contain a level of risk 

significant enough to warrant impairment, as Air Berlin cooperates 

with collection agencies and credit card companies for ticket sales. 

Receivables from single seat ticket sales (which would have a high-

er likelihood of impairment as they are sold to the end customer 

directly) only make up a small portion of Air Berlin’s receivables.

Trade receivables in the balance sheet are shown net of an  

allowance for impairment losses of € 4,009 (2006: € 1,555). The 

movement in the impairment allowance is as follows:

The allowance for impairment losses is used to record impairment 

losses until the Group determines that the financial asset should 

be derecognised. 

 

The allowance for impairment losses is based on estimates 

and judgements regarding the credit worthiness of individual 

receivables, the actual customer structure and an analysis of 

historical impairment losses. Reminders are sent on a timely 

basis. After the second reminder, the customer is given a 

further three months to pay the receivable. If no payment is 

received at that time, the third reminder is issued along with a 

legal order to pay, and an allowance for impairment losses of 

60% is recorded on the receivable. This percentage represents 

the probability of impairment loss based on past experience. 

Receivables more than one year past due are written off 

completely. At the balance sheet date the total allowance for 

impairment losses was € 4,009 (2006: € 1,555).

In addition to the € 2,454 increase in the allowance for impair-

ment losses (€155 in 2006), receivables of € 3,358 in 2007 

(€2,340 in 2006) were written off directly in profit or loss dur-

ing the period.

-- Other loans and receivables

None of the other loans and receivables were past due as of 

31 December 2007 (2006: none), and there were no renegotiations 

of payment terms during the period which would otherwise have 

resulted in overdue receivables. No impairment losses have 

been recorded on other financial assets.

These receivables relate primarily to amounts due from suppliers 

(deposits and bonus and claims). The Group only enters into con-

tracts with suppliers of high quality and as such does not consider 

there to be a significant impairment risk relating to these amounts. 

Receivables from related parties relate primarily to amounts due 

from Niki for administrative services provided and to the long-term 

loans receivable from Lee & Lex. As the receivables are not over-

due and payments have been made on time in the past, the Group 

does not consider an impairment loss to be necessary.

-- Cash and cash equivalents and positive market 

values of derivatives

No impairment has been recorded on investments or positive 

market values of derivatives, as the transactions are only  

made with parties of the highest credit rating or, in the case of  

				    Allowance for 	  	 Allowance for 	

				    impairment	  	 impairment  	
				     losses	  	 losses	
In thousands of Euro				     2007	  	 2006	

Balance at 1 January							    1,555				  1,400

Increase in allowance for impairment losses 							    2,706				  1,675	

Release of allowance for impairment losses							    (252	)			  (1,520	)

Balance at 31 December							    4,009				  1,555
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derivative financial instruments, with parties which are known to 

be reliable based on past experience (past customer behaviour 

regarding timely payments of amounts due). When no rating is 

available for a contract partner, securities may be obtained, for 

example in the form of guarantees from the parent company, as 

is the case with one contract partner for fuel derivatives. 

c) Liquidity risk

The following are the contractual undiscounted maturities  

of financial liabilities, including estimated interest pay- 

ments and excluding the impact of netting agreements as  

at 31 December 2007:

	 Carrying	 Contractual	 6 months	 7 — 12 	 1 — 2 	 2 — 5	 more than
In thousands of Euro	 amount	 cash flows	  or less	  month	 years	 years 	 5 years 	

Non-derivative financial liabilities 

Liabilities due to bank from 

assignment of future lease payments	 591,842		 757,945		 49,724		 47,854		 94,377		 284,308		 281,682	

Secured bank loans	 34,668		 45,402		 2,997		 2,979		 5,907		 15,840		 17,679	

Unsecured bank loans	 119,773		 121,127		 104,616		 6,726		 9,785		 0		 0	

Finance lease liabilities	 101,994		 150,323		 7,238		 6,854		 12,863		 35,549		 87,819	

Convertible bonds — liability component	 182,007		 236,500		 3,300		 0		 3,300		 229,900		 0	

Trade payables and other 

financial liabilities	 118,098		 118,098		 118,098		 0		 0		 0		 0	

Bank overdraft	 108		 108		 108		 0		 0		 0		 0	

Total financial liabilities 

measured at amortised cost	 1,148,490		 1,429,503		 286,081		 64,413		 126,232		 565,597		 387,180	

Derivative financial liabilities		

Derivatives classified as hedge accounting:		

  Cross-currency interest rate swaps	 693		 71,912		 0		 7,248		 16,112		 43,745		 4,807

    Outflow			  603,551		 0		 74,950		 133,981		 349,613		 45,007	

    Inflow			  (531,639	) 	 0		 (67,702	) 	 (117,869	) 	 (305,868	) 	 (40,200	) 

  Forward exchange contractss	 77,963		 78,099		 31,876		 29,027		 17,196		 0		 0	

    Outflow			  1,236,646		 420,436		 415,549		 400,661		 0		 0		

    Inflow			  (1,158,547	)	 (388,560	)	 (386,522	)	 (383,465	)	 0		 0	

  Forward exchange options	 1,391		 5,466		 2,755		 1,955		 756		 0		 0

    Outflow			  109,399		 36,720		 37,958		 34,721		 0		 0	

    Inflow			  (103,933	)	 (33,965	)	 (36,003	)	 (33,965)		 0		 0	

Derivatives classified as held for trading:				 

  Cross-currency interest rate swaps	 67,022		 7,076		 0		 251		 3,221		 3,804		 (200	)

  Outflow			  153,117		 0		 3,325		 55,659		 77,279		 16,854	

  Inflow			  (146,041	)	 0		 (3,074	)	 (52,438	) 	 (73,475	) 	 (17,054	)

  Forward exchange options	 4,357		 (224	)	 (224	)	 0		 0		 0		 0	

    Outflow			  6,793		 6,793		 0		 0		 0		 0	

    Inflow			  (7,017	)	 (7,017	)	 0		 0		 0		 0	

	 1,299,916		 1,591,832		 320,488		 102,894		 163,517		 613,146		 391,787

In addition to the above contractual cash flows, the group has capital commitments under purchase arrangements.  

For more details see note 32.
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For 31 December 2006 the maturities were as follows:

The amounts disclosed in the maturity analysis are the con-

tractual undiscounted cash flows, including future interest 

payments. Amounts in USD are translated at the relevant 

year-end exchange rate, and variable interest payments are 

calculated using the year-end basis rates.

The Group intends to meet its obligations over the next 

six months primarily through cash balances held and cash 

inflows from operations and in the case of purchases of new 

aircraft (not included above) through future borrowings.

	 Carrying	 Contractual	 6 months	 7 — 12 	 1 — 2 	 2 — 5	 more than
In thousands of Euro	 amount	 cash flows	  or less	  month	 years	 years 	 5 years 	

Non-derivative financial liabilities 

Liabilities due to bank from 

assignment of future lease payments	 558,481		 706,119		 49,367		 121,399		 75,392		 224,351		 235,610	

Secured bank loans	 23,227		 28,013		 4,359		 2,325		 4,580		 12,661		 4,088	

Unsecured bank loans	 9,913		 10,252		 6,019		 116		 4,117		 0		 0	

Finance lease liabilities	 5,810		 6,098		 1,908		 1,649		 1,845		 696		 0	

Trade payables and other financial 

liabilities	 69,830		 69,830		 69,830		 0		 0		 0		 0	

Bank overdraft	 87,827		 87,827		 87,827		 0		 0		 0		 0	

Total financial liabilities 

measured at amortised cost	 755,088		 908,139		 219,310		 125,489		 85,934		 237,708		 239,698	

Derivative financial liabilities		

Derivatives classified as hedge accounting:		

Commodity-swaps	 20,191		 20,157		 12,379		 7,388		 390		 0		 0	

Forward exchange contracts	 10,944		 176		 5,704		 1,012		 (6,540	)	 0		 0	

    Outflow			  973,600		 270,700		 318,400		 384,500		 0		 0	

    Inflow			  (973,424	)	 (264,996)		 (317,388	)	 (391,040	)	 0		 0	

Derivatives classified as held for trading:		

  Cross-currency interest rate swaps	 15,944		 5,335		 0		 (1,996	)	 (1,445	)	 8,776		 0	

    Outflow			  406,114		 0		 49,209		 48,593		 308,312		 0	

    Inflow			  (400,779	)	 0		 (51,205	)	 (50,038	)	 (299,536	)	 0	

  Forward exchange contracts	 62		 561		 384		 177		 0		 0		 0	

    Outflow			  23,339		 17,088		 6,251		 0		 0		 0	

    Inflow			  (22,778	)	 (16,704	)	 (6,074	)	 0		 0		 0	

	 802,229		 934,368		 237,777		 132,070		 78,339		 246,484		 239,698		
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d) Currency risk 

The Group has significant transactions in USD as well as 

smaller transactions in GBP and CHF. Air Berlin enters into USD 

currency forwards and options in order to manage functional 

currency risk which arises on operating costs (e.g. payments 

regarding aircraft financing and leasing, fuel, maintenance etc.) 

denominated in USD. Air Berlin generally hedges up to 75% 

(2006: 90%) of the expected cash flow on a 12 — 24 month re-

volving basis. The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk was 

as follows based on the currency values at end of year:

The estimated forecast purchases shown above are for a 

twelve month period. The volume hedged through forward 

exchange contracts and forward exchange options is for  

estimated forecast purchases for up to two years. The volume 

hedged through cross currency interest rate swaps is the 

nominal amount in USD.

	  31 December 2007	 31 December 2006	

In thousands of Euro	  USD	 GBP	  CHF	 USD	 GBP 	 CHF	

Trade receivables	 19,337		 1,683		 2,821		 11,277		 1,211		 997	

Receivables from related parties	 960		 0		 0		 960		 0		 0	

Loans receivable	 0		 0		 0		 0		 0		 0	

Accrued revenue	 8,194		 0		 0		 8,109		 0		 0	

Security deposits and deposits	 51,496		 0		 0		 5,880		 0		 0	

Receivables from sale of fixed assets	 1,952		 0		 0		 55,641		 0		 0	

Other receivables	 5,670		 682		 0		 0		 0		 0	

Cash and cash equivalents	 143,988		 19,928		 7,707		 40,884		 518		 603	

Liabilities due to bank from assignment of 

future lease payments	 (737,707	)	 0		 0		 (481,022	)	 0		 0	

Secured bank loans	 (50,789	)	 0		 0		 (30,308	)	 0		 0	

Unsecured bank loans	 (23,305	)	 0		 0		 0		 0		 0	

Finance lease liabilities	 (69,530	)	 0		 0		 0		 0		 0	

Trade payables and other financial liabilities	 (57,231	)	 (537	)	 (1,584	)	 (26,614	)	 (578	)	 (2,557	)	

Bank overdraft	 0		 0		 0		 (8,165	)	 0		 0	

Gross balance sheet exposure	 (706,965	)	 21,756		 8,944		 (423,358	)	 1,151		 (957	)

Estimated forecast purchases	 (1,778,000	)	 0		 0		 (977,000	)	 0		 0	

Gross exposure	 (2,484,965	)	 21,756		 8,944		 (1,400,358	)	 1,151		 (957	)	

Forward exchange contracts 

(hedged volume in USD)	 1,905,000		 0		 0		 1,282,000		 0		 0	

Forward exchange options 

(hedged volume in USD)	 163,000		 0		 0		 30,000		 0		 0	

Cross currency interest rate swaps 

(hedged volume in USD)	 875,701		 0		 0		 447,164		 0		 0	

Net exposure	 458,736		 21,756		 8,944		 358,806		 1,151		 (957	)	
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The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:

-- Sensitivity analysis

A sensitivity analysis was performed on the year-end balances of 

foreign currency financial assets and liabilities and the fair values 

of derivative financial instruments existing at year-end. The as-

sumptions used in the calculation of currency risk were the same 

as those used in the prior year. Assuming that all other variables, 

in particular interest rates, remain constant, a 10 percent strength-

ening of the Euro against the following currencies at 31 December 

would have increased or decreased equity and profit or loss by the 

following amounts:

A 10 percent weakening of the Euro against the above curren-

cies at 31 December would have increased (decreased) equity 

and profit or loss by the following amounts:

	  Average rate	 Reporting date spot rate	

Currency units to the Euro	  2007		   2006	 2007		  2006	

USD	 1,3279		 1,2066		 1,4721		 1,317	

GBP	 0,687		 0,682		 0,7334		 0,6715	

CHF	 1,646		 1,577		 1,6547		 1,6069	

	  31 December 2007	 31 December 2006	

Effect in thousands of Euro	  USD	 GBP	  CHF	 USD	 GBP 	 CHF	

Profit or loss	 1,989		 (2,697)		 (491	)	 (1,643	)	 (156	)	 54

Equity	 (142,692	)	 0		 0		 (89,942	)	 0		 0	

	  31 December 2007	 31 December 2006	

Effect in thousands of Euro	  USD	 GBP	  CHF	 USD	 GBP 	 CHF	

Profit or loss	 (1,870	)	 3,296		 601		 2,008		 190		 (66	)

Equity	 164,495		 0		 0		 110,009		 0		 0	
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e) Interest rate risk 

The interest rate profile of the Group is as follows:

	 Carrying amount

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006

Fixed rate instruments		

Financial assets	 1,401		 1,529	

Financial liabilities	 (286,017	)	 (4,010	)

Cross currency interest rate swaps 	 (67,532	)	 (15,944	)

	 (352,148	)	 (18,425	)

Variable rate instruments		

Financial assets	 3,500		 0	

Financial liabilities	 (642,273	)	 (587,611	)

	 (638,773	)	 (587,611	)

The variable rate interest bearing liabilities and liabilities due 

to banks from assignment of future lease payments, which are 

generally denominated in USD, expose the Group to variability 

in interest payments due to changes in interest rates as well 

as to a foreign currency risk. The interest risk results from the 

sensitivity of financial assets and financial liabilities with variable 

interest rates to changes in the market interest rate. Air Berlin 

uses cross currency interest rate swaps to hedge these risks. 

The swaps are considered cash flow hedges from their inception 

until the liability is recorded in the balance sheet, at which point 

the interest rate swaps are classified as held for trading, with 

future changes in market value taken to profit or loss.

Ineffective amounts are negligible and are therefore not recorded 

in profit or loss.

-- Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate  

instruments

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial instru-

ments at fair value through profit or loss, and the Group does 

not designate any of its derivatives (interest rate swaps) as 

fair value hedge accounting instruments. Therefore a change 

in interest rates (unless they resulted in the hedge becoming 

ineffective) at the reporting date would only affect profit or 

loss to the extent that it affects the fair value of interest rate 

swaps not designated as hedge accounting (held for trading). 

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates would have in-

creased or decreased equity by € 1,374 (2006: € 0) and profit 

or loss by € 5,342 (2006: € 3,567).  

-- Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate 

instruments

Assuming that all other variables, in particular foreign currency 

rates, remain constant, a change of 100 basis points in 

interest rates would have increased or decreased profit or 

loss (financial result) by € 2,203 (2006: € 2,222) and had no 

effect on equity over the twelve-month period, based on the 

balance sheet amounts at the reporting date and taking into 

consideration the effect of interest rate swaps.

f) Fuel price risk

The fuel price (kerosene) plays an important role as far as the 

business performance of the Group is concerned. The kerosene 

expense of Air Berlin amounted to 22.2% (2006: 22.4%) of the 

Group’s entire operating expenses. Air Berlin uses commodity 

swaps as well as commodity options to hedge the exposure to 

fuel price increases. At the balance sheet date 2007, the hedged 

volume was 733,800 tons for the business year 2008 and 63,500 

tons for the business year 2009 (2006: 579,400 tons for 2007). 

The hedging quota was 53,7% for 2008 and 5,0% for 2009. 

-- Sensitivity analysis

Assuming that all other variables, in particular foreign currency 

rates, remain constant, a 10% increase (decrease) in the fuel 

price at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) 

equity by € 7,087 (2006: € 2,016) and had no effect on profit 

or loss. 

The calculation is based on the fair values of commodity de-

rivatives (swaps and options) at the balance sheet date. The 

assumptions used were the same as in the prior period.

g) Hedge accounting

As an airline, the Air Berlin Group is exposed to currency, 

interest rate and fuel price risks as well as credit and liquidity 

risks. Air Berlin uses derivatives to limit these risks. 

Air Berlin applies hedge accounting for its hedges of 

future foreign currency denominated cash flows and its 

hedges of future cash flows related to the purchase of jet 

fuel that satisfy the criteria under IAS 39, thus reducing 

income statement volatility. In addition, as of the third 

quarter of 2007 Air Berlin applies hedge accounting for its 

foreign currency options and for several of its hedges of 
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future cash flows resulting from variable USD interest rate 

payments. These hedging transactions are accounted for as 

cash flow hedges.

IAS 39 sets out strict requirements on the use of hedge ac-

counting. Air Berlin fulfils those requirements by document-

ing, at the inception of a hedge, both the relationship between 

the derivative used as the hedging instrument and the hedged 

item, as well as the aim and strategy of the hedge. This includes 

assigning the hedging instruments to the corresponding firm 

commitments and future transactions and also estimating the 

degree of effectiveness of the hedging instruments employed. 

The effectiveness of existing hedge accounting is monitored on 

an ongoing basis. For hedge accounting, the change in the fair 

value of the hedging instrument is deferred in equity to the  

extent the hedge is effective. Accumulated fair value changes 

from qualifying hedges are removed from equity to profit  

or loss in the period when the hedged cash flow affects 

profit or loss (2008 and 2009 for foreign currency and 

fuel hedges, 2008 to 2014 for cross-currency interest rate 

hedges).

Air Berlin also uses hedges that do not satisfy the strict hedge 

accounting criteria of IAS 39. For such derivatives Air Berlin 

recognises the changes in fair value as profit or loss. The fair 

values of derivatives are recognised as other assets or reported 

as other liabilities. 

Ineffective amounts are negligible and are therefore not recorded 

in profit or loss.

The (net) fair values of derivatives for hedging exchange rate, 

interest rate and fuel price risks at 31 December 2007 and their 

movement during the period is as follows:

		  	 Change in 	  	  		
		  	 fair value	 Change in 	 Removed 		  Fair value 
	 Fair value at	 Transfer	 recognised	 fair value 	 from equity 	 Option 	 at 31 
	 31 December	 to hedge	 in profit	 recognised 	 to profit 	 premium 	 December
In thousands of Euro	 2006	 accounting	 or loss 	  in equity	 or loss	 paid	 2007 	

Cash flow hedges 

Forward-exchange transactions	 (10,824	)	 0		 0		 (94,021	)	 27,124		 0		 (77,721	)	

Foreign currency options	 0		 0		 0		 (1,321	)	 0		 0		 (1,321	)	

Cross-currency interest rate swaps	 0		 0		 0		 (9,144	)	 8,633		 0		 (511	)	

Commodity-swaps fuel-price 	 (20,157	)	 0		 0		 49,361		 39,223		 0		 68,427	

Commodity-options fuel-price 	 0		 0		 0		 1,590		 0		 806		 2,396	

 

Held for trading		

Forward-exchange transactions	 0		 0		 1,050		 0		 0		 0		 1,050	

Foreign currency options	 (62	)	 0		 (2,504	)	 0		 0		 0		 (2,566	)	

Cross-currency interest rate swaps	 (15,944	)	 0		 (51,078	)	 0		 0		 0		 (67,022	)	

Commodity-swaps fuel-price	 0		 0		 137		 0		 0		 0		 137	

	 (46,987	)	 0		 (52,395	)	 (53,535	)	 74,980		 806		 (77,131	)	
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All foreign currency options and commodity (fuel-price) op-

tions entered into during the period meet the qualifications of 

hedge accounting and are accounted for as cash flow hedges. 

The change in the intrinsic value is recorded in equity, and 

the change in the time value is recorded in profit or loss. 

In addition, as of the third quarter of 2007 the Group has 

entered into cross-currency interest rate swaps which meet 

the qualifications of hedge accounting. These are also 

accounted for as cash flow hedges. Those cross-currency 

interest rate swaps which do not meet the criteria for hedge 

accounting continue to be recorded in profit or loss and are 

classified as held for trading.

The change in fair value of derivatives was as follows in 2006:

In the second quarter of 2006 the Group switched to using 

hedge accounting for all its forward-exchange transactions. 

In the third quarter of 2006 the Group switched to using 

hedge accounting for all its commodity (fuel-price) swaps. 

Cash flow hedges are expected to impact profit or loss in the 

same period in which the cash flows are expected to occur, as 

detailed in section c “Liquidity risk” above. 

h) Fair values

Fair value is the amount obtainable in an arm’s length trans-

action between knowledgeable willing parties. The fair values 

of financial assets and liabilities, together with their carrying 

amounts shown in the balance sheet, are as follows:

See table on page 159.

		  	 Change in 	  	  		
		  	 fair value	 Change in 	 Removed 	 Removed	 Fair value 
	 Fair value at	 Transfer	 recognised	 fair value 	 from equity 	 from equity 	 at 31 
	 31 December	 to hedge	 in profit	 recognised 	 to profit 	 to cost 	 December
In thousands of Euro	 2005	 accounting	 or loss 	  in equity	 or loss	 (capitalised)	 2006 	

Cash flow hedges 

Forward-exchange transactions	 0		 (5,619	)	 0		 (10,824	)	 5,619		 0		 (10,824	)	

Commodity-swaps fuel-price	 0		 8,486		 0		 (20,157	)	 (8,486	)	 0		 (20,157	)	

 

Held for trading		

Forward-exchange transactions	 (3,772	)	 5,619		 (1,847	)	 0		 0		 0		 0	

Foreign currency options	 0		 —		 (62	)	 0		 0		 0		 (62	)	

Cross-currency interest rate swaps	 (146	)	 —		 (15,798	)	 0		 0		 0		 (15,944	)	

Commodity-swaps fuel-price	 (2,093	)	 (8,486	)	 10,579		 0		 0		 0		 0	

Commodity-options fuel-price	 1,708		 —		 (1,708	)	 0		 0		 0		 0	

	 (4,303	)	 0		 (8,836	)	 (30,981	)	 (2,867	)	 0		 (46,987	)	
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					   31 December 2007	 31 December 2006	

					   Carrying		 Fair		 Carrying		 Fair
In thousands of Euro			  note		 amount		 value		 amount		 value

Loans and receivables

  Trade receivables			  10		 110,873		 110,873		 49,724		 49,724	

  Receivables from related parties			  10		 10,636		 10,301		 8,782		 8,435	

  Loans receivable			  10		 3,500		 3,499		 0		 0	

  Accrued revenue			  10		 6,507		 6,507		 8,514		 8,514	

  Security deposits and deposits with suppliers			  10		 49,145		 49,145		 5,341		 5,341	

  Receivables from bonus and claims			  10		 10,581		 10,581		 7,759		 7,759	

  Receivables from sale of fixed assets			  10		 1,326		 1,326		 39,710		 39,710	

  Other receivables			  10		 11,698		 11,698		 0		 0	

  Total loans and receivables					   204,266		 203,930		 119,830		 119,483	

Positive market values of derivatives classified as held for trading

  Forward exchange contracts			  29		 13,194		 13,194		 331		 331	

  Forward exchange options			  29		 1,791		 1,791		 196		 196

Positive market values of derivatives classified as hedge accounting:			

  Forward exchange contracts			  29		 242		 242		 3,654		 3,654

  Forward exchange options			  29		 70		 70		 0		 0

  Commodity-swaps fuel-price			  29		 68,564		 68,564		 35		 35

  Commodity-options fuel-price			  29		 2,396		 2,396		 0		 0

  Cross-currency interest rate swaps			  29		 182		 182		 0		 0

Cash and cash equivalents			  28		 468,658		 468,658		 315,921		 315,921

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost		

  Liabilities due to bank from assignment 

  of future lease payments			  16		 (591,842	)	 (596,302	)	 (558,481	)	 (551,657	)

  Secured bank loans			  16		 (34,668	)	 (34,416	)	 (23,227	)	 (22,949	)

  Unsecured bank loans			  16		 (119,773	)	 (119,787	)	 (9,913	)	 (9,900	)

  Finance lease liabilities			  16		 (101,994	)	 (103,545	)	 (5,810	)	 (5,810	)

  Convertible bonds — liability component			  16		 (182,007	)	 (181,860	)	 0		 0

  Trade payables and other financial liabilities			  18		 (118,098	)	 (118,098	)	 (69,830	)	 (69,830	)

  Bank overdraft			  16		 (108	)	 (108	)	 (87,827	)	 (87,827	)

  Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost			  (1,148,490	)	 (1,154,116	)	 (755,088	)	 (747,973	)

Negative market values of derivatives classified as hedge accounting:			

  Forward exchange contracts			  29		 (77,963	)	 (77,963	)	 (14,598	)	 (14,598	)

  Forward exchange options			  29		 (1,391	)	 (1,391	)	 0		 0

  Commodity-swaps fuel-price			  29		 0		 0		 (20,191	)	 (20,191	)

  Cross-currency interest rate swaps					   (693	)	 (693	)	 0		 0

Negative market values of derivatives classified as held for trading:			

  Forward exchange contracts			  29		 (12,144	)	 (12,144	)	 (212	)	 (212	)

  Forward exchange options			  29		 (4,357	)	 (4,357	)	 (257	)	 (257	)

  Cross-currency interest rate swaps			  29		 (67,022	)	 (67,022	)	 (15,944	)	 (15,944	)

					   (552,697	)	 (558,659)		 (366,323	)	 (359,555	)
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The following summarises the major methods and assump-

tions used in estimating the fair values of financial instru-

ments:

  �Derivatives

Forward exchange, interest rate and fuel price derivatives 

are marked to market using listed market prices.

  �Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Fair value is calculated based on discounted expected 

future principal and interest cash flows.

  �Trade and other receivables / payables

For receivables/payables with a remaining life of less than 

one year, the carrying value is deemed to reflect the fair value. 

All other receivables/payables are discounted to determine 

the fair value.

  �Cash and cash equivalents

Due to the short maturity date, the notional amount is deemed 

to reflect the fair value.

i) Net gain or loss

The net gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities during 

the period are as follows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Loans and receivables	 (10,989	)	 (2,551	)

Positive market values of  

derivatives classified as  

held for trading	 1,326		 0	

Financial liabilities measured 

at amortised cost	 65,805		 28,054	

Negative market values of  

derivatives classified as held  

for trading 	 (59,593	)	 (17,708)

	 (3,451	)	 7,795	

This includes foreign exchange rate gains (losses), impairment 

losses and reversals of impairment losses, changes in fair value 

recognised in profit or loss and gains on disposal.

No interest income, fee income and fee expense was  

accrued on impaired financial assets during the period 

(2006: none). 

31. Related party transactions

The Group has related party relationships with its Directors 

and key management as well as with its associates (see note 8). 

Total remuneration of Directors is included in the Directors’ 

Remuneration Report (see pages 96 to 103). The share-based 

payment scheme for Executive Directors and certain senior 

executives of the Group is detailed in note 13. One of the 

Executive Directors of the Group controls a voting share of 

3.15% (2006: 3.48%) of Air Berlin. In addition, a receivable 

of € 3 is due from one of the Directors and is included in 

Other current assets in the balance sheet as at 31 December 

2007 (2006: € 82). 

The Chairman of the Board, also a shareholder of the Com-

pany with a voting share of 1.52 % (2006: 1.68%), is the 

main shareholder of Phoenix Reisen GmbH. The Group had 

revenues from ticket sales with Phoenix Reisen GmbH in 

2007 and 2006 of € 12,105 and € 13,599, respectively. At  

31 December 2007 and 2006, € 993 and € 639, respectively, 

are included in the balance sheet in trade receivables. During 

the years ending 31 December 2007 and 2006 associates 

purchased or delivered goods and services from the Group 

as follows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

IBERO-Tours				   

  Revenues from ticket sales 	 326		 21	

  Trade receivables	 0		 0	

  Expenses for services	 1,031		 732	

SCK DUS GmbH & Co. KG  

(in 2005: Stockheim)		  

  Catering expenses	 19,246		 18,288	

  Trade payables	 539		 612	

Lee & Lex Flugzeugvermietung GmbH				   

  Other assets 	 1,401		 1,529	

Niki Luftfahrt GmbH 				   

 � Other income from  

administrative services	 680		 476	

  Other current assets	 9,232		 7,170	
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Other assets from Lee & Lex Flugzeugvermietungs GmbH 

relate to a loan receivable in the amount of USD 960  

(€ 651) and a partial debenture of € 750 (30 debentures at 

€ 25 each), which are described in more detail in note 10 

above.

Transactions with associates are priced on an arm’s length 

basis. Dividends received from associates in 2007 are € 527 

(2006: € 500).

32. Capital commitments

A purchase order for 25 Boeing Dreamliner 787 was entered into 

on 7 July 2007, with delivery scheduled from 2013 to 2017. An ad-

ditional purchase order for 15 Boeing 737 aircraft to be delivered 

between 2011 and 2014 was entered into in December 2007, and 

a purchase order for 10 Bombardier Type Q400 was entered into 

in October 2007, with delivery scheduled in 2008 and 2009. The 

Group’s contracts to purchase aircraft are set out as follows:

33. Executive board of directors

Executive directors

Joachim Hunold 	 Chief Executive Officer

Ulf Hüttmeyer	 Chief Financial Officer 

Karl Lotz	 Chief Operating Officer

Elke Schütt	 Chief Commercial Officer

 

34. Notes to the Company balance sheet 

a) Significant accounting policies

The accounting framework and significant accounting policies 

described in notes 2 and 4 above also apply to the Company 

financial statements. In addition the following accounting poli-

cies were applied:

Investments in subsidiaries are recorded at cost less accumu-

lated impairment losses and are tested for impairment if an 

indication of impairment exists. 

Receivables from subsidiaries and payables to subsidiaries are ini-

tially measured on the basis of their fair value. Subsequently they 

are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The company has recorded financial assets and financial 

liabilities in the balance sheet. Categories of financial assets 

and financial liabilities which apply to Air Berlin PLC as 

follows:

  �Loans and receivables

  �Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss classified 

as held for trading in accordance with IAS 39 (derivative 

financial instruments)

  �Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (includes 

trade payables and other financial liabilities as well as 

interest-bearing liabilities)

The company has defined the following classes of financial assets 

and financial liabilities:

  �Loans and receivables

  �Derivative financial instruments classified as held for trading 

  �Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (includes 

interest-bearing liabilities, trade payables and other financial 

liabilities)

  �Cash and cash equivalents.

Date of		  Number	 Type	 Delivery 	  Delivered	 Delivered	 Deliveries	 Thereof 
contract	 Supplier	 of aircraft	 of aircraft	 dates 	  in 2007	 in 2006	 outstanding	 in 2008 

2004	 Airbus	 60	 A320/319	 2005 — 2012 	 12	 9	 37	 10 

2006	 Boeing	 85	 B737	 2007 — 2014 	 1	 0	 84	 8 

07/2007	 Boeing	 25	 B787	 2013 — 2017 	 0	 0	 25	 0 

10/2007	 Bombardier	 10	Q 400	 2008 — 2009 	 0	 0	 10	 4 

12/2007	 Boeing	 15	 B737	 2011 — 2014 	 0	 0	 15	 0 
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b) Investments in subsidiaries

A detailed list of the companies in which the Company has 

interests, direct and indirect, is found in note 35 to the 

consolidated financial statements. The Company is general 

partner of Air Berlin PLC & Co. Luftverkehrs KG.

			  Investments in	
In thousands of Euro			  subsidiaries	

Acquisition cost

  Balance at date of incorporation 

  (2 December 2005)			  0	

    Additions			  140,165	

  Balance at 31 December 2006			  140,165	

  Additions			  3,150	

  Balance at 31 December 2007			  143,315

On 10 September 2007 Air Berlin PLC acquired 49 percent 

of the shares in Belair Airlines AG, Zurich (“Belair”) for 

a purchase price of CHF 1,715 (€ 1,027). The acquisition 

of Belair is detailed in note 5 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

In addition, the Company set up the following subsidiaries  

in 2007: Air Berlin Technik Ltd., Air Berlin 1. LeaseLux Sàrl, 

Air Berlin 2. LeaseLux Sàrl, Air Berlin 3. LeaseLux Sàrl, 

Air Berlin 4. LeaseLux Sàrl, Air Berlin 5. LeaseLux Sàrl and 

CHAS Italy s.r.l., CHAS UK Ltd., Air Berlin Finance B.V., Blitz 

07-582 GmbH and LTU Beteiligungs- und Holding GmbH at 

a total cost of € 2,123. 

c) Deferred tax assets

Profit or loss before tax is completely attributable to the branch in 

Germany. Income tax benefit is as follows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Current income taxes 	 0		 0

Deferred income taxes 	 12,029		 5,918	

Total income tax benefit	 12,029		 5,918	

The Company is subject to both corporation tax and trade 

tax in Germany. The corporation tax rate for retained and 

distributed profits is 25%. In addition to corporation tax, 

a solidarity charge is also levied amounting to 5.5% of 

the payable corporation tax. Trade tax is deductible for 

corporation tax purposes and the effective trade tax varies 

depending on the municipality in which the company oper-

ates. In 2007, the total tax rate (including corporation tax 

and trade tax) for the Company amounted to 38.9% (2006: 

38.9 %). As described in note 27 above, the corporate tax 

reform 2008 was finally concluded by the German “Bundes

rat” (upper chamber of German parliament) on 6 July 2007. 

It took effect 1 January 2008. The major changes were to 

reduce the corporate tax from 25% to 15%, to reduce the 

basis (“Meßzahl”) used for calculating the trade tax and to 

eliminate the deductibility of trade tax. The new Group tax 

rate (corporate and trade tax) is 30.18% as of 1 January 

2008. The change in the tax law resulted in a decrease in 

deferred tax income of € 8,362 and an increase in items 

recorded in equity net of tax of € 3,031.

Deferred tax assets are attributable to the following:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Deferred tax assets 	 		

Accrued liabilities and provisions 	 310		 0

Negative market values of derivatives	 4,951		 0

Tax loss carryforwards 	 24,358		 15,888

Total deferred tax assets	 29,619		 15,888

Deferred tax liabilities 	 		

Equity component of 

convertible bond 	 (12,184	)	 0

Total deferred tax liabilities 	 (12,184	)	 0

Offsetting 	 29,619		 0

Deferred tax assets, net 	 17,435		 15,888

Deferred tax assets, 

net beginning of period 	 15,888		 0

Change in deferred tax assets 	 1,547		 15,888

thereof related to items  

recorded in equity 	 10,482		 (9,970	)

Deferred income tax benefit	 12,029		 5,918

The total tax loss carryforward was € 70,505 (2006: € 40,844) for 

trade tax purposes and € 89,987 (2006: € 40,844) for corporation 

tax purposes as at 31 December 2007, resulting in a deferred tax 

asset on the tax loss carryforwards of € 24,358 (2006:  

€ 15,888). Of this amount, € 12,352 (2006: € 9,970) was recorded 

directly in equity as a reduction in the IPO costs and in the equity 
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component of the convertible bond, which were also recorded in 

equity. The remaining € 12,006 (2006: € 5,918) was recorded as 

deferred tax benefit in the profit or loss. A reconciliation between 

the tax burden expected on the basis of profit (loss) for a period 

and the recognised income tax expenses is as follows: 

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Loss before tax	 (37,207	)	 (15,214	)

Expected income tax benefit 

at 38.9% 	 14,473		 5,918

Effect of change in tax rate	 (8,362	)	 0

Effect of tax pooling agreements 

with subsidiaries 	 6,283		 0

Effect from non-deductible  

expenses 	 (214	)	 0

Other	 (151	)	 0

Total income tax benefit recognised	 12,029		 5,918

d) �Long-term loans to subsidiaries and  

other long-term loans

Long-term loans were concluded with LTU Beteiligungs Holding 

GmbH (€ 155,000) and was agreed without payment of interest. 

Further information on the acquisition of LTU is detailed in note 5 

to the consolidated financial statements. The loan to Luftfahrtges-

ellschaft Walter GmbH (€ 3,500) was agreed with an interest rate 

based on 3-month-EURIBOR.

e) Receivables from subsidiaries

Receivables from subsidiaries include an interim advance 

financing from Air Berlin & Co. Fünfte Flugzeugvermietung 

OHG to redeem aircraft loans (€ 79,037). 

f) Share capital and reserves

The capital structure Air Berlin PLC is that of the Group, 

except that certain reserves on the consolidated level are 

not relevant at Company level. 

On 27 April 2006, ordinary shares were increased by 44,400 

shares of € 1.00 each due to the issue of shares pursuant to 

the “2006 Employee Share Plan”. Further, a subsequent 4:1 

stock split of each authorised ordinary share was adopted.

During the course of a public offering on 11 May 2006, 

19,565,217 ordinary shares of € 0.25 each were issued at 

a total share premium of € 214,190 net of transaction cost. 

Additional transaction costs of € 13,667 relating to the listing 

of existing shares are recognised in the income statement 

under financial expenses. 

On 28 March 2007 the Company issued a further 5,974,282 

ordinary shares of € 0.25 at a share price of € 16.40. Gross 

proceeds on the issue of new shares amounted to € 97,978, 

which resulted in net proceeds of € 92,783 after deducting 

transaction costs of € 5,195. The increase in share premium 

was € 93,311 net of tax.

A full description of the Company’s share capital and reserves 

is detailed in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements. 

The Employee Share Plan is detailed in Note 13 to the con-

solidated financial statements.

g) Pension liabilities

In 2007 Air Berlin PLC entered into a defined benefit pen-

sion plan for its Executive Directors. The pension plan is 

funded through payments to a qualified insurance contract. 

The development of the Group’s defined benefit obligations 

during the period is as follows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Present value of funded  

obligations	 2,918		 0	

Fair value of plan assets 	 (2,331	)	 0

Pension liabilities	 587		 0

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation 

are as follows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Defined benefit obligation 

as at 1 January	 0		 0

Current service cost 	 1,613		 0

Past service cost	 1,721		 0

Interest on obligation	 77		 0

Actuarial gains 	 (493)		 0

Defined benefit obligation as  

at 31 December 	 2,918		 0
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Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Fair value of plan assets as  

at 1 January	 0		 0

Contribution	 2,497		 0

Expected return on plan assets	 0		 0

Actuarial losses	 (166	)	 0

Fair value of plan assets as at  

31 December	 2,331		 0

Plan assets consist exclusively of external contracts with 

insurance companies in Germany. These insurances could 

potentially include shares in Air Berlin Plc. However, due to 

strict requirements in Germany regarding the structure of 

insurance companies, the percentage of Air Berlin shares 

held would be minimal.

The actual return on plan assets was €-166 during the period. No 

experience adjustment was made during the period. The amount 

recognised as pension expense in profit or loss is as follows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Current service cost	 1,613		 0

Interest on obligation	 77		 0

Past service cost	 1,721		 0

Expected return on plan assets	 0		 0

Net actuarial gains 

recognised in the period	 (327	)	 0

Pension expense	 3,084		 0

The company expects to contribute € 2,487 to its defined 

benefit pension plan in 2008. Principal actuarial assumptions at 

the reporting date are as follows:

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	*

Discount rate at 31 December	 5,00	%	 4,50	%

Expected return on plan  

assets at 1 January	 2,75	%	 2,75	% 

Future salary increases	 3,00	%	 3,00	%

Cost of living adjustment 

(future pension increases)	 1,00	%	 1,00	%

* For the calculation of prior service cost

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on 

published statistics and mortality tables (“Richttafeln 2005 

G” published by Heubeck-Richttafeln-GmbH). The average 

remaining life expectancy of an individual retiring at age 65 

is 20 years for males and 25 years for females.

h) Other non-current liabilities to subsidiaries

On 11 April 2007 the Group issued € 220,000 convertible 

bonds due 2027. The bond issue is made up of 2,200 bonds 

with a principal amount of € 100,000 each, earning yearly 

interest of 1.5%. The initial conversion price is € 22.47 which 

results in an initial conversion ratio of 4,450 ordinary shares 

per bond. Gross proceeds from the bond issue amounted to  

€ 220,000. Transaction costs incurred were € 6,391. 

The convertible bonds were issued by AB Finance B.V., and 

the proceeds were transferred to Air Berlin PLC with the same 

conditions as the bonds. The resulting liability of € 182,007 

to AB Finance B.V. in the company balance sheet corresponds 

to the debt component of the convertible bond in the con-

solidated balance sheet (note 16) at 31 December 2007. The 

disclosures regarding the liquidity risk and maturity analysis 

in respect of the convertible bond are detailed in note 16 and 

30 c). 

Another loan agreement was concluded with AB Finance  

B.V. (€ 2,000). The loan is due on 11 April 2027 and has a 

yearly interest rate of LIBOR plus 1 %. 

i) Accrued liabilities

Accrued liabilities primarily relate to expenses for services 

received but not yet invoiced as of the balance sheet date. 

j) Interest-bearing liabilities

Accrued liabilities primarily relate to expenses for  

To improve the liquidity, the company entered into a short-

term loan of € 100,000 in December 2007, which was total 

repaid in January 2008.
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k) Fair Values

Fair value is the amount obtainable in an arm’s length 

transaction between knowledgeable willing parties. The 

carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities approxi-

mate their fair values. The fair values of financial assets and 

liabilities, together with their carrying amounts shown in 

the balance sheet, are as follows:

l) Related party transactions

The Company has related party relationships with its Direc-

tors and subsidiaries (see note 3 to the consolidated financial 

statements). Total remuneration of Directors is included in 

the Directors’ Remuneration Report (see pages 96 to 103).

One of the Executive Directors of the Group controls a  

voting share of 3.15% (2006: 3.48%) of Air Berlin. In  

addition, the Chairman of the Board is also a shareholder 

of the Company with a voting share of 1.52 %% (2006: 

1.68%).

					   31 December 2007		 31 December 2006
					   Carrying				  Carrying 		
In thousands of Euro			  note		 amount 	 Fair value		 amount		 Fair valu

Long-Term loans from subsidiaries					   155,000		 155,000		 0		 0	

Other long-term loan 					   3,500		 3,499		 0		 0	

Receivables from subsidiaries					   123,401		 123,401		 686		 686

  Total loans and receivables					   281,901		 281,900		 686		 686

Positive market values of derivatives classified as trading:

  Cross-currency interest rate swaps					   182		 182		 0		 0

  Forward exchange contracts					   242		 242		 0		 0

Cash and cash equivalents					   175,232		 175,232		 65,643		 65,643

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:

  Unsecured bank loans					   (100,000	)	 (100,032	)	 0		 0	

  Non-current liabilities to subsidiaries					   (184,007	)	 (183,857	)	 0		 0

  Trade payables and payables to subsidiaries					   (208	)	 (208	)	 (844	)	 (844	)

  Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost			  (284,215	)	 (284,097	)	 (844	)	 (844	)

Negative market values of derivatives classified as trading:

  Cross-currency interest rate swaps					   (693	)	 (693	)	 0		 0

  Forward exchange contracts					   (16,139	)	 (16,139	)	 0		 0	

					   156,510		 156,627		 65,485		 65,485	
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The Company had the following transactions with related parties during the year ending 31 December 2007:

In thousands of Euro									     2007		 2006	

 

Air Berlin PLC & Co. Luftverkehrs KG	 		

  Revenues									     3,329		 2,557

  Receivables from subsidiaries									     25,898		 686

  Other operating expenses									     728		 590

  Payables to subsidiaries									     0		 386

Pegasus 1. — 7. Luftfahrtbeteiligungsgesellschaft mbH	

  Revenues									     17		 17

  Receivables from subsidiaries									     17		 0

  Payables to subsidiaries									     39		 21

CHS Cabin and Handling Service GmbH		

  Payables to subsidiaries									     0		 45

Belair Airlines AG 		

  Revenues									     4		 0

  Receivables from subsidiaries									     551		 0

LTU-group 		

  Revenues									     318		 0

  Receivables from subsidiaries									     170,518		 0

Air Berlin 1. LeaseLux Sàrl 		

  Receivables from subsidiaries									     7		 0

Air Berlin Netherlands B.V. 		

  Receivables from subsidiaries									     10		 0

Air Berlin Finance B.V.		

  Expenses for convertible bonds									     8,462		 0

  Other non-current liabilities to subsidiaries								    	 184,007		 0

  Payables to subsidiaries									     65		 0

Air Berlin Technik Ltd.		

  Receivables from subsidiaries									     2,350		 0

Air Berlin GmbH & Co. Fünfte Flugzeugvermietungs OHG

  Receivables from subsidiaries									     79,037		 0

Air Berlin Dritte Flugzeugvermietungs GmbH		

  Receivables from subsidiaries									     7		 0

Joachim Hunold & Co. Flugzeugvermietungs KG i.L.		

  Receivables from subsidiaries									     6		 0

Executive and Non-Executive Directors 			

  Personnel expense									     4,024		 3,592

  Other operating expenses									     400		 319

  Other current liabilities									     2,000		 2,000
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m) Employees

The Company does not have any employees other than its 

four Executive Directors. Their remuneration is included 

in note 23 above as well as in the Directors’ Remuneration 

Report on pages 96 to 103. 

Payroll costs for the period were as follows:

 

In thousands of Euro	 2007		 2006	

Basic wages and salaries	 2,000		 1,600

Bonus	 1,800		 2,000

Share based payment expense	 272		 184

Other	 84		 47

	 4,156		 3,831

The Executive Directors are Participants in the Employee 

Share Plan 2006, which is described in detail in note 13 

above as well as in the Directors’ Remuneration Report. 

In addition, € 3,084 (2006: € none) was paid to a defined 

benefit plan.
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35. subsidiaries

Subsidiary					   Country of incorporation		 2007		 2006

Air Air Berlin Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH					   Germany		 		

Air Berlin Finance B.V.					   Netherlands		 	

Air Berlin Finance GmbH					   Germany		 		

Air Berlin Netherlands B.V.**					   Netherlands		 		

Air Berlin PLC & Co. Luftverkehrs KG					   Germany		 		

Air Berlin Luftfahrttechnischer Betrieb GmbH					   Germany		 		

Air Berlin PLC & Co. Airport Service KG					   Germany		 	

Air Berlin PLC & Co. Cabin Service KG					   Germany		 	

Air Berlin PLC & Co. DUS KG					   Germany		 	

Air Berlin PLC & Co. Service Centre KG					   Germany		 	

Air Berlin Switzerland GmbH**					   Switzerland		 		

Air Berlin Technik Ltd.**					   United Kingdom		 	

Air Berlin 1. LeaseLux Sàrl**					   Luxembourg		 	

Air Berlin 2. LeaseLux Sàrl**					   Luxembourg		 	

Air Berlin 3. LeaseLux Sàrl**					   Luxembourg		 	

Air Berlin 4. LeaseLux Sàrl**					   Luxembourg		 	

Air Berlin 5. LeaseLux Sàrl**					   Luxembourg		 	

AB Luftfahrttechnik Berlin GmbH					   Germany		 	

AB Luftfahrttechnik Düsseldorf GmbH					   Germany		 	

AB Erste Flugzeugvermietungs GmbH					   Germany		 		

AB Zweite Flugzeugvermietungs GmbH					   Germany		 		
AB Dritte Flugzeugvermietungs GmbH					   Germany		 		

AB Vierte Flugzeugvermietungs GmbH					   Germany		 		

AB Achte Flugzeugvermietungs GmbH					   Germany		 		

AB Neunte Flugzeugvermietungs GmbH					   Germany		 		

AB Zehnte Flugzeugvermietungs GmbH					   Germany		 		

Air Berlin GmbH & Co. Fünfte Flugzeugvermietungs OHG			  Germany		 		

Air Berlin GmbH & Co. Sechste Flugzeugvermietungs OHG			  Germany		 		

Air Berlin GmbH & Co. Siebte Flugzeugvermietungs OHG			  Germany		 		

Air Berlin GmbH & Co. Elfte Flugzeugvermietungs OHG			  Germany		 	

Belair Airlines AG**					   Switzerland		 	

Blitz 07-582 GmbH					   Germany		 	

Buy.bye Touristik GmbH					   Germany		 	

CHS Cabin and Handling Service GmbH					   Germany		 		

CHS Cabin and Handling Service Bayern GmbH					   Germany		 		

CHS Cabin and Handling Service Mitte GmbH					   Germany		 		

CHS Cabin and Handling Service Nord GmbH					   Germany		 		

CHS Cabin and Handling Service Ost GmbH					   Germany		 		

CHS Cabin and Handling Service Süd GmbH					   Germany		 		

CHS Cabin and Handling Service West GmbH					   Germany		 		

CHS Cabin and Handling Service Süd-West GmbH				  Germany		 		
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Subsidiary					   Country of incorporation		 2007		 2006

CHS Cabin and Handling Service Nord-West GmbH			  Germany		 		

CHS Cabin and Handling Service NRW-West GmbH			  Germany		 		

CHS Switzerland AG**					   Switzerland		 		

CHS Holding & Services GmbH**					   Germany		 		

CHS Netherlands N.V.**					   Netherlands		 		

CHSC Cabin and Handling Service Center GmbH					   Germany		 		

CHAS Cabin und Handling Airport Service GmbH					  Germany		 		

CHAS International Airport Service GmbH					   Germany		 		

CHAS Italy s.r.l.**					   Italy		 		

CHAS UK Ltd.**					   United Kingdom		 	

dba Luftfahrtgesellschaft mbH**					   Germany		 		

Euconus Flugzeugleasinggesellschaft mbH					   Germany		 		

Joachim Hunold & Co. Flugzeugvermietungs KG i.L.			  Germany		 		

Leisure Cargo GmbH					   Germany		 	

Loma Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH					   Germany		 	

LTU Beteiligungs- und Holding GmbH**					   Germany		 	

LTU Aircraft Maintenance GmbH					   Germany		 	

LTU Lufttransport Unternehmen GmbH					   Germany		 	

LTU Plus GmbH					   Germany		 	

Pegasus Erste Luftfahrtbeteiligungsgesellschaft mbH**			  Germany		 		

Pegasus Zweite Luftfahrtbeteiligungsgesellschaft mbH**			  Germany		 		

Pegasus Dritte Luftfahrtbeteiligungsgesellschaft mbH**			  Germany		 		

Pegasus Vierte Luftfahrtbeteiligungsgesellschaft mbH**			  Germany		 		

Pegasus Fünfte Luftfahrtbeteiligungsgesellschaft mbH**			  Germany		 		

Pegasus Sechste Luftfahrtbeteiligungsgesellschaft mbH**			  Germany		 		

Pegasus Siebte Luftfahrtbeteiligungsgesellschaft mbH**			  Germany		 		

Air Berlin Employee Share Trust *  **					   United Kingdom		 		

 

*	 consolidated as a Special Purpose Entity

**	� shares held directly by Air Berlin PLC (the remaining subsidiaries are held indirectly through other Group companies)

Except for Belair Airlines AG (49%) and the special purpose entity, Air Berlin Employee Share Trust, Air Berlin PLC holds  

(directly or indirectly) 100% of the ordinary share capital of the subsidiaries.
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Glossary

  �Ancillary revenue

Supplementary revenue beyond ticket sales.

  �ASK

Available seat kilometres; number of seats available for sale, per 

flight segment, multiplied by the number of kilometres flown on a 

flight; often a measure of an airline’s performance capacity.

  �Block hours

The time during which an aircraft is in revenue service. Calcu-

lated from gate departure (push-back) before take-off to standstill 

at the gate following landing.

  �Dry Lease

Leasing of an aircraft without personnel.

  �Flag Carrier

National airline, either currently or in the past government 

owned or under government control. The term “legacy carrier” 

is also used.

  �Frills

Frills are free and / or additional services provided in connec-

tion with the flight.

  �IATA

International Air Transport Association.

  �Low-Cost-Carrier (LCC)

Also known as “low-fare carrier”.

  �Pax

Passenger

  �RPK

Revenue passenger kilometres. Number of passengers  

multiplied by the number of kilometres they cover in flight.

  �Slot

Time window within which an airline can use an airport for 

take-off or landing.

  �Passenger load factor

Percentage value to indicate the utilisation of an aircraft 

or an entire fleet within a certain time period, either on a 

route or within a route network. Represents the ratio of  

the revenue passenger kilometres (RPK) to the available  

seat kilometres (ASK).

  �Wet Lease

Leasing an aircraft including personnel.

  �Yield

Average revenues. Average turnover per selected output unit. 

The unit could be a single passenger, a single kilometre flown, 

or the passenger kilometres.

  �Yield Management

Price management system to increase average earnings.
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